

# Understanding Community Diversity on Coastal Defences; the

# Role of Key Drivers and Ecological Enhancements

being a thesis submitted in fulfilment of the

requirements for the degree of

Master of

**Biological Sciences** 

at the University of Hull

by

Charlie Irene Hobbs, BSc Coastal Marine Biology December 2020

# Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to my grandfathers, Peter Harris, and Frederick Hobbs.

### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my family for their unconditional support. Thank you to my parents, Karen and Richard Hobbs, and my sister Heather, for supporting me through this journey, for encouraging to me to keep going when I got stuck, and for being so patient while I talked about seaweed and rocks. I could not have done this without all of you.

I would also like to thank my supervisors for their patience, advice, and support throughout this process. To my lead supervisor, Dr. Sue Hull, thank you for trusting me with this project and for guiding me through the academic process. Your guidance and insight have been invaluable over the last two years. I would also like to thank Dr. Will Mayes, for his support and advice with regards to completing this thesis. I would also like to express my gratitude to Kim Rosewell and Barry Penrose at the University of Hull for their help facilitating my fieldwork.

Finally, I would like to thank Ryan Goring for his unwavering support throughout our time studying together. Thank you for driving to Runswick Bay every month, for your help with fieldwork and stats, and for your endless positivity. I would also like to thank Alex Lancaster, Thomas Longhorn, Oliver Dalby, and Matt Beech for volunteering to proofread my work.

### Abstract

Coastal defences have become prevalent in the marine environment in response to rising sea levels and increasingly frequent coastal storms. However, due to insufficient habitat heterogeneity and physical complexity such structures support lower biodiversity than natural rocky shores. As a result, a range of ecological enhancements have been developed to address the diversity deficit. This thesis monitored colonization of an ecologically enhanced rock armour defence at Runswick Bay, North Yorkshire. Artificial rock pools and sandstone boulder habitats were incorporated into the defence design to increase habitat heterogeneity and groove microhabitats were engineered to increase small-scale complexity of granite boulders. Fourteen months after construction, diversity of sessile and mobile assemblages was significantly higher in artificial pool and sandstone boulder habitats than in unmodified granite boulder habitats. The community which developed on engineered grooves was not different to that of substrates without grooves. This thesis also examined whether fine-scale complexity (rugosity) and substrate orientation act as drivers of diversity on coastal defences. At both mid and upper shore height, the most rugose substrate had the highest diversity of sessile and mobile species. Over a regional scale, the age of defence was more important in determining community structure than rugosity. In addition, diversity and structure of communities differed significantly between North, North-east and East orientations at mid and upper shore height. This thesis demonstrates that increasing the habitat heterogeneity and incorporating natural substrata into rock armour defences can improve biodiversity. This thesis also demonstrates the importance of fine-scale complexity across tidal heights, and that environmental factors determined by orientation affect community structure. These results can be used to inform how ecological enhancements are applied in future developments.

# Contents

Dedicat	ioni	
Acknow	Acknowledgementsii	
Abstrac	tiii	
Content	tsiv	
List of F	ïguresvii	
List of T	ablesix	
List of E	quationsxii	
Chapter 1	General Introduction1	
1.1	Changing Climate and Raging Seas1	
1.2	Coastal Urbanisation and Climate Change2	
1.3	Ecology of Rocky Shores	
1.4	Coastal Defence Structures as Habitats	
1.5	Ecological Engineering and Habitat Enhancement on Coastal Defences	
1.6	Habitat Enhancement Case Study: The Runswick Bay Coastal Protection Scheme 14	
1.7	Aims of the Current Study17	
Chapter 2	Colonisation in areas of increased habitat heterogeneity on an ecologically enhanced	
rock armo	ur defence in Runswick Bay, North Yorkshire	
2.1	Introduction	
2.2	Method	
2.2.1	Site Description	
2.2.2	Method	
2.2.3	Statistical Analyses	
2.3	Results	
2.3.1	Variation in Sessile Communities in Different Habitat Types Over Time	
2.3.2	Variation in Mobile Communities in Different Habitat Types Over Time	
2.4	Discussion	
Chapter 3	Colonisation in areas of increased small-scale physical complexity on an ecologically	
enhanced	rock armour defence in Runswick Bay, North Yorkshire	

3.1	Introduction	50
3.2	Method	52
3.2.	.1 Site Description	52
3.2.	.1 Method	52
3.2.	.2 Statistical Analyses	53
3.3	Results	55
3.3.	.1 Variation in Sessile Communities on Substrates Treated with Grooves and	
Unt	treated Substrates Over Time	56
3.3.	.2 Variation in Mobile Communities on Substrates Treated with Grooves and	
Unt	treated Substrates Over Time	52
3.4	Discussion	54
Chapter	4 Does substrate rugosity affect diversity and community structure at one site in	
Scarbord	bugh North Bay, and at multiple locations over a regional scale?	56
4.1	Introduction	56
4.2	Method	59
4.2.	.1 Site Description	59
4.2.	.2 Method	75
4.2.	.3 Statistical Analyses	76
4.3	Results	78
4.3.	.1 Variation in Sessile Communities Between Substrate Types at North Bay, North	า
Yor	kshire	79
4.3.	.2 Variation in Grazing Communities Between Different Substrate Types at North	
Вау	v, North Yorkshire	36
4.3.	.3 Variation in Sessile Communities on Granite Substrates from Five Rock Armou	-
Def	ences Across North and East Yorkshire	39
4.3.	.4 Variation in Grazing Communities on Granite Substrates from Five Rock Armou	ır
Def	ences Across North and East Yorkshire	<del>)</del> 4
4.4	Discussion	<del>)</del> 6
Chapter	5 Does the orientation of granite substrates in a rock armour defence affect the	
diversity	and structure of sessile and mobile communities?	00
5.1	Introduction	00

5	.2	Met	hods	102
	5.2.	1	Site Description	102
	5.2.2	2	Method	103
	5.2.3	3	Statistical Analyses	103
5	.3	Resu	ults	105
	5.3.3	1	Variation in sessile Communities on Substrates with Differing Orientatio	ons at
	Holt	beck,	Scarborough	105
	5.3.2	2	Variation in Mobile Communities on Substrates with Differing Orientation	ons at
	Holb	beck,	Scarborough	114
5	.4	Disc	ussion	116
Cha	pter (	6 Gen	neral Discussion	119
6	.1	Sum	mary and Key Findings	119
6	.2	Incre	easing Habitat Heterogeneity on Coastal Defences	120
6	.3	Impr	roving Physical Complexity on Coastal Defences	122
6	.4	Und	erstanding Substrate Orientation on Coastal Defences	124
6	.5	Fina	l Summary	124
Ref	erenc	e list		126
Арр	endix	(1		149
Арр	endix	(2		150
Арр	endix	( 3		151
Арр	endix	ά4		152

# List of Figures

Figure 1.1 – Section of the rock armour created as part of the Runswick Bay Coastal Protection Scheme (taken at beginning of the study in February 2019)
Figure 1.2 – Enhancements photographed at beginning of the current study; a) artificial pool (AP) above with unmodified granite boulder (GB) below, b) sandstone boulder (SB) and c) substrate treated with grooves (GS) with area of untreated substrate (US) between
Figure 2.1 – Study site at Runswick Bay, North Yorkshire. Numbered sample stations (N=14) are where all habitat types: artificial pool (AP), granite boulder (GB) and sandstone boulder (SB), were present. The grey area indicates the footprint of the new rock armour defence
Figure 2.2 – The experimental design where 14 sample stations were selected, and the three habitat types were present at each station: artificial pool (AP), granite boulder (GB) and sandstone boulder (SB)
Figure 2.3 – The results of MDS analysis based on a Bray-Curtis similarity matrix for data collected from all habitat types between July 2018 and October 2019. Month in which samples were collected is denoted by colour and habitat type is indicated by symbol where $\blacktriangle$ = Artificial Pool (AP), $\square$ = Granite Boulders (GB) and $*$ = Sandstone Boulders (SB)
Figure 2.4 – Relative mean abundance (% cover) of algal species identified through SIMPER as being key contributors to the similarity observed between habitat types over time (Artificial pools = AP, Granite boulders = GB and Sandstone boulders = SB)
Figure 2.5 – Variation over time in a) mean S, b) mean N and c) mean H' of sessile species from three habitat types examined; Artificial pools = AP, Granite boulders = GB and Sandstone boulders = SB
Figure 2.6 – Mean density (number of animals per 0.25m2) of grazing species <i>Patella vulgata, Littorina littorea, Littorina obtusata and Littorina saxatilis</i> for each habitat examined (Artificial pools = AP, Sandstone boulders = SB and Granite boulders = GB). Note: Grazer density data was not available for month 7
Figure 3.1 – The experimental design. 5 photo-quadrats were taken from both treatment types: treated substrates with grooves (GS) and untreated substrates without grooves (US) at each of the 14 sample stations
Figure 3.2 – The results of MDS analysis based on a Bray-Curtis similarity matrix of data grouped by month sampled (averaged across both treatment types) at Runswick Bay
Figure 3.3 – Relative abundance (% cover) of algal species identified through SIMPER as being key contributors to the similarity observed between treatment types over time (Substrates treated with grooves = GS and Untreated Substrates = US)
Figure 4.1 – Granite boulders at North Bay; a) Smooth granite substrates with very little texture and b) Rough granite substrates with visibly more surface texture

Figure 4.2 – The experimental design where 10 boulders of each substrate type were selected at Mid shore height; Sandstone, Rough Granite and Smooth Granite and at Upper shore height; Rough Granite and Smooth Granite
Figure 4.3 – A further four granite rock armour defences from three locations (additional to North Bay) along the East Riding of Yorkshire and North Yorkshire coastline were examined. 71
Figure 4.4 – The experimental design where 10 boulders from the upper shore of the rock armour defences at each location; Withernsea, Holbeck, North Bay and from 2 defences (Old and New) at Runswick Bay
Figure 4.5 – Five Rock armour structures at four locations across North and East Yorkshire were sampled to examine rugosity over a regional scale for the second part of this study
Figure 4.6 – The results of MDS analysis based on a Bray-Curtis similarity matrix for sessile species data collected from all substrate types (Rough Granite and Smooth Granite from the mid and upper shore and Sandstone) examined at North Bay
Figure 4.7 – Mean density (number of animals per 0.25m <sup>2</sup> ) of grazing species <i>Patella vulgata</i> , <i>Littorina littorea</i> , <i>Littorina obtusata</i> and <i>Littorina saxatilis</i> for each substrate type examined at North Bay
Figure 4.8 – The results of MDS analysis based on a Bray-Curtis similarity matrix for sessile species data collected from granite rock armour defences at five sites in North and East Yorkshire
Figure 4.9 – Mean density (number of animals per 0.25m <sup>2</sup> ) of grazing species <i>Patella vulgata,</i> <i>Littorina littorea, Littorina obtusata</i> and <i>Littorina saxatilis</i> on granite substrates from rock armour defences at sites across North and East Yorkshire
Figure 5.1 – Study site at Holbeck, Scarborough with boundaries of orientations indicated 102
Figure 5.2 – The results of MDS analysis based on a Bray-Curtis similarity matrix for data collected from mid shore orientations examined at Holbeck
Figure 5.3 – The results of MDS analysis based on a Bray-Curtis similarity matrix for data collected from upper shore orientations examined at Holbeck
Figure 5.4 – Mean density (number of animals per 0.25m <sup>2</sup> ) of grazing species <i>Patella vulgata</i> and <i>Littorina saxatilis</i> from mid shore and upper shore orientations at Holbeck, Scarborough. 
Figure 6.1 – The results of MDS analysis based on a Bray-Curtis similarity matrix of data for substrates treated with grooves = GS and untreated Substrates = US (averaged across all months sampled) at Runswick Bay

### List of Tables

Table 2.2 – GLM analysis for the effect of Time (month sampled) and Habitat type on the mean S, N and H' of sessile species on the ecologically enhanced rock armour at Runswick Bay...... 28

Table 2.4 – Tukey postHOC test of mean S for the GLM interaction between Time and Habitat type (where = AP, = GB and = SB), means which do not share a letter are significantly different. 29

Table 2.6 – Tukey postHOC test of mean H' for the GLM interaction between Time and Habitat type (where  $\blacksquare$  = AP,  $\blacksquare$  = GB and  $\blacksquare$  = SB), means which do not share a letter are significantly different. 29

Table 2.12 – Median and range data for S, N and H' of mobile species at a) the start of the sampling period and b) the end of the study for all habitats examined (Artificial pools = AP, Granite boulders = GB and Sandstone boulders = SB)
Table 3.1 – Presence and absence of species after the 14-month sampling period on Substrate Treated with Grooves (GS) and Untreated Substrate without Grooves (US) at Runswick Bay (* indicates presence at end of sampling period)
Table 3.2 – Kruskal-Wallis for S, N (% cover) and H' of sessile species over time (month) for a) Substrates treated with grooves (GS), b) Untreated substrates without grooves (US). NS denotes Not Significant, * denotes significant to 0.01, ** denotes significant to 0.001, *** denotes significant to <0.001
Table 3.3 – Median and range data for S, N and H' of sessile species at a) the start of the sampling and period b) the end of the sampling period for all treatment types examined (Substrates treated with grooves = GS and Untreated Substrates = US)
Table 3.4 – SIMPER Table indicating average abundance of sessile species contributing to similarity observed between samples from a) Substrates treated with grooves (GS), b) Untreated substrates (US) (Av.Abund = mean abundance (raw % cover data), Av.Sim = Average Similarity, Sim/SD = Similarity SD, Contrib% = Contribution percentage, Cum.% = Cumulative percentage). 60
Table 3.5 – Kruskal-Wallis for S, N (count) and H' of mobile species over time (month) for Substrates treated with grooves (GS). Comparison of Untreated substrates without grooves (US) could not be completed due to absence of mobile species. NS denotes Not Significant, * denotes significant to 0.01, ** denotes significant to 0.001, *** denotes significant to <0.001. Comparison of
Table 3.6 – Median and range data for S, N and H' of mobile species at a) the start and b) the end of the study for both treatment types (Substrates treated with grooves = GS and Untreated Substrates = US)
Table 4.1 – Presence and absence table of species identified in samples (N= 10) from each substrate type across mid and upper shore height at North Bay only (* indicates presence) 78
Table 4.2 – Presence and absence table of species identified in samples (N= 10) from five rock armour defences across North and East Yorkshire. (* indicates presence)
Table 4.3 – Mean rugosity values for substrate types examined at North Bay
Table 4.4 – One-Way ANOVA and Kruskal-Wallis for S, N (% cover) and H' of sessile species for Mid shore Substrates examined at North Bay. NS denotes Not Significant, * denotes significant to 0.001, *** denotes significant to <0.001
Table 4.5 – Descriptive statistics of S, N (% cover) and H' of sessile species for substrate types examined at North Bay. Where One-Way ANOVA was applied, mean and standard deviation (SD) have been reported, where Kruskal-Wallis or Mann Whitney U-tests were used median and range have been reported

Table 4.8 – SIMPER Table indicating the average abundance of species contributing to the dissimilarity observed between a) Rough mid shore and smooth upper shore boulders and b) smooth mid shore and rough upper shore boulders sampled at North Bay, Scarborough (Av.Abund = mean abundance (raw % cover data), Av.Diss = Average dissimilarity, Diss/SD = Dissimilarity SD, Contrib% = Contribution percentage, Cum.% = Cumulative percentage). ...... 85

Table 4.11 – Mean rugosity of granite substrates from rock armour defences at five sites acrossNorth and East Yorkshire.89

Table 4.15 – Descriptive statistics of S, N (counts) and H' of grazing species from granite substrates from rock armour defences at sites across North and East Yorkshire. Where One- Way ANOVA was applied, mean and standard deviation (SD) have been reported. Where Kruskal-Wallis test was used the median and range have been reported
Table 5.1 – Presence and absence table of sessile and mobile species identified in samples (N= 10) from the mid and upper shores of each orientation at Holbeck (* indicates presence) 105
Table 5.2 – One-Way ANOVA for S, N (% cover) and H' of sessile species for a) Mid shore and b) Upper shore orientations at Holbeck. NS denotes Not Significant, * denotes significant to 0.01, ** denotes significant to 0.001, *** denotes significant to <0.001
Table 5.3 – Descriptive statistics for S, N (% cover) and H' of sessile species betweenorientations at Holbeck, Scarborough.107
Table 5.4 – SIMPER Table indicating the average abundance of species contributing to the dissimilarity observed between a) North and North-east orientations, b) North-east and east orientations and c) North and East orientations taken from the Mid shore at Holbeck, Scarborough (Av.Abund = mean abundance (raw % cover data), Av.Diss = Average dissimilarity, Diss/SD = Dissimilarity SD, Contrib% = Contribution percentage, Cum.% = Cumulative percentage).
Table 5.5 – SIMPER Table indicating the average abundance of species contributing to the dissimilarity observed between a) North and North-east orientations and b) North and East orientations taken from the Upper shore at Holbeck, Scarborough (Av.Abund = mean abundance (raw % cover data), Av.Diss = Average dissimilarity, Diss/SD = Dissimilarity SD, Contrib% = Contribution percentage, Cum.% = Cumulative percentage)
Table 5.6 – Descriptive statistics for richness of algal functional groups between orientations atHolbeck, Scarborough112
Table 5.7 – Presence and absence of species from different functional groups identified onorientations at mid and upper shore height at Holbeck, Scarborough.113
Table 5.8 – Descriptive statistics for S, N (count) and H' of mobile species between orientationsat Holbeck, Scarborough
Table 5.9 – Descriptive statistics for S, N (count) and H' of grazing species between mid shore orientations only at Holbeck, Scarborough. Where One-Way ANOVA was applied the mean and standard deviation (SD) have been reported, where Kruskal-Wallis test was used the median and range have been reported

# List of Equations

### Chapter 1 General Introduction

#### 1.1 Changing Climate and Raging Seas

Anthropogenic forcing of the global climate through greenhouse gas emissions, coupled with changes in land use and surface albedo, is driving unprecedented change to climate systems worldwide (IPCC, 2013). Atmospheric Carbon Dioxide ( $CO_2$ ) concentrations increased from 280 ppm at the beginning of the Industrial Revolution to 418.94 ppm in the present day (Showstack, 2013; Elias, 2018; Kalaitzi *et al.*, 2018; Tans and Keeling, 2021). Indeed, concentrations of atmospheric greenhouse gases including Nitrous Oxide ( $N_2O$ ), Carbon Dioxide ( $CO_2$ ) and Methane ( $CH_4$ ) have increased 20%, 40% and 150% above pre-industrial levels, respectively (Hartmann *et al.*, 2018). Although Earth's responses to anthropogenic forcing are complex and further understanding is required, it is agreed that such increases in atmospheric greenhouse gasses have induced atmospheric warming and elevated Earth's global surface temperature (IPCC, 2013; Poppick *et al.*, 2017). The impacts of global warming, including the desertification of drylands (Burrell, Evans, and De Kauwe, 2020); glacial retreat and melting of polar ice (Fell, Carrivick, and Brown, 2017; Lee *et al.*, 2017; Overland *et al.*, 2019) and sea level rise (Slangen *et al.*, 2016), have been documented across every continent (Martin and Watson, 2016).

Global mean sea level rose by 0.19 m between 1901 and 2010 (IPCC, 2013), and is predicted to rise a further 0.24 – 0.30 m by 2065 as a result of increased precipitation, thermal expansion of the oceans and continued ice melt (Wright, Syvitski and Nichols, 2019; Frederikse et al., 2020). Predictions indicate that by the end of the 21<sup>st</sup> century, global surface temperature will increase by 1.5 - 2 °C and global mean sea level will rise by a further 0.40 – 0.63 m (IPCC, 2013). Approximately 70% of the world's coastlines will experience sea level change however sea level rise will not be uniform across the globe (IPCC, 2013). In the UK, mean sea level has risen approximately 0.0014 m y<sup>-1</sup> since 1901 (Woodworth *et al.*, 2009). Projections by the Marine Climate Change Impacts Partnership (MCCIP) indicate a continued rise in mean sea level, but show north-south spatial variation, with areas of southern England likely to experience sea levels rise potentially 0.4 m higher than parts of Scotland, by 2100 (Horsburgh, Rennie and Palmer, 2020). For example, mean sea levels in London and Cardiff in 2100 are likely to be 0.45 – 0.78 m and 0.43 – 0.76 m, respectively, above the 1981-2000 average whereas mean sea level estimates for Edinburgh and Belfast in 2100 will likely be 0.23 - 0.54 m and 0.26 – 0.58 m, respectively, above the 1981-2000 average (Horsburgh, Rennie and Palmer, 2020).

As a result of changing global weather systems and rising sea levels, numerous climate projections suggest that storms in the North Sea and north-east Atlantic may intensify during the 21<sup>st</sup> century (Lowe et al., 2009; Quante and Colijn, 2016; Wolf, Woolf and Bricheno, 2020). Although the unprecedented series of winter storms in 2013-2014 were an extreme anomaly (Wolf, Woolf and Bricheno, 2020), studies have indicated that rising sea levels will likely increase wave height and shorten return period of extreme storm surge events around the UK coastline (Lowe et al., 2001; Vousdoukas et al., 2016). However, due to considerable interannual variability in wave climate data there is uncertainty in these projections (Wolf, Woolf and Bricheno, 2020). It is certain however that sea level rise will increase rates of erosion and deposition of coastal sediments in the UK. At present, approximately 17% of the UK's coastline is currently undergoing erosion with 28% of coastlines in England and Wales suffering erosion rates greater than 10 cm each year (Masselink et al., 2020). Indeed, along the eastern coast of England, approximately 27% and 30.3% of the total length of the North-east and East England coastline is undergoing erosion, whereas over 56% of the Yorkshire and Humberside coastline is eroding (Masselink et al., 2020). Rising sea levels and accompanied flooding of low-lying coastal regions pose substantial long-term economic considerations (Neumann et al., 2015b), in addition to concerns for the health and livelihoods of coastal communities (Lane et al., 2013).

#### 1.2 Coastal Urbanisation and Climate Change

Globally, coastal regions provide essential ecosystem services and offer economic opportunities (Beaumont et al., 2007), in addition to being recreationally and culturally valuable (Neumann et al., 2015a). As a result, global population density is markedly higher along inhabited coastlines than more inland areas, and currently approximately half of the world population resides within 100 km of the coast (UNEP, 2002; Perkins et al., 2015), leading to economic growth in coastal cities and driving expansion of infrastructure (Rumson and Hallett, 2018). Such areas are constantly undergoing development, improvement and expansion of industry and related infrastructure (Neumann et al., 2015a), resulting in the continuous urbanisation of low-lying coastline (Rumson and Hallett, 2018). Increasing urbanisation of coastal areas as a result of population expansion has put increasing pressure on coastal ecosystems in recent years (Burt et al., 2019). Development often results in the loss or degradation of coastal ecosystems including wetlands and salt marshes (Kermode et al., 2016; Boorman and Hazelden, 2017) in addition to heavily impacting marine systems (Bishop et al., 2017; Heery et al., 2017). The term "Ocean Sprawl" has been given to the proliferation of man-made infrastructure in the marine environment (Firth et al., 2016b); and includes structures built to facilitate aquaculture (McKindsey et al., 2011; Dafforn et al., 2015), ports

and harbours necessary to support the shipping industry (Glasby *et al.*, 2007; Ruiz *et al.*, 2009) and defences intended to protect coastal communities from flooding and erosion of low-lying areas (Bulleri and Chapman, 2010; Cooper *et al.*, 2016).

In the United Kingdom, coastal and marine industries are a valuable component of the country's economy (Turner et al., 1998); with tourism, energy, aggregate and fishing sectors generating a considerable annual revenue (Highley et al., 2007; Lowe et al., 2009). For example, the marine aggregate industry alone generated an estimate £250 million from extractions which supplied construction projects, beach nourishment contracts and exports abroad (Highley et al., 2007), providing a substantial contribution to the East of England and Yorkshire and Humber regions where the majority of extraction licences were held. However, coastal flooding causes approximately £ 540 million of damage annually at present (Sayers et al., 2015; Haigh et al., 2020), and projections have estimated that coastal flooding could potentially cause  $\pm$  1.2 – 1.7 billion in damage by 2080 (Haigh *et al.*, 2020). Along the eastern coast of England, more than five million residential properties and a number of key energy infrastructure sites, including Bacton Energy terminal in Norfolk and Sizewell Nuclear Power Station in Suffolk, are at risk (Brown et al., 2014; Thorne, 2014). Therefore, the need to ensure sufficient protection of coastally located industries and communities has generated much interest from local and national governments. Considerable attention has been afforded to the development of effective coastal protection strategies, of which coastal defences are a prominent example (Cooper et al., 2016). Therefore use of the term 'coastal protection' typically refers to the protection of property and other assets through the installation of hard artificial defence structures, which vary considerably depending on the area and scale of their application (Cooper and McKenna, 2008; Cooper et al., 2016). Often schemes which incorporate defence structures are undertaken on a case-by-case basis, with defences in different administrative regions often installed independently of each other and with only a limited consideration of their cumulative impact over larger geographic scales (Cooper et al., 2016).

The result is the proliferation of hard artificial defence structures along the coast (Airoldi *et al.*, 2005; Firth and Hawkins, 2011; Firth *et al.*, 2016b). In the UK, the type of defence constructed, and the scale of its application is often determined using a cost-benefit framework, which weighs the expenditure of public funds against the value of assets in need of protection (Penning-Rosewell *et al.*, 2005; Turner *et al.*, 2007). For example, in a coastal town where homes and businesses are at risk of flooding, traditional sea defences, such as sea walls and rock groynes, designed to *"Hold-the-line"* may be implemented. This approach seeks to fix and maintain the position of the existing coastline to prevent assets from being lost (Turner *et al.*, *al.*, *al.* 

2007). In comparison, where sea level rise is encroaching on unpopulated land, such as coastal saltmarshes, the cost-benefit framework is unlikely to deem a multimillion-pound sea wall as a good investment. In this situation there may be "*No Active Intervention*" (Williams *et al.,* 2018). While the "*Hold-the-line*" approach has typically been historically favoured by coastal planners it has become apparent that hard, fixed shorelines do not adapt well to rising sea levels, and often valuable intertidal habitats are lost in a "*Coastal Squeeze*" as they are unable to migrate landwards as they would naturally (English Nature, 1992; Turner *et al.,* 2007). As a result of this, "*Managed Realignment*" approaches have been developed in which coastal defence structures are designed to be deliberately breached (Turner *et al.,* 2007; Luisetti *et al.,* 2011). In this way, intertidal habitats may extend beyond the defence, allowing valuable habitats such as saltmarshes and mudbanks to be conserved (Luisetti *et al.,* 2011; Williams *et al.,* 2018). The "*Managed Realignment*" approach has worked effectively at sites in the Humber and Blackwater Estuaries which adjoin the North Sea, but the level of success was found to vary with location (Luisetti *et al.,* 2011).

The importance of effective sea defences was illustrated during the winter of 2013 to 2014 when a series of extreme storm events occurred in Western Europe. During this period, 22 storm-induced wave events were identified between December 2013 and February 2014, with wave activity characterised by an average peak wave height of 8.1 m and peak wave periods of up to 22 seconds (Masselink et al., 2015). Storms lasted for an average of 29 hours and were deemed the most energetic for nearly 65 years (Burvingt et al., 2017). Their impact on the North Sea coastline and coastal communities was severe. On the 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> of December, thousands of people were evacuated from coastal communities in the East Anglian region and severe flooding was reported in Newcastle, Sunderland, Scarborough, Boston, Lowestoft and West Mersea to name only a few (Sibley, Cox and Titley, 2015). In Whitby alone, 200 properties were damaged including local energy infrastructure causing power outages (Sibley, Cox and Titley, 2015). There are no comprehensive studies of how different coastal management approaches performed during this extreme storm, however, as the North Seafacing coast has a population density of approximately 250 people per km<sup>2</sup> (Gaslikova et al., 2011), effective coastal defence mechanisms became a priority for many local authorities (Sibley, Cox and Titley, 2015).

The English coast is the most heavily defended in the UK with 44 – 45.6% of its coastline (or approximately 1947 km) fronted with hard sea defences or artificial beaches (UKMMAS, 2010; Masselink *et al.,* 2020). Comparatively, only 27.7%, 19.7% and 6.6% of the Welsh, Northern Irish and Scottish coastlines are defended (Masselink *et al.,* 2020). Masselink *et al.,* (2020) determined that approximately 68.9% coastlines in the East of England region (Norfolk, Suffolk

and Essex) are fronted with some form of artificial beaches or defence works, as is 43.2% of coastlines in the Yorkshire and Humber region and 37.4% of coastlines in the North-east region. However, despite the proliferation of hard sea defences along the English east coast, very few studies have documented how coastal defences are implemented between different regions, or how the proportion of different types of coastal defence varies between East coast regions. For example, it is widely accepted that the English east coast is heavily defended (Masselink *et al.,* 2020), yet studies which examine coastal defences over a regional scale, or within a defined area of coast such as North Yorkshire, are limited.

#### 1.3 Ecology of Rocky Shores

The North-east Atlantic stretches from the Strait of Gibraltar at its southern most boundary to the arctic and subarctic coasts of Scandinavia in the north (Hawkins *et al.*, 2019). It is a temperate but highly productive region with considerable biodiversity. The coastlines of most European countries including Norway, Sweden, the United Kingdom, Belgium, Denmark and Germany is encompassed by the North-east Atlantic, in addition to the northern coasts of France and Spain and the western coast of Portugal (Hawkins *et al.*, 2019; Reis *et al.*, 2021). The region also encircles Ireland, Iceland and the Portuguese Azores islands at its western edges (Hawkins *et al.*, 2019). Climatic conditions within the region are generally mild by the Gulf Stream and the North Atlantic Current (Rossby, 1996; Oziel *et al.*, 2020; Spooner *et al.*, 2020), with warm maritime air being released across Europe by South-westerly winds (Seager et al., 2002). As a result, North-east Atlantic coastlines experience a temperate oceanic climate with cool summers and mild winters (Claudino-Sales, 2019).

The coastal geography of the region is predominantly composed of hard rocky substrata (Emery and Kuhn, 1982), with areas of exposed sandy shore, enclosed shores of shingle and gravel (Ingólfsson, 2006) and sheltered areas of sand, mud and silt (Hawkins *et al.*, 2019). At northern latitudes, macroalgae, and brown algae in particular, dominate the midshore zone of rocky platforms (Marbà *et al.*, 2017; Jenkins *et al.*, 2008a). In northern Britain and Norway fucoid species often predominate, extending even into very exposed environments, whereas in southern Britain dense fucoid cover is restricted to sheltered shores, with only patches of cover in moderately exposed environments (Ballantine, 1961; Jenkins *et al.*, 2008a). Along more southerly British coastlines however, the diversity of grazing species increases and macroalgal cover decreases owing to greater grazing pressure (Franco *et al.*, 2015). In this area, space-occupying invertebrates, such barnacles (*Semibalanus balanoides* and *Chthamalus stellatus*) and mussels (*Mytilus edulis*), dominate the mid-shore (Crowe, Frost and Hawkins, 2011), and algal cover is contained mostly to low shore environments (Hawkins *et al.*, 2009).

Across rocky shore habitats, distributions of species show patterns of vertical zonation (Chappuis et al., 2014). Algal species show vertical distribution patterns as physical and abiotic factors limit algal growth in upper shore environments, whereas in low shore environments biotic interactions, such as competition and grazing, become more important (Schonbeck and Norton, 1980). However, the effects of biological interactions, such as grazing and competition, have also been found to play a role in limiting algal distributions in upper shore environments due in part to the distribution of invertebrate species. The distribution of sessile invertebrates, such as barnacles, is often determined by the settlement behaviour of larvae (Crisp, 1955; Knights et al., 2006), whereas the distribution mobile invertebrates depend primarily on the responses of adult animals to both biotic and environmental stimuli (Newell, 1979). Distribution patterns also vary horizontally along rocky shores. This results from both environmental gradients and biological interactions as sheltered bays extend into more exposed shores or headlands (Hawkins et al., 2019). For example, as limpets are the dominant grazer across the rocky intertidal mid-shore, they can prevent establishment of fucoids on both sheltered and exposed shores (Jenkins and Hartnoll, 2001). However, limpets are known to be sensitive to wave action and on very exposed shores where limpets are less common, wave action is a more impactful inhibitor of fucoid growth (Jonsson et al., 2006).

Temperate rocky intertidal habitats are dynamic and community composition varies not only spatially as discussed above, but also temporally as the community changes and incumbent species establish, are removed or perish, and re-establish. Rocky shores may experience primary succession, where colonisation of newly created substrata occurs for the first time (Frederiksen, Kraglund, and Ekelund, 2001). However, it is more likely that intertidal habitats will undergo secondary succession, where patches of biota are removed or partially removed on occupied substrata as a result of environmental or biological disturbances (Sousa and Connell, 1992; Laure *et al.*, 2009). Indeed, secondary succession of species within intertidal habitats is nearly continuously on going with different stages of succession under way at any one time due to variability in the location and level of disturbance (Benedetti-Cecchi, 2000a). Environmental or physical disturbances include the removal of biota by wave action or scouring by sand or cobbles (Dethier, 1984; Benedetti-Cecchi and Cinelli, 1996), Heat stress (Underwood and Jernakoff 1984) and smothering by sedimentation (Airoldi, 1998). Biological disturbances include over grazing, predation and removal of invertebrates through sweeping of macroalgal fronds (Hawkins and Hartnoll, 1985; Jenkins, Hawkins, and Norton, 1999).

Microbiota are the first colonise newly cleared substrates, being deposited within seconds of first submersion in sea water (Wahl, 1989). The community which develops forthwith is composed initially of bacteria and cyanobacteria, and subsequently by diatoms and more

complex microorganisms (Frederiksen, Kraglund, and Ekelund, 2001; Laure *et al.*, 2009). This community creates a biofilm which is diverse and unstructured in the first week however after this initial colonisation period, a few species may begin to establish and predominate (Niell and Varela, 1984). The development and composition of biofilms at this stage can greatly influence the colonisation of successive macrobiota by interacting positively or negatively with settling larvae and algal propagules (Laure *et al.*, 2009). Biofilms can promote or inhibit growth of algal propagules on rocky shores. For example, species of the genus *Ulva* are known to be opportunistic and fast growing, however the establishment and growth of *Ulva sp.* on rocky shores has been shown to be accelerated by the presence of biofilms (Park, Kang and Choi, 2011). Similarly, biofilms are also capable of emitting surface-bound biochemical cues which act as a stimulant for invertebrate larvae to settle (Hadfield, 2011), such interactions have been observed in common space-occupying invertebrates including species from the genera *Balanus* and *Mytilus* (Satuito *et al.*, 1997).

Succession in rocky shore habitats is predominantly driven by the supply of invertebrate larvae and algal propagules, in addition to vegetative growth and the movement of mobile invertebrates through the habitat (Benedetti-Cecchi, and Cinelli, 1996; Laure *et al.*, 2009). Development of more complex macrobiotic communities on rocky shores may take between 1 and 10 months (Laure *et al.*, 2009; Park, Kang and Choi, 2011), depending on seasonal availability of larvae and algal propagules. Patterns of colonisation are also strongly influenced by a range of physical stresses, such as desiccation, heat stress and temperature fluctuations, and biological interactions, including grazing by invertebrates or shading or sweeping by existing algae (Benedetti-Cecchi, 2000b). Typically, opportunistic filamentous and foliose algae, such as species of the genus *Ulva*, are the first macroalgae to begin colonising, often monopolising the available space (Laure *et al.*, 2009). Following this, turf forming algae such as *Corallina spp*. and *Gelidium spp*., in addition to sessile invertebrates begin to colonise. Finally, larger macrophytes begin to establish, this including slower growing perennials and canopy forming species (Laure *et al.*, 2009). Late-stage colonists include fucoids and macroinvertebrates such as limpets and littorinids which have migrated from nearby habitats.

As succession commences, the mechanisms by which species compete to become dominant vary. For example, if environmental conditions allow, fucoids may appear earlier during colonisation and establish quickly (Benedetti-Cecchi, 2000a), creating a canopy which shades early colonising algal species inhibiting their growth (Jenkins, Hawkins and Norton, 1999). Grazing can also impact the rate of succession within a habitat by slowing or accelerating the establishment of algal species. For example, high densities of grazing limpets and snails may remove most newly settled algal spores thus inhibiting colonisation of a species by preventing

establishment (Dethier, 1984). Similarly, by feeding preferentially on ephemeral algae, gastropods clear space for species less susceptible to grazing such as calcareous species (Benedetti-Cecchi, 2000b). Complex interactions between species within the assemblage can directly and indirectly impact the sequence of succession, making predicting the composition or structure of the community after colonisation difficult (Benedetti-Cecchi, 2000b).

Rocky shore habitats are dynamic and the composition of communities naturally changes as succession occurs. A number of studies have shown that with time, the richness and diversity of communities typically increases (Benedetti-Cecchi, 2000a; Foster et al., 2003), but that as different species move into the habitat clear shifts in the composition of the community can occur (Hall et al., 2019). Capturing the spatial and temporal variation in developing communities provides an insight into how the successional process is being played out. For example, examining how the Shannon-Wiener diversity (H') of a habitat differs over time or between locations can provide a valuable indication of where conditions for life may be most favourable. However, examining how the species richness (S) and total abundance (N) of sessile and mobile species changes over time and between habitats provides a more comprehensive picture of how the community changes. Examining species richness (S) total abundance (N) of sessile and mobile assemblages gives a better understanding of how species interact with their habitat and can provide an indication of how suitable or not a habitat is. Examining these metrics for mobile species, such as limpets and snails, and for sessile animals and algae separately can also highlight important interactions between organisms and their environment. For example, mobile species such as the limpet Patella vulgata have well documented migratory tendencies and are capable of moving away from areas where environmental and biological conditions are not optimal (Branch, 1975; Lewis and Bowman, 1975). In the same vein, it is important to assess how sessile flora and fauna persist in the areas into which they have settled, and how the community changed as the habitat underwent succession. For example, the occurrence of algal species on artificial coastal defences adjacent to natural rocky shores might indicate transfer of species between the habitats and patterns of connectivity which may become apparent over time (Liversage and Chapman, 2018). Similarly, the presence of key habitat forming species, such as Semibalanus balanoides and fucoids would indicate how well or how quickly succession of species through the habitat was occurring (Benedetti-Cecchi, 2000a).

Intertidal rocky shore habitats and biological communities also provide a number of valuable ecosystem services, including services which directly benefit human populations such as provision of food and raw materials, and disturbance prevention services (Beaumont et al., 2007; Smale et al., 2013). For example, in the North-east Atlantic, kelp forests and fucoid canopies provide essential habitat for molluscs and crustaceans which are preyed upon by the European Lobster, a fishery which is worth approximately £30 million annually to the UK economy (Elliott et al., 2012). In addition, macroalgae has been used as livestock feed potentially as early as the first domesticated herds in the fifth millennia BC (Balasse et al., 2005). Brown algae also high in alginates and other nutrients which have been used as soil conditioner and fertilizer in more modern times (Smale et al., 2013). Rocky shores can also act to dampen the impact of coastal storms. Biogenic habitat forming species, such as phaeophytes, barnacles and mussels, modify the movement of water through the habitat, somewhat reducing the velocity of breaking waves (Løvås and Tørum, 2001; Smale et al., 2013). In addition, rocky shores often hold a special significance to the communities which live nearby (Beaumont et al., 2008). There are a number of cultural and recreational services provided by rocky shore habitats (Beaumont et al., 2007; Smale et al., 2013). For example, recreational diving, angling, bird watching, rock pooling and beach combing are all much enjoyed past times which provide cognitive stimulation and opportunities for mental wellness (Beaumont et al., 2007). In the Scilly Isles alone, 85% of the revenue from tourism is generated through coastal and wildlife-oriented activities such as bird and seal watching tours, which would not be possible without healthy rocky shore habitats (Beaumont et al., 2007).

#### 1.4 Coastal Defence Structures as Habitats

Artificial coastal defences have become a more common feature on rocky shores and are built to be robust and long-lasting in order to withstand intense storms (Dafforn *et al.*, 2015) and act in various ways to reduce wave over-topping and prevent flooding and erosion (Salman *et al.*, 2004; Firth *et al.*, 2016b). Defence structures largely occur within the intertidal and shallow sub-tidal zones (Airoldi *et al.*, 2005) and may be constructed parallel to the shore; in the case of seawalls, breakwaters and rock armouring, or perpendicular to the shore; in the case of groynes and jetties (Bulleri and Chapman, 2010; Firth *et al.*, 2016b). Shore-parallel structures act to dissipate high-energy waves and reduce the impact of on-coming waves on the shoreline (Thomalla and Vincent, 2003; Bulleri and Chapman, 2010), whereas shore-perpendicular structures, are designed to modify sediment transport and current flow in order to limit or slow coastal erosion (Bulleri and Chapman, 2010; Firth *et al.*, 2014). Coastal defences provide habitat for marine organisms and can facilitate ecological connectivity (Firth *et al.*, 2016b; Bishop *et al.*, 2017) although it has become apparent that such structures can also negatively impact existing ecological communities. When built, the construction and location of hard artificial structures can damage the shore onto which they are placed and disrupt associated ecosystem services (Cooper *et al.*, 2016). Installation of defences also often results in the permanent loss of substantial areas of mature intertidal habitat (Moschella *et al.*, 2005) and threatens the health and persistence of numerous habitat types, including macroalgal beds and sedimentary habitats through alteration to sediment transport regimes or water movement (Airoldi and Beck, 2007). Additionally, the introduction of hard artificial substrata where there previously was none has also been documented to facilitate range expansion of non-native invasive species (Bulleri and Chapman, 2010; Mineur *et al.*, 2012).

Coastal defences quickly become host to biological communities; however, the communities that develop often have a markedly poorer diversity comparative to native substrates (Bulleri *et al.*, 2006; Airoldi and Beck, 2007). This diversity deficit appears characteristic of coastal defence structures, regardless of style, size, geographic location or placement in sedimentary or rocky shore environments. There are number of explanations including that as defences are frequently installed in exposed or high-energy environments the development of naturally occurring biotopes may be inhibited due to exposure to intense wave action and sand scouring (Pister, 2009; Firth *et al.*, 2014).

Similarly, defences are often orientated to align with the assets being protected and may have a steeper vertical gradient than the gently-sloping sedimentary and intertidal shorelines where they are installed (Moschella *et al.*, 2005). This may cause prolonged periods of sun exposure and shading which can also inhibit development algal and faunal communities (Bulleri and Chapman, 2004; Mineur *et al.*, 2012; Firth *et al.*, 2016b). As Bulleri and Chapman (2004) noted, native rocky shores typically exhibit a range of slopes, which has been shown to be key in determining distribution patterns of intertidal fauna (Benedetti-Cecchi *et al.* 2000). Orientation of the substratum has also been identified as a key driver of structural differences between assemblages from native and artificial substrates (Whorff *et al.*, 1995; Benedetti-Cecchi *et al.* 2000; Glasby, 2000), with very different assemblages shown develop on the vertical and horizontal surfaces of artificial structures (Harris and Irons, 1982; Connell, 1999).

Closer examination showed defences present a very different physical environment to naturally-occurring rocky shores, a characteristic which is considered the primary cause of observed differences in community structure and functioning between coastal defences and

natural substrates (Firth et al., 2016a). In the past, artificial intertidal structures were looked on as a substitute rocky shore habitat (Thompson et al., 2002; Bulleri and Chapman, 2004) but a growing body of work has indicated that artificial coastal defences lack sufficient variety and availability of habitats to successfully mimic native substrates and natural rocky shore environments (Aguilera, 2018). Defences are typically manufactured using hard wearing materials resistant to weathering (Coombes, 2014; Davis et al., 2017), producing a homogenous environment which lacks many of the physical features present on rocky shores (Bulleri and Chapman, 2004; Mineur et al., 2012; Firth et al., 2016b). Thus, many of the vital microhabitats that exist within and around such physical features on natural rocky shores are absent from artificial defences (Firth et al., 2013b; Hall et al., 2018). Features such as overhangs, channels and pools provide essential refuges from biotic pressures, such as predation and competition (Mineur et al., 2012) and act to retain water between tidal cycles offering protection from environmental stresses (Firth et al., 2013a). In addition to lacking variety and heterogeneity in the range of habitats available, coastal defences are noted for having inadequate surface roughness (Coombes et al., 2015). Concrete and granite are routinely favoured in the construction of coastal defences (Bulleri and Chapman, 2010), however both materials have a notably smoother and less textured surface, and create more uniformity over larger areas than rocky shore platforms (Coombes et al., 2015; Firth et al., 2016b).

#### 1.5 Ecological Engineering and Habitat Enhancement on Coastal Defences

Given the necessity of using coastal defences to protect coastal communities in the future, the concept of sensitively engineering new structures and ecologically enhancing existing structures has gained momentum in recent years (Bulleri and Chapman, 2010; Firth *et al.*, 2016b). The term *ecological enhancement* refers to the action of modifying sites or structures to be more ecologically favourable by increasing or improving the extent and quality of available habitat (ITRC, 2004), and can be incorporated into the design of new structures or applied retrospectively by modifying existing structures (Hall *et al.*, 2018). Recent work in habitat enhancement on coastal defences has sought to improve the habitat structure of otherwise featureless substrata by improving either the heterogeneity of habitats available through the creation and incorporation of broader habitat types such as artificial rock pools and boulder rubble (Chapman & Blockley 2009; Firth *et al.*, 2016a; Liversage and Chapman, 2018), or through establishing greater physical complexity via the creation of pit, hole and overhang microhabitats (Evans *et al.*, 2016; Hall *et al.*, 2018; Waltham and Sheaves, 2018).

Habitat structure is a key determinant of diversity in biological communities, and environments which have a greater range of habitats available typically have a higher diversity of species (Cramer and Willig, 2005; Carvalho, and Barros, 2017). As such, much of the work in this area has centred on either creating a wider range of large-scale habitats or improving physical complexity on a smaller spatial scale. The terms *habitat heterogeneity* and *complexity* have frequently been used synonymously in ecological studies to describe the availability and abundance of different habitat types on a range of spatial scales (Pickett *et al.*, 2010). In an ecological enhancement context, *habitat heterogeneity* is broadly defined as the relative abundance of different structural components within a habitat (McCoy and Bell, 1991). By contrast, *physical complexity* is used to describe relatively small-scale physical characteristics or structural components of a habitat (McCoy and Bell, 1991; Gee and Warwick, 1994). Physical complexity varies over a range of spatial scales, with *fine-scale (mm)* complexity often referring to the texture or roughness of a surface (Coombes *et al.*, 2015; MacArthur *et al.*, 2019) and *small-scale (cm)* complexity referring to small physical features such as grooves or pits (Evans *et al.*, 2016; Hall *et al.*, 2018).

Enhancement techniques vary widely, ranging in extremes from large pre-cast concrete units, such as the BIOBLOCK habitat enhancement unit (Firth et al., 2014), to increasingly fineresolution modifications for example increasing surface roughness at millimetre scale (Coombes et al., 2015). Mechanisms to ecologically enhance defences have been trialled globally, including in Australia, Europe and the United States (Chapman, 2003a; Bulleri et al., 2006; Sella and Perkol-Finkel, 2015), where mostly small-scale enhancement techniques have been integrated into existing intertidal defences, largely rock armour and concrete seawall style structures (Firth et al., 2016b). Documented trials have included; the addition of drilled pits and holes, horizontal grooves and artificial pools as water retaining mechanisms (Firth et al., 2013a; Evans et al., 2016; Hall et al., 2018), incorporation of natural boulder rubble (Liversage and Chapman, 2018), exaggerating surface roughness and texture (Coombes et al., 2015) and the deployment of precast concrete units (Langhamer and Wilhelmsson, 2009; Firth et al., 2014). These studies have largely shown that ecological enhancement of coastal defences positively impacts biodiversity by facilitating the natural succession (Thomsen et al., 2016), providing opportunities for species to increase their vertical distribution (Chapman and Blockley, 2009) and for colonisation by rarer species (Liversage and Chapman, 2018).

The addition of water retaining features has proved an effective enhancement mechanism at various spatial scales and is widely agreed to be a simple and cost-efficient means of improving diversity (Firth *et al.*, 2016a). On natural rocky shores, pools are known to provide nursery habitat for grazing species, such as limpets, offering protection from temperature fluctuations

and desiccation (Bowman and Lewis, 1977). Mobile fauna have particularly benefitted from the addition of water-retaining features. In trials conducted by Evans et al., (2016) and Hall et al., (2018) the use of small holes was shown to provide shelter for several gastropod snail species, which are known to actively seek select such crevices (Pardo and Johnson, 2004; Skov et al., 2011). In both trials, the authors noted that mobile fauna were largely absent from the study area prior to commencement of the trials. The use of drilled holes notably improved both the richness and abundance of algal and invertebrate species observed in modified areas compared to unmodified areas (Hall et al., 2018), in addition to hosting relatively rarer species or species more common to lower shore habitats (Evans et al., 2016). Larger artificial basins and pools have also been found to increase richness and abundance of algal species, with many noting a greater abundance of macroalgal species (Browne and Chapman, 2014; Firth et al., 2014; Firth et al., 2016a) and the occurrence of typically low shore algal species (e.g. *Rhodophyta*) (Firth *et al.*, 2013a). However, the effectiveness of artificial pools depends considerably on their location. In a trial by Firth et al., (2016a), a number of artificial pools were created on the sheltered and exposed sides of a causeway. Over time sheltered pools became inundated with sediment and thus failed to act as rock pools, whereas exposed pools showed less sedimentation and hosted a comparatively higher richness and diversity. However exposed pools which were immersed on every tidal cycle supported a greater functional richness than pools which were less regularly immersed.

It is well understood that the physical characteristics of a substrate affect its suitability for settlement (Salta et al., 2013), with rough and textured surfaces being essential for the development of permanent and stable marine biofilms, which provide nutrition for many grazing species (Decho, 2000; Hutchinson et al., 2006). Fine-scale surface texture also plays a key role in the recruitment and settlement of invertebrate larvae (Walters and Wethey, 1996), such as barnacle cyprids which, once settled, will facilitate the establishment of algal and other sessile species (Chabot and Bourget, 1988; Sueiro et al., 2011). Surface texture can determine how closely barnacle larvae can settle to each other (Crisp, 1961, MacArthur et al., 2019), in addition to influencing how strongly cyprids can attach to the substrate (Petersen, Gorb and Heepe, 2020). The barnacle Semibalanus balanoides has been found to display a preference for roughened surfaces (Holmes, Sturgess and Davies, 1997). A trial by MacArthur et al., in 2019 examined a range of textured tiles in order to determine which texture would most improve barnacle cover and invertebrate richness. Tile designs mimicked natural rocky shore topography and varied in complexity from fine-resolution roughened surfaces (mm-scale) to more complex designs which featured small pit and groove microhabitats (all 1-3 cm in size). MacArthur et al., (2019) found tiles with mm-scale grooved surface textures provided the

optimum level of complexity for recruitment and settlement of barnacles, likely because the level of complexity was enough that barnacle cyprids could adequately adhere to the surface, but was not so great that cyprids were prevented from settling in close proximity (Crisp, 1961). In an earlier trial by Coombes *et al.*, (2015) precast concrete tiles with different mm-scale surface textures were deployed on horizontal rocky shores in south-west England. This study also found surfaces with a regular fine-scale grooved texture to be the most effective showing significantly greater barnacle cyprid settlement and recruitment after 6 months compared to tiles with smoother textures.

The use of grooves as a cost-effective habitat enhancement mechanism was trialled in 2018 by Hall *et al.*, in Runswick Bay, North Yorkshire and Bournemouth, Dorset. Hall *et al.*, intended to increase habitat heterogeneity by engineering deep, wide and roughly-hewn horizontal grooves to create areas of novel water retention and greater topographic complexity, in order to promote community establishment. Three grooves measuring 60 cm in length and 1 cm in depth were engineered into seven granite boulders. Each array consisted of two thin grooves which measured only 0.3 cm in width, and one thicker groove which measured 2 cm in width. After 12 months, grooves had a significantly higher barnacle count than unmodified controls and hosted 5 species previously absent from the defence. Given the success of engineered grooves in this context as a mechansim to improve biodiversity, the concept was carried forward and adapted into a newly built rock armour at Runswick Bay.

#### 1.6 Habitat Enhancement Case Study: The Runswick Bay Coastal Protection Scheme

A key site in the field of ecological engineering is Runswick Bay, North Yorkshire (OS Reference: NZ 8217 1599). The Runswick Bay Coastal Protection Scheme is a multi-award winning scheme (Constructing Excellence, 2019), developed by Scarborough Borough Council and the Environment Agency in collaboration with stakeholders, to limit erosion of the cliffs surrounding Runswick Bay village and address deterioration of the Victorian seawall at the site (Environment Agency, 2015; JBA Consulting, 2017a). As part of the Runswick Bay Coastal Protection Scheme, a new rock armour was constructed in 2018 at the base of the existing seawall (Scarborough Borough Council, 2019) (See Figure 1.1 below, and Figure 2.1 for reference). The new rock armouring was constructed from approximately 9,500 tonnes of Norwegian granite boulders, each weighing between 5 and 10 tonnes, and measured 250 m in length, 8 m wide at the base and 2.5 m in height with a total footprint of roughly 2600 m<sup>2</sup> when completed (JBA Consulting, 2017a; Latham *et al.*, 2020) (Figure 1.1).

Following the successful trial by Hall *et al.*, (2018), on an older rock armour at the same site, plans were made during the planning and consultation process to incorporate enhancements into the proposed Runswick Bay rock armour, during its construction (Latham *et al.*, 2020). A number of habitat enhancement mechanisms were deployed which aimed to improve habitat heterogeneity and physical complexity of the rock armour by creating novel habitats and microhabitats and improving water retention. Improving the heterogeneity of habitats within the defence included the addition of;

#### A) Artificial rock pool habitats

Approximately 70 artificial basins were created on the upper surfaces of granite boulders. Each measured approximately 15 cm deep and 30 cm wide (JBA Consulting, 2017b) and were located in the intertidal and splash zones and above throughout the rock armour (Figure 1.2a)

#### B) Sandstone boulder habitats

Large sandstone boulders native to the site were set aside during construction and were later placed at the base of the new rock armour. These boulders were intended to act as "seed rocks" promoting colonisation of the granite once incorporated (Latham *et al.*, 2020) (Figure 1.2b). Although much of the macroalgal cover was lost as a result of disturbance during construction, sandstone boulders were covered in green filamentous algae and had some fucoid holdfast remnants still attached to them when added to the rock armour.

In addition, enhancements to improve physical complexity of the rock armour included the deployment of;

C) Grooves

Horizontal grooves, measuring approximately 40 – 80 cm in length, 1 cm in depth and 3 mm in width, were cut into granite boulder faces throughout the rock armour (JBA Consulting, 2017b) (Figure 1.2c). These grooves differed slightly from those used by Hall *et al.*, (2018) in that only narrow grooves were deployed, and no grooves were widened. Grooves were not added to sandstone boulders.

The Runswick Bay Coastal Protection Scheme is unique for a number of reasons, firstly because it is a rare example of a coastal defence structure with planned habitat enhancements incorporated throughout, and secondly because it represents the largest application of habitat enhancement mechanisms on a coastal defence structure in the UK at present (Latham *et al.*, 2020).



Figure 1.1 – Section of the rock armour created as part of the Runswick Bay Coastal Protection Scheme (taken at beginning of the study in February 2019).



Figure 1.2 – Enhancements photographed at beginning of the current study; a) artificial pool (AP) above with unmodified granite boulder (GB) below, b) sandstone boulder (SB) and c) substrate treated with grooves (GS) with area of untreated substrate (US) between.

#### 1.7 Aims of the Current Study

The current study investigated the colonisation and community development of the enhanced rock armour defence at Runswick Bay and examined how fine-scale complexity and substrate orientation affected community structure on unenhanced coastal defences at four locations in North and East Yorkshire.

Firstly, this study monitored colonisation in areas of increased habitat heterogeneity on the new rock armour at Runswick Bay to determine whether diversity and structure of sessile and mobile communities differed between habitat types (artificial pool, sandstone boulder and granite boulder habitats). Secondly this study monitored colonisation in areas of increased small-scale physical complexity on the new rock armour at Runswick Bay to determine whether diversity and structure of sessile and mobile communities differed between treatment types (substrates treated with grooves, and untreated substrates without grooves), over time. Thirdly, this study investigated whether fine-scale physical complexity of granite substrates affected diversity and community structure on one granite rock armour defence at North Bay, Scarborough where three types of substrates with differing levels of fine-scale complexity were present. Due to an absence of studies examining rock armour specifically within the North and East Yorkshire region, comparisons of fine-scale complexity between five granite rock armour defences at four locations in North and East Yorkshire were also made. And finally, this study investigated whether the orientation to compass-direction of granite substrates affected the diversity and structure of sessile and mobile communities at one site.

Chapter 2 aimed to determine whether there were differences in the diversity and composition of sessile and mobile communities between the three main habitat types (artificial pools, granite boulders and sandstone boulders) on the new rock armour at Runswick Bay; and how this varied over time.

Chapter 3 aimed to monitor colonisation of areas treated with and without added small-scale physical complexity (substrates treated with grooves and untreated substrates without grooves) to determine if diversity and composition of sessile and mobile communities differed between treatment types over time.

Chapter 4 aimed to determine whether diversity and structure of sessile and mobile communities differed between granite and sandstone substrates with different levels of finescale physical complexity at one site in Scarborough North Bay, North Yorkshire. Fine-scale complexity of five granite rock armour defences across North and East Yorkshire was also

examined to determine whether fine-scale physical complexity impacted diversity and community structure over a regional scale.

Chapter 5 aimed to determine whether diversity and structure of sessile and mobile communities were different between granite substrates with different compass orientations at one site in Scarborough South Bay, North Yorkshire.

Finally, Chapter 6 discussed the key findings of Chapters 2 – 5, examined the wider implications of this research and makes recommendations for future ecological engineering work.

## Chapter 2 Colonisation in areas of increased habitat heterogeneity on an ecologically enhanced rock armour defence in Runswick Bay, North Yorkshire.

#### 2.1 Introduction

Planning and designing coastal defences requires a balance to be struck between ensuring maximum asset protection, defence longevitey and economic and aethetic specifications (Troch et al., 2014). In many instances, habitat enhancement work has been limited by cost and site access, resulting in the development of mostly small-scale enhancement techniques which can be retro-fitted to existing defences (see Chapter 1 Section 1.5, see also Firth et al., 2016b for a comprehensive review). However, considering potential enhancement opportunities during the design and planning of new defences can ensure that sufficient funding is provided (Hall et al., 2018) and that conservation of diversity is maximised (Firth et al., 2016b). Indeed, exploring opportunities for enhancement in the earliest stages of planning can make the ecological suitability of the defence a greater priority for both developers and stakeholders (Naylor et al., 2012). Planning ecological enhancments into the design of an artificial structure can also increase the spatial scale over which enhancments are applied. For example, a trial in 2009 by Langhamer and Wilhelmsson incorporated holes into the concrete foundations of wave-energy generators to promote colonisation by fish and crustacean species. Enhancements had to be implemented during the design stage as the concrete foundations had to be cast as single units, either with or without holes. In this way Langhamer and Wilhelmsson were able to deploy an equivalent number of foundations with and without holes. The study showed that concrete units with pre-planned holes supported a greater abundance of commercially important crab and lobster species, and proved that synthesis of ecologically intelligent design with coastal and marine infrastructure can have a wide range of industrial and societal benefits (Kidd 2007; Jay et al., 2012; Firth et al., 2016b).

However, examples of enhancement mechanisms pre-planned into artificial coastal defences are scarce. The Runswick Bay Coastal Protection Scheme is a rare example of a variety of habitat enhancement techniques being planned into the design of a large coastal defence. In this instance, considering enhancement opportunities early in the development process created scope to incorporate more varied habitat types, by creating artificial rock pool and sandstone boulder habitats, and to improve the small-scale (cm) physical complexity of the imported granite boulders by adding engineered grooves, as described in Chapter 1 Section 1.5. Both artificial rock pools and sandstone boulders present valuable habitats engineered into the defence, and the addition of grooves created areas of valuable small-scale physical

complexity. It is well documented that rock pools provide important shelter from abiotic stresses between tidal cycles (Newell, 1979; Underwood and Jernakoff, 1984; Martins *et al.*, 2007), act as nursery habitats (Bowman and Lewis, 1977) and provide more plentiful and varied foraging than emergent rock (Mendonça *et al.*, 2019). As a sedimentary rock, sandstone is highly porous and therefore able to retain water within itself which would similarly offer protection to floral and faunal assemblages from desiccation (McGuinness, 1984; Jackson *et al.*, 2013). Extensive macroalgal canopies would also act to shade the substrate, mitigate moisture loss and provide a refuge to animals from thermal stresses (Scrosati and Ellrich, 2018). There was also potential that artificial pool and sandstone boulder habitats could promote colonisation of the granite boulders of the new rock armour (Latham *et al.*, 2020). Indeed, Liversage and Chapman (2018) noted that species common to sandstone boulder habitats had the potential to colonise artificial habitats. Therefore, colonisation of the granite boulders may be positively influenced by the presence of artificial pool habitats and sandstone boulder habitats, which hosted algal communities when incorporated into the rock armour.

The Runswick Bay Coastal Protection Scheme provides an ideal opportunity to determine if planned ecological enhancements installed during construction have a positive effect on biodiversity. The aim of this chapter was to determine whether there was a difference in the species richness (S), total abundance (N), Shannon-Wiener diversity (H') and community similarity of sessile and mobile communities between the three main habitat types on the new coastal defence (artificial pool (AP), sandstone boulder (SB) and granite boulder (GB) habitats), and how this varied over time (over a 14-month sampling period). The specific hypotheses to be tested were;

- 1. S, N, H' and community similarity of sessile and mobile communities was significantly different between habitats and over time.
- Within each habitat, S, N, and H' of sessile and mobile communities was significantly different over time.
- 3. S, N and H' of sessile and mobile communities in each habitat was significantly higher at the end of the study than at the start.

#### 2.2 Method

#### 2.2.1 Site Description

Located 7 km to the north of Whitby and 3 km south of Staithes in North Yorkshire, Runswick Bay consists of a sand beach approximately 2 km in length with a rocky intertidal platform and the settlement of Runswick Bay village situated at the northern end. A Marine Conservation Zone (MCZ) extending approximately 3 nautical miles out to sea and covering an area of approximately 68 km<sup>2</sup> was designated at the site in 2016 to preserve a number of key biotopes in the area, including high, moderate and low energy intertidal rock and moderate energy infralittoral and circalittoral rock biotopes (Natural England, 2018a). The site is also as a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) due to unique fossil formations present (Natural England, 2018b). Runswick Bay village is a popular tourist destination and consists of 96 residential properties in addition to 17 non-residential buildings (Environment Agency, 2015). The village is skirted by cliffs comprised of soft Jurassic bedrock, overlain by glacial sediment which are prone to landslides and at particular risk of rapid erosion (Environment Agency, 2015).

The enhancements described in Chapter 1 Section 1.6 were installed throughout the new defence (Figure 2.1). Sample stations where all habitat types, artificial pool (AP), granite boulder (GB) and sandstone boulder (SB), were situated in close proximity and at the same height were selected for monthly sampling (N = 14), (Figure 2.1 and Figure 2.2). Only stations located in the intertidal and where all habitat types could be replicated were selected for sampling. All stations were moderately exposed. Care was taken to ensure sample stations were located at the same tidal height and that boulder orientation was consistent between stations (Kim and DeWreede, 1996). All samples were taken from the upper-shore, which was determined using biological indicator *Fucus spiralis*, a species indicative of upper-shore environments (White, 2008a).



Figure 2.1 – Study site at Runswick Bay, North Yorkshire. Numbered sample stations (N=14) are where all habitat types: artificial pool (AP), granite boulder (GB) and sandstone boulder (SB), were present. The grey area indicates the footprint of the new rock armour defence.



Runswick Bay Coastal Protection Scheme Rock Armouring

Figure 2.2 – The experimental design where 14 sample stations were selected, and the three habitat types were present at each station: artificial pool (AP), granite boulder (GB) and sandstone boulder (SB).

#### 2.2.2 Method

GPS coordinates of each sample station were logged using a Garmin eTrex10 Handheld GPS, and photographs of each sample station were taken to facilitate visual relocation during subsequent visits (Ducrotoy and Simpson, 2001). In order to monitor changes in floral and faunal communities in each habitat type (AP, GB and SB) over time, a 50 x 50 cm quadrat was used to estimate the percentage cover of sessile species and a count of all mobile species was also made (Chapman, 2006).

Sessile species data included all algal and encrusting animal species, such as the acorn barnacle *Semibalanus balanoides*, which are fixed to the substrate (Bulleri and Chapman, 2004). The term "algal species" was used where encrusting animal species were absent from the sample or where algal species only were examined. Mobile species refers to organisms capable of moving or migrating into and out of the habitat (Chapman, 2006). A subset count of common grazing species; *Patella vulgata, Littorina littorea, Littorina obtusata* and *Littorina saxatilis* was taken from the overall mobile species data, as these species are common on both natural and artificial rocky shores and perform key roles in succession in intertidal habitats (Benedetti-Cecchi, 2000b; Laure *et al.*, 2009).

Identification of species was facilitated using Bunker *et al.*, 2017 for algae and Cremona, Simms and Ward, 2001 for fauna.

#### 2.2.3 Statistical Analyses

Percentage cover data of sessile flora and sessile faunal species, and count per unit area (number of individuals per 50cm<sup>2</sup>) of mobile species was split and analysed separately.
The DIVERSE routine in PRIMER was used to calculate S, N and H'. The Shannon-Wiener Diversity Index was used as it is representative of both the richness and the evenness of species in a sample (Spellerberg and Fedor, 2003).

To answer the first hypothesis that S, N, H' and community similarity of sessile and mobile communities was significantly different between habitats and over time, sessile S, N and H' data was tested for conformation to a normal distribution and homogeneity of variances using Kolmogorov-Smirnov test and Levene's test, respectively (Dytham, 2011). Sessile S, N and H' data was found to be normally distributed (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, P > 0.05) with equal variances (Levene's test, P > 0.05) and was fitted into a General Linear Model (GLM) to determine the importance of habitat, time and the interaction between habitat and time on colonisation of habitat types. Mobile species S, N and H' data did not conform to normality (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, P > 0.05) or have equal variances (Levene's test, P > 0.05) and so was examined descriptively using the median and range of S, N and H' data to identify differences between habitat types and over time.

To examine sessile community similarity between habitats and over time, a square root transformation was applied to the raw percentage cover algal species data to down-weight the influence of very abundant species (Clarke *et al.*, 2006a). A Bray-Curtis Similarity Matrix was generated from the transformed data and a visual representation of similarity between sessile communities from each habitat type (habitat types from different sample stations were pooled) for each month, was produced using non-metric multidimensional scaling (nMDS) of the similarity matrix (Legendre and Gallagher, 2001). A Two-Way Crossed ANOSIM with replicates was used to test for significant differences in community similarity between both time (month sampled) and habitat type factors (AP, GB and SB), using the similarity matrix. This was followed by Similarity of Percentages (SIMPER) analysis in order to identify species responsible for producing changes in the structure of sessile communities over time. Relative abundance of key algal species each month was then plotted to show changes to community structure during sampling (Menge and Farrell, 1989).

To determine diversity of animal communities between habitat types and over time, S, N and H' of grazing fauna was compared between habitats at the start and end of the sampling period. Here grazing species refers to common grazing species; *Patella vulgata, Littorina littorea, Littorina obtusata* and *Littorina saxatilis*. The comparison was made using Kruskal-Wallis Test and Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum PostHOC Test (Dytham, 2011). The mean density of grazing species in each habitat for each month sampled was plotted to visualise changes in the density and structure of mobile communities throughout the duration of the study.

To answer the second hypothesis that within each habitat, S, N, and H' of sessile and mobile communities was significantly different over time, the following procedure was adopted for both sessile and count per unit area data. One-Way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) was used to identify significant differences in mean S, N and H' over time for each habitat separately. Data from July 2018 for AP and GB habitats was included in ANOVA analyses. While a normal distribution and homogenous variances are key assumptions of One-Way ANOVA, data which did not meet these assumptions was still tested and the test residuals were examined (Zuur et al., 2007). A normality plot and histogram plot of test residuals, alongside plots of residuals versus fitted and observed values to assess the goodness of ANOVA model fit were examined (Oehlert, 2010). The adjusted R-Squared value provided an indication of the percentage of variation in the data accounted for within the model and was examined as a measure of how well the model fit (Dytham, 2011). An additional precaution where parametric tests were used with data which did meet the assumptions of the test was to set a higher level of acceptance (Zuur et al., 2007). As such, the significance level alpha was set to 0.01 (Kim, 2017). Where One-Way ANOVA found a significant difference, a Tukey PostHOC test was applied to identify which groups were significantly different (Dytham, 2011). Instances where One-Way ANOVA could not be validated through examination of residuals, the non-parametric equivalent Kruskal-Wallis Test and Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum PostHOC Test were applied instead (Dytham, 2011).

Finally, to test the hypothesis that the S, N and H' of sessile and mobile communities in each habitat was significantly higher at the end of the study than at the start, comparisons of S, N and H' of sessile and mobile species were made using data collected in the first month of sampling (February 2019) and the final month of sampling (October 2019). All comparisons were made using Mann Whitney U-tests as S, N and H' data for both sessile and mobile species did not conform to a normal distribution (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, P < 0.05).

Analyses was completed in Minitab 17 Statistical Software (2010), R (R Core Team, 2019), and PRIMER-e V6 Multivariate Analysis for Ecology statistical software (Clarke and Warwick, 2001).

# 2.3 Results

The composition of species was different between habitat types. At the end of the sampling period, there was a slightly higher number of sessile taxa in AP habitats (21) than in SB habitats (18), with markedly fewer sessile taxa being recorded in GB habitats (12), (Table 2.1). A similar number of mobile taxa (6) were identified in both AP and SB habitats, and again by comparison, fewer mobile taxa were present in GB habitats at the end of the sampling period (Table 2.1).

Table 2.1 – Presence and absence of species after the 14-month sampling period AP, SB ad GB habitats at Runswick Bay (\* indicates presence at end of sampling period).

	Habitat Type					
-	Artificial Pools	Sandstone Boulders	Granite Boulders			
	(AP)	(SB)	(GB)			
Sessile Species						
Porphyra linearis	*	*	*			
Porphyra dioica	*	*	*			
Ulva intestinalis	*	*	*			
Ulva linza	*	*	*			
Ulva lactuca	*	*				
Ulva sp.	*	*	*			
Filamentous Greens	*	*	*			
Filamentous Browns	*		*			
Fucus Sporling	*	*	*			
Fucus vesiculosus	*	*	*			
Fucus spiralis	*	*	*			
Ascophyllum nodosum		*				
Rhodochorton sp.		*				
Ceramium spp.	*	*				
Pylaiella littoralis	*	*				
Mastocarpus stellatus		*	*			
Aoudinella sp.		*	*			
Ulothrix sp.	*					
Scytosiphon lomentaria	*					
Polysiphonia sp.	*					
Ectocarpus sp.	*					
Cladophora sericea	*					
Pink Crusts		*				
Blidingia maritima	*					
Eudesme virescens	*					
Semibalanus balanoides	*	*				
Mobile Species						
Patella vulgata	*	*	*			
Littorina littorea	*	*	*			
Littorina obtusata	*	*	*			
Littorina saxatalis	*	*	*			
Carcinus maenas	*	*				
Lipophrys pholis	*					
Actinia equina		*				

2.3.1 Variation in Sessile Communities in Different Habitat Types Over Time There was a significant difference in mean S, N and H' of sessile species, both between habitat types and over time, and a significant interaction between habitat type and time (Table 2.2). Mean S and mean H' of sessile species, averaged across all months sampled, was significantly different between habitat types (Table 2.3), with mean S and mean H' being significantly higher in AP habitats and significantly lower in GB habitats (Tukey P < 0.05, in both cases). Mean N of both AP and SB was significantly higher than GB (Tukey P < 0.05, in both cases), however AP and SB were not significantly different (Tukey P > 0.05).

There was a significant interaction between habitat type and time, indicating an inconsistent pattern of change in mean S, N and H' of sessile species between habitats over time. Mean S of sessile species was significantly higher in AP habitats in August and September than in other habitats over time (Tukey P < 0.05, in both cases), (Table 2.4), however mean S between these two months was not significantly different. Similarly, mean S was significantly lower in GB habitats in September and July, compared to other habitats over time (Tukey P < 0.05, in both cases), but not significantly different from each other. Mean N of sessile species was significantly higher in GB in September than in other habitats over time (Tukey P < 0.05) (Table 2.5), and significantly lower in GB in September than in other habitats over time (Tukey P < 0.05) (Table 2.5). Mean H' of sessile species was significantly higher in AP in June, compared to other habitats over time (Tukey P < 0.05) (Table 2.5). Mean H' of sessile species was significantly higher in AP in June, compared to other habitats over time (Tukey P < 0.05) (Table 2.5). Mean H' of sessile species was significantly higher in AP in June, compared to other habitats over time (Tukey P < 0.05). Mean H' of sessile species was significantly higher in AP in August and September to other habitats over time (Tukey P < 0.05, in both cases) although were not significantly different to each other, (Table 2.6). Mean H' was significantly lower in GB habitats in July and May compared to other habitats over time (Tukey P < 0.05, in both cases) but again these months were not significantly different to each other.

Table 2.2 – GLM analysis for the effect of Time (month sampled) and Habitat
type on the mean S, N and H' of sessile species on the ecologically enhanced
rock armour at Runswick Bay.

i) Species Richness (S)				
Source	DF	Adjusted MS	F	Р
Time	7	49.88	23.24	< 0.001
Habitat	2	359.47	167.49	< 0.001
Time * Habitat	14	21.52	10.03	< 0.001
Error	310	2.15		

#### ii) Total Abundance (N)

Source	DF	Adjusted MS	F	Ρ
Time	7	8605.00	5.12	< 0.001
Habitat	2	117724.00	69.99	< 0.001
Time * Habitat	14	6697.00	3.98	< 0.001
Error	310	1682.00		

#### iii) Shannon-Wiener Diversity (H')

Source	DF	Adjusted MS	F	Р
Time	7	1.60	12.63	< 0.001
Habitat	2	13.64	107.71	< 0.001
Time * Habitat	14	0.58	4.57	< 0.001
Error	310	0.13		

Table 2.3 – Tukey postHOC test of mean S, N and H' (averaged across all months sampled) of sessile species between habitat types on the ecologically enhanced rock armour at Runswick Bay. Means which do not share a letter are significantly different.

# i) Species Richness (S)

Habitat type	Mean	SD	Grouping
AP	6.24	2.73	А
GB	2.65	0.90	В
SB	4.48	1.92	C

#### ii) Total Abundance (N)

Habitat type	Mean	SD	Grouping
AP	122.28	51.69	А
SB	122.75	39.07	А
GB	66.43	43.84	В

#### iii) Shannon-Wiener Diversity (H')

Habitat type	Mean	SD	Grouping
AP	1.27	0.48	Α
GB	0.58	0.33	В
SB	0.94	0.44	C

Table 2.4 – Tukey postHOC test of mean S for the GLM interaction between Time and Habitat type (where  $\blacksquare$  = AP,  $\blacksquare$  = GB and  $\blacksquare$  = SB), means which do not share a letter are significantly different.

Species	Richness	(S)
---------	----------	-----

Time '	* Habitat	Mean	SD	Grouping
Aug	AP	9.43	1.45	A
Sept	AP	9.23	1.59	Α
Oct	AP	7.86	2.63	AB
June	AP	6.57	1.28	B C
Sept	SB	5.54	2.11	CD
Oct	SB	5.29	2.79	CDE
July	SB	5.14	1.75	CDEF
Aug	SB	5.07	1.90	CDEF
May	AP	4.93	1.27	CDEFG
July	AP	4.93	1.90	CDEFG
June	SB	4.36	1.28	DEFGH
Feb	AP	3.71	0.91	DEFGHI
May	SB	3.64	1.01	DEFGHI
Feb	SB	3.43	1.51	EFGHI
Apr	SB	3.36	1.28	EFGHI
Apr	AP	3.29	0.07	EFGHI
Oct	GB	3.21	0.89	FGHI
Aug	GB	2.93	0.92	GHI
May	GB	2.86	0.86	H I
June	GB	2.71	0.73	H I
Feb	GB	2.64	1.00	H I
Apr	GB	2.43	0.65	H I
Sept	GB	2.29	0.91	1
July	GB	2.14	0.86	1

Table 2.5 – Tukey postHOC test of mean N for the GLM interaction between Time and Habitat type(where = AP, = GB and = SB), means which do not share a letter are significantly different.

Time #	Unblest		60	Creation
time *	Habitat	Mean	SD	Grouping
June	AP	174.36	51.0	А
Sept	AP	158.31	27.10	A B
June	SB	142.07	33.08	ABC
May	AP	139.89	35.84	ABCDE
Aug	AP	131.50	33.73	ABCDEF
Oct	SB	127.68	67.1	ABCDEF
Oct	AP	125.79	65.30	ABCDEF
Apr	SB	125.71	32.91	ABCDEF
Sept	SB	123.00	33.50	ABCDEFG
May	SB	121.32	47.30	ABCDEFG
Feb	SB	116.82	36.51	BCDEFGH
July	SB	113.61	20.19	BCDEFGH
Aug	SB	111.79	23.00	BCDEFGHI
July	AP	95.00	38.8	CDEFGHIJ
Apr	AP	84.00	35.08	DEFGHIJ
June	GB	79.79	46.30	EFGHIJ
Feb	GB	77.68	43.80	EFGHIJ
May	GB	74.75	35.35	FGHIJ
Apr	GB	73.18	38.20	FGHIJ
Feb	AP	72.00	12.67	FGHIJ
Aug	GB	68.86	49.50	GHIJ
Oct	GB	61.58	51.80	HIJ
July	GB	56.07	40.80	1 1
Sept	GB	39.57	38.3	J

Table 2.6 – Tukey postHOC test of mean H' for the GLM interaction between Time and Habitat type (where = AP, = GB and = SB), means which do not share a letter are significantly different.

#### Shannon-Wiener Diversity (H')

Time * Habitat		Mean	SD	Gr	oupir	ng		
Aug	AP	1.83	1.83	Α				
Sept	AP	1.75	1.75	А				
Oct	AP	1.48	1.48	А	В			
June	AP	1.45	1.45	A	В			
Sept	SB	1.18	0.51		BC			
Oct	SB	1.06	0.64		BC	D		
May	AP	1.05	1.05		BC	D		
July	AP	1.02	1.02		BC	D	Ε	
June	SB	1.01	0.28		BC	D	E	
Aug	SB	0.96	0.51		C	D	Ε	
July	SB	0.88	0.50		С	D	Ε	F
Feb	AP	0.88	0.87		C	D	Ε	F
May	SB	0.86	0.31		С	D	E	F
Apr	SB	0.84	0.27		C	D	Ε	F
Oct	GB	0.79	0.31		С	D	Ε	F
Apr	AP	0.76	0.76		C	D	Ε	F
Feb	SB	0.74	0.29		С	D	E	F
Aug	GB	0.69	0.40		C	D	Ε	F
Apr	GB	0.59	0.22			D	Ε	F
Feb	GB	0.58	0.32			D	Ε	F
Sept	GB	0.56	0.32				E	F
June	GB	0.55	0.25				E	F
July	GB	0.45	0.34					F
May	GB	0.42	0,36					F

Algal community similarity was found to be significantly different both between habitat types (averaged across all months sampled) (ANOSIM, Global R = 0.698, P = 0.1%) and over time (averaged across all habitat types) (ANOSIM, Global R = 0.516, P = 0.1%), indicating differences in algal community structure both as a result of habitat type and time. Pairwise comparison found that algal community similarity was significantly different between Habitat groups (pooled across months, in all cases, P < 0.1%) and between all Month groups (pooled across habitats, in all cases, P < 0.1%).

An MDS plot of samples categorised by both month and habitat (Figure 2.3) showed clear clustering of samples by habitat type, however the plot has a high stress value (0.24) and therefore is not completely reliable. Overall, samples taken from each habitat type clustered together with a small amount of overlap between clusters. Clustering of samples taken from each habitat type showed no clear monthly pattern, suggesting a high degree of variability in community structure between sampling locations throughout the sample period. However, this may be to be expected as the community develops and establishes.



Figure 2.3 – The results of MDS analysis based on a Bray-Curtis similarity matrix for data collected from all habitat types between July 2018 and October 2019. Month in which samples were collected is denoted by colour and habitat type is indicated by symbol where  $\blacktriangle$  = Artificial Pool (AP),  $\square$  = Granite Boulders (GB) and \* = Sandstone Boulders (SB).

SIMPER analysis was used to identify species responsible for producing the dissimilarity observed between habitat types. Although the barnacle species was identified in a handful of samples in AP and SB habitats, coverage was to too sparse for the species to be highlighted by SIMPER analyses. Examination showed that each habitat type appeared to host a distinct community with only a handful of species in common (Table 2.7). For example, 3 of the 4 taxa in samples from AP were unique to this environment, with GB and SB also hosting 2 unique taxa each. Ulva linza and Ulva sp. were common across habitat types with Ulva linza being identified in samples from AP and SB, and Ulva sp. being identified in GB and SB. Interestingly, both AP and GB had more in common with SB (both having 1 taxa in common) than with each other (no taxa in common). There was a clear shift in algal community composition over time for all habitat types (Figure 2.4). Filamentous algae (Ulva intestinalis, Ulva linza and Ulva sp.) were abundant on all habitat types during the study period, but constituted a larger proportion of the community present on GB compared to AP and SB. Ulva sp. and Ulva linza were the predominant species in GB habitats however their relative mean abundance varyied over time. SB had a greater proportion of leathery macrophytes than any other habitats (Figure 2.4). SB had a consistently higher relative mean abundance of Fucus spiralis, Fucus sporlings and Fucus vesiculosus than other habitat types and was the only habitat in which Ascophyllum nodosum was recorded. Fucus spiralis was recorded in the later months of sampling for both AP and GB habitats but in a markedly lower relative mean abundance compared to SB. Pylaiella littoralis and Filamentous Brown algae were identified in samples taken from AP only.

Table 2.7 – SIMPER Table indicating average abundance of algal species contributing to similarity observed between samples from a) Artificial pools (AP), b) Granite boulders (GB) and c) Sandstone boulders (SB) (Av.Abund = mean abundance (raw % cover data), Av.Sim = Average Similarity, Sim/SD = Similarity SD, Contrib% = Contribution percentage, Cum.% = Cumulative percentage).

a) Artificial Pools (AP)		Average Similarity = 55.05 %				
Species	Av.Abund	Av.Sim	Sim/SD	Contrib%	Cum.%	
Ulva intestinalis	4.13	15.87	0.92	28.84	28.84	
Ulva linza	3.38	9.88	0.90	17.95	46.79	
Pylaiella littoralis	2.19	5.54	0.57	10.07	56.86	
Filamentous Browns	2.71	5.51	0.62	10.02	66.87	

#### b) Granite Boulders (GB)

#### Average Similarity = 48.09 %

Species	Av.Abund	Av.Sim	Sim/SD	Contrib%	Cum.%
Ulva sp.	3.66	22.34	0.92	46.46	46.46
Filamentous Greens	1.68	8.18	0.46	17.01	63.47
Porphyra linearis	1.57	7.90	0.76	16.42	79.90

#### c) Sandstone Boulders (SB)

Average Similarity = 46.74 %

Species	Av.Abund	Av.Sim	Sim/SD	Contrib%	Cum.%
Fucus spiralis	4.03	13.60	0.87	29.09	29.09
Fucus vesiculosus	3.78	8.68	0.66	18.57	47.67
Ulva linza	2.61	8.19	0.59	17.53	65.20
Ulva sp.	2.96	7.50	0.58	16.05	81.25



Figure 2.4 – Relative mean abundance (% cover) of algal species identified through SIMPER as being key contributors to the similarity observed between habitat types over time (Artificial pools = AP, Granite boulders = GB and Sandstone boulders = SB).

Further analyses of each habitat type independently, found that the S, N and H' of sessile species differed significantly over time. Overall, all habitats showed an increase in mean S and H' of sessile species (Figure 2.5) however there was considerable seasonal variation due to factors which were not examined.

Within AP habitats, there was a significant difference in mean S of sessile species in over time (Table 2.8a). Mean S in AP was significantly higher in August and September than in other months (Tukey P > 0.05), although mean S was not significantly different between August and September. Mean S in AP was lowest in July 2018, immediately after construction was completed, and highest in August, (Figure 2.5a). Mean N of sessile species in AP was also significantly different over time (Table 2.8a). Mean N was significantly higher in June and September (Tukey P < 0.05), and significantly lower in July 2018 and February compared to other months (Tukey P < 0.05), however neither June and September nor July 2018 and February were significantly different to each other (Tukey P > 0.05). There was considerable variation and no clear increase in mean N of sessile species in AP over time (Table 2.8a). Median H' of sessile species in AP over time (Table 2.8a). Median H' of sessile species in AP over time (Table 2.8a). Median H' of sessile species in AP over time (Figure 2.5b). There was also significant difference in median H' of sessile species in AP over time (Table 2.8a). Median H' of sessile species in AP over time (Table 2.8a). Median H' of sessile species in October was significantly higher and median H' in July 2018 was significantly lower than all other months (Tukey P < 0.05, in all cases). Although there was considerable variation, median H' of sessile species in AP showed an increase over time (Figure 2.5c). See Appendix 1 for the descriptive statistics.

Analyses also found there to be a significant difference in the mean S of sessile species in GB habitats over time (Table 2.8b). Mean S of sessile species was significantly higher in October and significantly lower in July 2018 compared to every other month (Tukey P < 0.05, in all cases). Generally, there was an overall increase in mean S in GB habitats over time (Figure 2.5a). There was also a significant difference in median N of sessile species in GB over time (Table 2.8b). Median N was found to be significantly lower in July 2018 compared to all other months surveyed (Tukey P < 0.05, in all cases), with the exception of September 2019 (Tukey P > 0.05). No other significant differences were recorded. Mean H' of sessile species in GB was a significantly different over time (Table 2.8b), with October having a significantly higher mean H' than other months (Tukey P < 0.05, in all cases). Mean H' was lowest in July 2018 compared to all other months (See Appendix 1 the descriptive statistics).

Additionally, a significant difference in median S of sessile species for SB over time was found (Table 2.8c). Pairwise differences could not be resolved and thus it could not be determined between which month's median S were most different, however there was an overall increase in median S of sessile species in SB habitats over time (Figure 2.5c). There was no significant

difference in mean N or mean H' of sessile species over time (see Appendix 1 for the descriptive statistics).

Table 2.8 – One-Way ANOVA and Kruskal-Wallis for S, N (% cover) and H' of sessile species over time (month) for a) Artificial pools (AP), b) Granite boulder (GB) and c) Sandstone boulder (SB) habitats. NS denotes Not Significant, \* denotes significant to 0.01, \*\* denotes significant to 0.001, \*\*\* denotes significant to <0.001.

a) Artificial Poo	ol (AP)								
		Richness (S)		Total Abund	ance (N)	SW Diversity (H')			
Source	DF	AN		AN		KW			
		F	Р	F	Р	Н	Р		
Month	7	47.31	***	12.37	***	93.84	*		
b) Granite Boulder (GB)									
		Richness (S)		Total Abundance (N)		SW Diversity (H')			
Source	DF	AN		KW		AN			
		F	Р	Н	Р	F	Р		
Month	7	15.01	***	32.15	*	7.77	***		
c) Sandstone B	Boulder (SB	)							
		Richnes	ss (S)	Total Abund	ance (N)	SW Divers	ity (H')		
Source	DF	KW	1	AN		AN			
		Н	Р	F	Р	F	Р		
Month	7	20.41	*	0.84	NS	1.41	NS		



Figure 2.5 – Variation over time in a) mean S, b) mean N and c) mean H' of sessile species from three habitat types examined; Artificial pools = AP, Granite boulders = GB and Sandstone boulders = SB.

Finally, comparison of S, N and H' of sessile communities between the start and end of the sampling period found that median S (Mann Whitney U-test, W = 285.0, df = 14, P < 0.05), median N (Mann Whitney U-test, W = 249.5, df = 14, P < 0.05) and median H' (Mann Whitney U-test, W = 285.0, df = 14, P < 0.05) of AP was significantly different. S, N and H' was higher at the end of the study compared to the start (Table 2.9). However median S, median N, or median H' of GB was not significantly higher at the end of the study compared to the start (Mann Whitney U-test, P > 0.05, in all cases). The same was true for SB, as median S, median N, or median H' at the start and end of the study were not found to be significantly different (Mann Whitney U-test, P > 0.05, in all cases).

Table 2.9 - Median and range data for S, N and H' of sessile species at a) the start of the study and b) the end of the study for all habitats examined (Artificial pools = AP, Granite boulders = GB and Sandstone boulders = SB).

a) start of the sampling period										
Habitat		S		N		H'				
	Median	Range	Median	Range	Median	Range				
AP	3.00	3.00 - 5.00	74.00	42.00 - 93.00	0.80	0.62 – 1.47				
GB	2.50	1.00 - 5.00	72.50	25.00 - 177.00	0.62	0.00 - 1.15				
SB	3.00	2.00 - 7.00	114.00	64.00 - 193.00	0.71	0.39 – 1.34				

a) Start of the sampling period

b) End of the sampling per	'IOd	
----------------------------	------	--

	S		Ν		Η'		
Median	Range	Median	Range	Median	Range		
8.00	2.00 - 12.00	150.50	9.00 - 218.00	1.55	0.35 – 1.82		
3.00	1.00 - 4.00	59.50	4.00 - 152.00	0.91	0.00 - 1.17		
6.00	1.00 - 9.00	121.00	4.00 - 240.00	1.07	0.00 – 1.96		
	Median 8.00 3.00 6.00	Median Range   8.00 2.00 – 12.00   3.00 1.00 – 4.00   6.00 1.00 – 9.00	Median Range Median   8.00 2.00 – 12.00 150.50   3.00 1.00 – 4.00 59.50   6.00 1.00 – 9.00 121.00	S N   Median Range Median Range   8.00 2.00 – 12.00 150.50 9.00 – 218.00   3.00 1.00 – 4.00 59.50 4.00 – 152.00   6.00 1.00 – 9.00 121.00 4.00 – 240.00	S N   Median Range Median Range Median   8.00 2.00 – 12.00 150.50 9.00 – 218.00 1.55   3.00 1.00 – 4.00 59.50 4.00 – 152.00 0.91   6.00 1.00 – 9.00 121.00 4.00 – 240.00 1.07		

2.3.2 Variation in Mobile Communities in Different Habitat Types Over Time Examining how species richness (S), total abundance (N) and the Shannon-Wiener Diversity Index (H') of mobile species differed between habitat type and over time found that mean S, mean N and mean H' were low in in all habitats throughout the sampling period.

Mean S was marginally higher in AP than both GB and SB irrespective of month sampled (Table 2.10a), whereas GB had the lowest mean S of all habitats consistently throughout the study.

Mean N was also very low in all habitats over time (Table 2.10b). Mean N was slightly higher in AP than other habitats however mobile species were largely absent from GB and SB throughout the sampling period. There was some variability in mean N between sample stations for AP and SB, in some instances with as many as 14 and 21 mobile animals present, respectively. However, in many instances mobile animals were also absent (Table 2.10b). Overall, mean N of mobile species did not appear to increase noticeably in AP and SB habitats over time and there was little change in mean N in GB habitats as mobile species were sparse.

There was no overall increase in mean H' of mobile species in habitats over time (Table 2.10c). Again, mobile species were largely absent from GB samples, meaning the mean H' of mobile species on GB was zero, continuously throughout the study (Table 2.10c). The range of H' for AP and SB habitats showed that there was variability in H' between samples taken each month.

Table 2.10 – Median and range data for S, N (counts) and H' of mobile species over time for a) Artificial Pool (AP), b) Granite boulder (GB) and c) Sandstone boulder (SB) habitats. Where Kruskal-Wallis test was used the median and range have been reported.

a) Artificial Pools (AP)										
Time in Month	•	S			Ν			H'		
Time in Worth	Median	Range		Median	Range		Median	Range	_	
0 July 18	0.00	0.00 - 2.00		0.00	0.00 - 9.00		0.00	0.00 - 0.69	-	
6 February	0.00	0.00 - 2.00		0.00	0.00 - 6.00		0.00	0.00 - 0.45		
8 April	0.50	0.00 - 1.00		0.50	0.00 - 7.00		0.00	0.00 - 0.00		
9 May	1.00	0.00 - 4.00		1.00	0.00 - 14.00		0.00	0.00 - 1.33		
10 June	0.50	0.00 - 4.00		0.50	0.00 - 11.00		0.00	0.00 - 1.04		
11 July	1.50	0.00 - 4.00		7.00	0.00 - 11.00		0.29	0.00 - 1.31		
12 August	1.00	0.00 - 3.00		1.00	0.00 - 12.00		0.00	0.00 - 1.04		
13 September	1.00	0.00 - 4.00		1.00	0.00 - 14.00		0.00	0.00 - 1.32		
14 October	1.00	0.00 - 3.00		1.50	0.00 - 11.00		0.00	0.00 - 1.10		

#### b) Granite Boulders (GB)

Time in Months		S		N			Н'		
1111	ie in wonths	Median	Range	Median	Range		Median	Range	
0	July 18	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00		0.00	0.00 - 0.00	
6	February	0.00	0.00 - 2.00	0.00	0.00 - 2.00		0.00	0.00 - 0.69	
8	April	0.00	0.00 - 1.00	0.00	0.00 - 1.00		0.00	0.00 - 0.00	
9	May	0.00	0.00 - 1.00	0.00	0.00 - 2.00		0.00	0.00 - 0.00	
10	June	0.00	0.00 - 1.00	0.00	0.00 - 1.00		0.00	0.00 - 0.00	
11	July	0.00	0.00 - 1.00	0.00	0.00 - 1.00		0.00	0.00 - 0.00	
12	August	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00		0.00	0.00 - 0.00	
13	September	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00		0.00	0.00 - 0.00	
14	October	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00		0.00	0.00 - 0.00	

#### c) Sandstone Boulders (SB)

Tim	a in Mantha	S			Ν		Н'		
		Median	Range	Median	Range	Median	Range		
0	July 18	NA							
6	February	0.00	0.00 - 1.00	0.00	0.00 - 5.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00		
8	April	0.00	0.00 - 1.00	0.00	0.00 - 1.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00		
9	May	0.00	0.00 - 1.00	0.00	0.00 - 21.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00		
10	June	1.00	0.00 - 2.00	1.00	0.00 - 3.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.69		
11	July	1.00	0.00 - 3.00	1.00	0.00 - 10.00	0.00	0.00 - 1.10		
12	August	0.00	0.00 - 2.00	0.00	0.00 - 2.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.69		
13	September	0.00	0.00 - 1.00	0.00	0.00 - 5.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00		
14	October	1.00	0.00 - 2.00	1.00	0.00 - 9.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.69		

Within each habitat type, the median S, N and H' of mobile species was variable both spatially and temporally. Overall, there was no clear increase in median S, median N or median H' of mobile species in AP habitats over time.

Comparison of mobile species in AP over time found there was a significant difference in median S over time (Table 2.11a), however only median S in July 2019 was found to be significantly higher than July 2018 and April 2019 (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P < 0.05 in both cases). Pairwise comparisons found no further differences. Median N of mobile species in AP habitats was also found to be significantly different over time (Table 2.11a). Again, median N of mobile species was significantly higher in July 2019 compared to July 2018, and February and April 2019 (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P < 0.05 in all cases). Pairwise comparisons found no further was also a significant difference in median H' of mobile species over time (Table 2.11a), however median H' was only >0 in July which is likely what made this result significant. Pairwise comparisons found no further differences than those given above suggesting that, although the median S, N and H' of mobile species were statistically significant, the community did not change all that much during the sampling period (See Table 2.10a for median and range data).

In GB habitats mobile species were largely absent and so there were no significant differences in the median S, median N or median H' over time (Table 2.11b). Similarly, in SB habitats there were no significant differences in median S, median N or median H' of mobile species over time (Table 2.11c). Table 2.11 – One-Way ANOVA and Kruskal-Wallis for S, N (counts) and H' of mobile species over time (month) for a) Artificial pools (AP), b) Granite boulder (GB) and c) Sandstone boulder (SB) habitats. NS denotes Not Significant, \* denotes significant to 0.01, \*\* denotes significant to 0.001, \*\*\* denotes significant to <0.001.

a) Artificial Pool (AP)										
		Richness (S)		Total Abunda	ance (N)	SW Diversity (H')				
Source	DF	KW		KW		KW				
		F	Р	F	Р	Н	Р			
Month	7	17.75	*	21.61	*	17.72	*			
b) Granite Boulder (GB)										
		Richness (S)		Total Abundance (N)		SW Diversity (H')				
Source	DF	KW		KW		KW				
		Н	Р	Н	Р	Н	Р			
Month	7	6.35	NS	6.3	NS	8	NS			
c) Sandstone Bou	ulder (SB)									
-1		Diehusses	(c)							
		Richness	(S)	Total Abunda	ance (N)	SW Diversi	ty (H')			
Source	DF	KW		KW		KW				
		Н	Р	Н	Р	Н	Р			
Month	7	11.18	NS	9.18	NS	8.14	NS			

Population density of mobile species was low in all habitats throughout the study. Examination of grazing assemblages found differences in the diversity of animal communities between habitat types and over time. There was no significant difference in the median S, median N or median H' of grazing species (Kruskal Wallis, P > 0.05, in all cases) between habitats at the start of the sampling period. Mean density of all grazing taxa was low at the start of the sampling period (Figure 2.6). Of grazing taxa identified, *Patella vulgata* was present in all habitats and *Littorina littorea* was present in GB and AP. *Littorina saxatilis* was absent from all habitats and *Littorina obtusata* occurred in low densities in SB habitats only.

However, at the end of the sampling period, there was a significant difference in the median S (Kruskal Wallis, H (adjusted for ties) = 12.41, df = 2, P < 0.05), median N (Kruskal Wallis, H (adjusted for ties) = 12.04, df = 2, P < 0.05) and median H' (Kruskal Wallis, H (adjusted for ties) = 8.61, df = 2, P < 0.05) of grazing species between habitats. GB had a significantly lower median S and median N compared to both AP and SB (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P < 0.05, in all instances), however median S and median N of grazing species was not significantly different between AP and SB at the end of the sampling period (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P > 0.05). Pairwise comparison could not resolve the differences in median H' between habitats likely as a consequence of being data sparse.

The mean density of grazers in each habitat varied over time, with very few grazers recorded in all habitats (Figure 2.6). *Patella vulgata* occurred in all habitat types, being continuously present in SB habitats throughout the study and occurring in increasing densities in AP habitats over time (Figure 2.6). *Littorina littorea* was most common of all Littorinid species recorded. *Littorina littorea* and *Littorina saxatilis* were more abundant in AP habitats than in other habitats. *Littorina saxatilis* became more abundant in AP after the start of the sampling period but remained sparse in SB habitats (Figure 2.6). All species were scarce in GB habitats.



Figure 2.6 – Mean density (number of animals per 0.25m2) of grazing species *Patella vulgata, Littorina littorea, Littorina obtusata and Littorina saxatilis* for each habitat examined (Artificial pools = AP, Sandstone boulders = SB and Granite boulders = GB). Note: Grazer density data was not available for month 7.

In all habitat types median S, N and H' of mobile species was not significantly higher at the end of the study than at the start (Mann Whitney U-test, P > 0.05, in all cases – for medians see Table 2.12).

Table 2.12 – Median and range data for S, N and H' of mobile species at a) the start of the sampling period and b) the end of the study for all habitats examined (Artificial pools = AP, Granite boulders = GB and Sandstone boulders = SB).

a) Start of the study										
Habitat		S		Ν		H'				
	Median	Range	Median	Range	Median	Range				
AP	0.00	0.00 - 2.00	0.00	0.00 - 6.00	0.00	0.00 – 0.45				
GB	0.00	0.00 - 2.00	0.00	0.00 - 2.00	0.00	0.00 – 0.69				
SB	0.00	0.00 - 1.00	0.00	0.00 – 5.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00				

b) End of the study

Habitat		S		Ν		H'	
	Median	Range	Median	Range	Median	Range	
AP	1.00	0.00 - 3.00	1.50	0.00 - 11.00	0.00	0.00 - 1.10	
GB	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	
SB	1.00	0.00 - 2.00	1.00	0.00 - 9.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.69	

#### 2.4 Discussion

The findings of this study support previous assertions that increasing habitat heterogeneity and physical complexity on rock armour coastal defences is an effective means of enhancing biodiversity (Hall *et al.,* 2018). The main findings from the first part of this study show that diversity and composition of sessile and mobile communities differed between the three main habitat types on the enhanced coastal defence at Runswick Bay.

The results of this chapter confirm the hypothesis that species richness (S), total abundance (N), diversity (H') and community similarity of sessile communities was significantly different between habitats and over time. Richness, abundance, and diversity of sessile species were significantly higher in artificial pool (AP) and sandstone boulder (SB) habitats compared to granite boulder habitats (GB) (Table 2.3). This was especially evident in AP habitats. As discussed in Chapter 1 Section 1.4, coastal defences are typically low-diversity environments (Chapman and Bulleri, 2003) and although pools represent an uncommon feature on coastal defence structures (Firth et al., 2013a), numerous studies have found their incorporation to greatly increase biodiversity on artificial shores (Firth et al., 2014; Evans et al., 2016). Both naturally-occurring and artificially-created pools offer greater protection from desiccation than emergent rock (Browne and Chapman, 2014), which creates refuges for invertebrates (Bowman and Lewis, 1977) and may enable some mid-shore species to expand their vertical distribution into higher shore environments (Evans et al., 2016). The algal community in AP habitats was a relatively simple assemblage of predominantly filamentous and foliose algae (Figure 2.4). Small abundances of mid-shore species Ceramium sp. and Polysiphonia sp. were identified in AP habitats, however opportunistic species such as Ulva linza and Ulva sp. were predominant, which was to be expected as the area was still undergoing succession (Benedetti-Cecchi and Cinelli, 1996). SB habitats also had an abundance of filamentous algae (Table 2.7) but hosted a greater coverage of leathery macrophytes including Ascophyllum nodosum, Fucus vesiculosus and Fucus spiralis (Figure 2.4). Having hosted an assemblage of filamentous algae when incorporated into the rock armour, SB habitats were likely further along in the successional process than AP and GB habitats (Chapman, 2003b), and that the rate of succession in SB habitats was somewhat faster (Benedetti-Cecchi, and Cinelli, 1996). Macroalgal canopy on SB habitats likely redeveloped after boulder placement due to regrowth of Fucoids from holdfasts on boulders not damaged during construction (Keser, Vadas and Larson, 1981; Jenkins, Hawkins and Norton, 1999) which would account for the sustained cover of Ascophyllum nodosum, Fucus vesiculosus and Fucus spiralis throughout the study. The presence of *Fucus spiralis* in AP habitats in later months indicated that the sandstone boulders

appeared act as "seed" boulders however the amount of connectivity between habitats was not clear (Figure 2.4).

Within each habitat, species richness (S) and diversity (H') of sessile species had significantly increased over time, but only AP habitats had a significantly higher richness, abundance and diversity of sessile species at the end of the study (Table 2.9). Abundance of sessile species showed considerable variation over time, likely as a result of biotic factors such as seasonal variation and patterns of recruitment (Foster et al., 2003) which were not examined here. GB habitats were the most homogenous of the three habitats, and consistently recorded the lowest richness, abundance and diversity of sessile species of all habitat types examined. As discussed in Chapter 1 Section 1.4, lack of biodiversity in artificial marine environments can be attributed to lack of heterogeneity of available habitats (Bulleri and Chapman, 2004; Aguilera, 2018). Indeed, an absence of microhabitats, such as pits, crevices and channels, leaves invertebrates without refuge from predation or wave action (Fretter and Manly, 1977; Underwood and Chapman, 1998; Chapman, 2003a), and prevents algal colonisation beyond the establishment of a few desiccation-resistant pioneer species (Ulva sp., Porphyra sp.) (Moschella et al., 2005). This was true of GB habitats in this instance, given the dominance of ephemeral algae (Figure 2.4) and a paucity of fauna (Figure 2.6) throughout the study. Mobile species were rare in GB habitats and although more fauna were observed in AP and SB habitats, density of mobile species was low in all habitat types throughout the study (Table 2.10). It is well established that faunal abundance differs between naturally-occurring and artificial habitats (Forrest et al., 2013), and coastal defences which lack habitat heterogeneity and physical complexity are known to support lower densities of mobile species (Chapman, 2003a; Chapman & Blockley 2009). In natural habitats, greater densities of predator species may offer some resistance to colonisation by non-native species (Forrest et al., 2013), however an absence of predator species on coastal defences may provide opportunities for non-native species to colonise (Dumont et al., 2011; Firth et al., 2013a). The invasive Australasian barnacle Austrominius Modestus has become widespread on coastal defences throughout the UK in part due to an absence of predators (Bracewell et al., 2012), but also as result of preferential feeding habits by predator species. For example, the common dog whelk Nucella *lapillus*, has been documented to selectively feed on the native barnacle *Semibalanus* balanoides, over Austrominius Modestus (Barnett, 1979). However, given the short timescale of this study, it was likely that succession and establishment of new species was ongoing.

At the end of the study, richness and abundance of grazing limpets and gastropod snails was higher in AP and SB habitats compared to GB habitats (Table 2.12), likely due to greater protection from thermal and desiccation stress and better foraging (Jenkins and Hartnoll,

2001; Browne and Chapman, 2014). Filamentous algae in natural rock pools has been documented as a nursery for marine invertebrates (Preston and Moore, 1988) however distribution of invertebrates has been linked to the physical characteristics (depth, substratum incline) of the pool itself (Goss-Custard *et al.*, 1979; Kooistra *et al.*, 1989; Bussell and Lucas, 2007).

The richness, abundance and diversity of mobile species in each habitat type (Table 2.12) had not increased significantly at the end of the study. One explanation for the paucity of mobile species across habitats may be that colonisation of the structure is still ongoing. Abundance of invertebrates may be influenced by the mechanism through which species recruit. For example, invertebrates with limited mobility which utilise direct development, such as *Littorina saxatilis*, have limited dispersal capabilities (Reid, 1996; Gefaell, Varela and Rolán-Alvarez, 2020), which will impact upon the time it takes for animals to migrate into a new habitat and for a population to establish. In contrast, species which release planktonic larvae, such as *Patella vulgata*, may be more able to disperse into new habitats but recruitment will also be limited. For example, limited food availability will affect survival rates of newly settled invertebrates during the early phases of colonisation (Lewis and Bowman, 1975). In addition, a number of animals were likely removed from the area during construction (Moschella *et al.*, 2005) and given that the results presented here represent only one recruitment year, it was possible that not enough time was allowed for faunal communities to fully re-establish (Thompson, 1980).

This study finds that species richness (S), total abundance (N), diversity (H') and community similarity of sessile communities differed significantly different between habitats type and over time, and that within each habitat type, S, N, and H' of sessile communities was significantly different over time. This indicates that increasing habitat heterogeneity by creating more varied habitat types has considerable potential to increase richness and biodiversity within coastal defence environments. Although the patterns of change in the richness and diversity of communities, both between and within habitat types, varied considerably over time, the findings of this study show that increasing habitat heterogeneity by creating more varied habitat types has considerable potential to increase richness and biodiversity within coastal defence environments. The incorporation of artificial pool habitats and the placement of native sandstone boulders at the foot of the rock armouring proved to be an effective means of improving and maintaining biodiversity over time. This study reiterates the importance of water-retaining features in upper-shore artificial environments.

It was clear in this instance that species richness (S), total abundance (N), diversity (H') of sessile and mobile communities in each habitat was not significantly higher at the end of the study than at the start, however further monitoring of the site would be necessary to provide a longer-term assessment of how the community at the site changes. The under-abundance of mobile species meant that species richness (S), total abundance (N), diversity (H') and community similarity of mobile communities did not differ significantly different between habitats type and over time, nor was species richness (S), total abundance (N), diversity (H') within GB and SB habitats significantly different over time. Previous studies have found that most species will have settled into an engineered habitat within approximately two years of installation (Sempere-Valverde *et al.*, 2018), with colonisation of artificially-created rock pools typically occurring within 18 - 24 months (Evans *et al.*, 2016; Firth *et al.*, 2016a). Although still early in the colonisation process, the community that has developed here indicates that incorporating ecological enhancements into the design of rock armour defences, in particular the inclusion of artificial pool habitats, can positively impact how such a structure is colonised. Thus, creating a biologically valuable, multifunctional structure.

# Chapter 3 Colonisation in areas of increased small-scale physical complexity on an ecologically enhanced rock armour defence in Runswick Bay, North Yorkshire.

#### 3.1 Introduction

Microhabitats, such as grooves, channels, pits, holes, and crevices, create physical complexity on natural substrata and provide important refuges and nursey habitats (Bowman and Lewis, 1977). As discussed in Chapter 1 Section 1.5, habitat enhancements to increase biodiversity on coastal defences vary in style, size, and application however, it has been suggested that smallto medium- sized enhancements may be more likely to sustain increased biodiversity (Browne and Chapman, 2014). Cm-scale physical features provide additional space for species to settle into and increase the likelihood of survival for newly settled algal spores and invertebrate larvae by offering protection from grazing and predation (Mineur et al., 2012; Firth et al., 2013b). For example, small pits (12mm in diameter and 10mm depth) and medium pits (24mm in diameter and 10mm in depth) were created in a basalt wall by Martins et al., (2010) to test whether the presence of these pits enhanced stocks of the commercially important limpet, Patella candei. This investigation found that the physical complexity created by pits increased the abundance of limpets at tests sites and that a greater number of adults occupied the larger pits, whereas recruitment of juvenile limpets was higher in smaller pits. Other trials utilising cm-scale enhancements have also resulted in increases in greater richness of species and greater abundance of habitat-forming species. In a trial by Evans et al., (2016), eighteen drillcored pits were installed on a granite breakwater. These pits were designed to mimic small, unshaded rock pools similar to those on a nearby natural shore. Each measured 12 cm in diameter however pit depth was varied with "deep" pits being drilled to a depth of 12 cm and "shallow" pits being drilled to a depth of 5 cm. After allowing the drill-cored pits to colonise for 18 months, Evans et al., (2016) found that the pits supported a greater species richness compared to adjacent, unalter granite surfaces and that the richness of pit was similar to that of nearby natural pools. However, although species richness was equitable to that of nearby natural pools, community composition in drill-cored pits was different to that of natural pools.

Although in this trial, pit depth did not affect species richness, varying the type and dimensions of cm-scale enhancements has the potential to maximise the settlement and survival of species (Firth *et al.*, 2013b). Another trial by Hall *et al.*, (2018), deployed cm-scale grooves of varying widths on granite boulders at Boscombe in Dorset and Runswick Bay in North Yorkshire. Grooves were created in arrays of two thin grooves and one larger coarser groove, measuring approximately 1cm deep and 0.3cm wide, and 1 cm deep and 2 cm wide,

respectively. The intention here was to recreate naturally occurring groove and channel microhabitats on granite boulders to encourage the settlement of habitat forming species (such as *Semibalanus balanoides*), and facilitate colonisation and succession (Jenkins *et al.*, 1999; Thomsen *et al.*, 2016). The addition of grooves in this instance had a significant positive affect on the richness abundance of organisms in treated areas. After 12 months, Hall *et al.*, (2018) recorded an additional 5 taxa on grooves at Runswick Bay, and 15 taxa on grooves at Boscombe, and the addition of grooves at Runswick Bay significantly increased richness, abundance, and diversity of both floral and faunal species (Hall *et al.*, 2018). However, in both trials' cm-scale enhancements to increase physical complexity were only applied in a small number of select places. For example, Hall *et al.*, (2018) implemented arrays of grooves on only 7 boulders at Runswick Bay, whereas grooves were implemented on 24 boulders across two rock groynes at Boscombe. In comparison, Evans *et al.*, (2016) implemented 18 drill-cored rock pools.

Thus far, trials deploying cm-scale enhancements to increase physical complexity on artificial defences have been somewhat limited in scope as a result of having to retrofit enhancements to existing defences (Firth *et al.*, 2020). This has created some uncertainty among coastal planners, developers and stakeholders who perceive that existing examples of mostly small-scale applications will not perform as intended when deployed over a larger area (Evans *et al.*, 2019). Grooves inspired by those deployed by Hall *et al.*, (2018) were incorporated into the design of the Runswick Bay Coastal Protection Scheme rock armour (See Chapter 1 Section 1.6). The scheme represents a rare example of cm-scale enhancements being deployed copiously along the length of a rock armour defence (Latham *et al.*, 2020), and nearly every accessible boulder of the defence bears grooves (Pers. Obs.). As such the Runswick Bay Coastal Protection Scheme provides an ideal opportunity to monitor colonisation of the grooves designed to increase the small-scale physical complexity of the rock armour and unaltered granite rock, to determine if a more diverse floral and faunal community established over time, and to determine how community composition varied between habitat types over time. The hypotheses to be tested under this aim were;

- 1. Within treated and untreated substrates, S, N, H' and community similarity of sessile and mobile communities was significantly different over time.
- 2. S, N and H' of sessile and mobile communities from each treatment type was significantly higher at the end of the study than at the start.

## 3.2 Method

#### 3.2.1 Site Description

This investigation took place on the new ecologically enhanced rock armour defence at Runswick Bay, described previously in Chapter 1 Section 1.6 and Chapter 2 Section 2.2.1. Again, sample stations where an area of substrate treated with grooves (GS) and an area of untreated substrate without grooves (US) (N = 14) were selected (See Figure 2.1 in Chapter 2 Section 2.2.1).

Only stations located in the intertidal where both treatment types were present were selected for sampling (as illustrated in Figure 3.1). All stations were moderately exposed. Care was taken to ensure that treatments at each station were located at the same tidal height and that boulder orientation was consistent (Kim and DeWreede, 1996). All samples were taken from the upper shore, which was determined using the same biological indicators as described in Chapter 2 Section 2.2.1.



Figure 3.1 - The experimental design. 5 photo-quadrats were taken from both treatment types: treated substrates with grooves (GS) and untreated substrates without grooves (US) at each of the 14 sample stations.

### 3.2.1 Method

To monitor floral and faunal communities present on substrates treated with grooves (GS) and untreated substrates (US) a 5 x 5 cm quadrat was held flat against the rock. GS samples had two horizontal grooves within the bounds of the quadrat and US samples encompassed unmodified rock which was directly adjacent the GS quadrat. The use of a 5 x 5 cm quadrat was a suitable scale at which to monitor the colonisation and population dynamics of small invertebrates such as barnacles (Jenkins *et al.*, 2001; Jenkins *et al.*, 2008b). Photographs of five replicate GS and US quadrats were taken at each station using a digital camera (FUJIFILM Finepix Z80). From each photograph, the percentage cover of sessile species and counts of mobile species were recorded (Bulleri and Chapman, 2004; Chapman, 2006), as defined in Chapter 2 (Section 2.2.2). As in Chapter 2 Section 2.2.2, identification of species was facilitated using Bunker *et al.*, 2017 for algae and Cremona, Simms and Ward, 2001 for fauna.

#### 3.2.2 Statistical Analyses

To address the second aim of this chapter, the variation in sessile and mobile communities on substrates treated with grooves (GS) and untreated substrates (US) was analysed as detailed below to answer each hypothesis individually. As in Chapter 2 Section 2.2.2, percentage cover of sessile flora and faunal species and count per unit area (number of individuals per 50cm<sup>2</sup>) of mobile species was split and analysed separately. The DIVERSE routine in PRIMER was used to calculate S, N and H'. The Shannon-Wiener Diversity Index was used as it is representative of both the richness and the evenness of species in a sample (Spellerberg and Fedor, 2003).

The hypotheses that within treated and untreated substrates, S, N, H' and community similarity of sessile and mobile communities was significantly different over time, was tested using Kruskal-Wallis Test and subsequent Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum PostHOC Test as S, N and H' sessile and mobile species data for both treatment types did not conform to a normal distribution (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, P < 0.05) or have equal variances (Levene's test, P < 0.05). A descriptive comparison of S, N and H' of sessile and mobile species between treatments over time was also made.

To examine community similarity between treated and untreated substrates over time, a square root transformation was applied to raw sessile species data and a Bray-Curtis Similarity Matrix was generated. There were a high number of zero-samples recorded for both treatment types. This was mitigated by adding a dummy variable (value of 1) prior to generating the zero-adjusted Bray-Curtis similarity matrix (Clarke *et al.*, 2006a). A Two-Way Crossed ANOSIM with replicates was applied to the similarity matrix to test for significant differences in community similarity between both time (month sampled) and treatment type (GS and US) factors. An nMDS plot was generated from the similarity matrix to show the similarity between samples (Legendre and Gallagher, 2001). SIMPER analysis was used to identify species responsible for the dissimilarity in algal communities for each treatment type throughout the study. Relative abundance of these species was then plotted (Menge and Farrell, 1989). Diversity in animal communities between treatment types and over time was

analysed by examining the S, N and H' of grazing fauna between treatments at the start and end of the sampling period using Kruskal-Wallis Test and Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum PostHOC Test. Differences in the density and structure of grazing communities throughout the duration of the study was descriptively analysed by plotting mean density of grazing species on each treatment type for each month sampled.

The hypothesis that the S, N and H' of sessile and mobile communities from each treatment type was significantly higher at the end of the study than at the start, was completed using Mann Whitney U-test to directly compare the S, N and H' of sessile and mobile species between the first month of sampling (February 2019) and the final month of sampling (October 2019).

Analyses was completed in Minitab 17 Statistical Software (2010), R (R Core Team, 2019), and PRIMER-e V6 Multivariate Analysis for Ecology statistical software (Clarke and Warwick, 2001).

# 3.3 Results

The composition of sessile species was not different between substrates types and at the end of the sampling period, both GS and US shared a similar number of taxa of sessile taxa. Six algal taxa were identified in samples from both GS and US whereas a very small number of individual *Semibalanus balanoides* was present in samples from GS only (Table 3.1). Conversely, composition of mobile taxa differed between substrate types. Three species of gastropod snail and one species of predatory whelk were identified on GS whereas mobile taxa were absent from samples taken from US (Table 3.1).

Table 3.1 – Presence and absence of species after the 14-month sampling period on Substrate Treated with Grooves (GS) and Untreated Substrate without Grooves (US) at Runswick Bay (\* indicates presence at end of sampling period).

	Substrate Type					
-	Substrate Treated with Grooves (GS)	Untreated Substrate without Grooves (US)				
Sessile Species						
Filamentous Greens	*	*				
Ulva sp.	*	*				
Ulva linza	*	*				
Porphyra linearis	*	*				
Porphyra dioica	*	*				
Fucus spiralis	*	*				
Semibalanus balanoides	*					
Mobile Species						
Littorina littorea	*					
Littorina obtusata	*					
Littorina saxatalis	*					
Nucella lapillus	*					

### 3.3.1 Variation in Sessile Communities on Substrates Treated with Grooves and Untreated Substrates Over Time

Analyses found that within substrates treated with grooves (GS) and untreated substrates (US), mean S, N and H' of sessile species was significantly different over time, however overall, there was no clear increase in median S, median N or median H' of sessile species on either GS or US over time (See Appendix 2 for median and range data).

Analyses of sessile species on GS found that there was a significant difference in the median S of sessile species over time (Table 3.2a). Median S was significantly higher in May and June, and significantly lower in February compared to other months sampled (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P < 0.05, in all cases). In addition, the median S of GS in May was significantly higher than that of September 2019 (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P < 0.05, in all instances), (See Appendix 2 for median and range data). There was a significant difference in median N of sessile species on GS over time (Table 3.2a). Median N was significantly lower in February than in May, June, July, August and October (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P < 0.05, in all instances). Similarly, median N was significantly lower in April relative to June (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P < 0.05). There was also a significant difference in median H' of sessile species on GS over time (Table 3.2a). Unsurprisingly, median H' was significantly lower in February relative to May and June (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P < 0.05, in both cases) in addition to median H' in October being significantly lower than in May (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P < 0.05).

There was a significant difference in median S of sessile species on US over time (Table 3.2b). Median S of US was significantly higher in May compared to February, September and October (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P < 0.05, in all cases) although no other significant differences were observed (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P > 0.05, in all cases). Likewise, there was a significant difference in median N of sessile species (Table 3.2b) on US over time. Median N of sessile species on US was significantly lower in February compared to May, July and August (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P < 0.05, in all cases), but was not significantly different to other months sampled (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P > 0.05, in all cases). There was also a significant difference in median H' of sessile species on US over time (Table 3.2b), however, there was no clear overall increase in in median S, median N or median H' of sessile species on US over time (See Appendix 2 for median and range data). Median H' was significantly higher in May compared to February, October and September (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P < 0.05, in all cases). Median H' of sessile species was also significantly lower in September than in June and July (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P < 0.05, in both cases).

Table 3.2 – Kruskal-Wallis for S, N (% cover) and H' of sessile species over time (month) for a) Substrates treated with grooves (GS), b) Untreated substrates without grooves (US). NS denotes Not Significant, \* denotes significant to 0.01, \*\*\* denotes significant to 0.001, \*\*\* denotes significant to <0.001.

a) Substrates Treated with Grooves (GS)								
		Richness (S)		Total Abundance (N)		SW Diversity (H')		
Source	DF	KW		KW		KW		
		Н	Р	Н	Р	Н	Р	
Month	7	29.67	* * *	30.76	***	22.89	*	
b) Untreated Substrates without Grooves (US)								
		Richness (S)		Total Abundance (N)		SW Diversity (H')		
Source	DF	KW		KW		KW		
		Н	Р	Н	Р	Н	Р	
Month	7	29.22	* * *	27.15	* * *	37.28	* * *	

At the end of the study, median N of sessile species on GS was significantly higher than at the start (Mann Whitney U-test, W = 2438.0, df = 55, P < 0.05). However median S and median H' of sessile species on GS were not significantly higher than at the start (Mann Whitney U-test, P > 0.05, in both instances) (See Table 3.3 for median and range data).

On US, median S, median N and median H' of sessile species were not significantly higher the end of the study than at the start (Mann Whitney U-test, P > 0.05, in both instances) (See Table 3.3 for median and range data).

Table 3.3 – Median and range data for S, N and H' of sessile species at a) the start of the sampling and period b) the end of the sampling period for all treatment types examined (Substrates treated with grooves = GS and Untreated Substrates = US).

a) Start of the sampling period								
Treatment	Species Richness		Total /	Abundance	Diversity			
	Median	Range	Median	Range	Median	Range		
US	1.00	0.00 - 3.00	1.00	0.00 - 72.00	0.00	0.00 - 1.01		
GS	0.00	0.00 - 4.00	0.00	0.00 – 96.00	0.00	0.00 - 1.19		

#### b) End of the sampling period

Treatment	Species Richness		Total	Abundance	Diversity	
	Median	Range	Median	Range	Median	Range
US	1.00	0.00 - 3.00	6.00	0.00 - 137.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.71
GS	1.00	0.00 - 3.00	15.00	0.00 - 136.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.90

Algal community similarity was found to be significantly different over time (averaged across both treatment types) (ANOSIM, Global R = 0.075, P = 0.1%) but not between treatment types (averaged across all months sampled) (ANOSIM, Global R = 0.006, P > 5%), indicating time was a more important determinant of community composition and structure than treatment type. Algal community composition was significantly different in the first month of sampling, February, compared to every other month with the exception April (Pairwise Comparison P < 0.1%, in all cases). Community composition in both April and May was also significantly different to every other month sampled (in all cases, P < 0.1%). Additionally, sample months June, July, August, September and October were found to be significantly different to each other (in all cases, P < 5%), this was due to the relative abundances of species present as identified in SIMPER analyses below. However, no significant differences were found between July and June, August and September (in all cases, P > 5%).

When plotted, there was considerable overlapping of groups and no clear clustering of samples grouped by month (Figure 3.2). The stress value given (0.07) indicated that the plot was reliable. Plotting of samples did not show clustering by treatment type as ANOSIM did not identify a significant difference, (See Appendix 3 for the MDS plot).



Figure 3.2 – The results of MDS analysis based on a Bray-Curtis similarity matrix of data grouped by month sampled (averaged across both treatment types) at Runswick Bay.
Similar algal communities developed on both treatment types (Table 3.4), and overall relative mean abundance of algal species increased over time on both GS and US (Figure 3.3).

SIMPER analyses identified algal species which contributed to similarity observed between treatment types over the duration of the study. *Ulva sp.*, filamentous greens and *Porphyra linearis* were identified as contributing most to the similarity observed between samples from each treatment type; together accounting for 93.25% of the overall 55.05% similarity observed between samples taken from GS and 98.96% of the overall 48.09% similarity observed between samples taken from US respectively (Table 3.4). SIMPER analyses also found *Porphyra dioica* and *Ulva linza* to contribute to the similarity observed between treatment types in different months.

Table 3.4 – SIMPER Table indicating average abundance of sessile species contributing to similarity observed between samples from a) Substrates treated with grooves (GS), b) Untreated substrates (US) (Av.Abund = mean abundance (raw % cover data), Av.Sim = Average Similarity, Sim/SD = Similarity SD, Contrib% = Contribution percentage, Cum.% = Cumulative percentage).

a) Grooved Substrates (GS)	Average Similarity = 55.05 %				
Species	Av.Abund	Av.Sim	Sim/SD	Contrib%	Cum.%
Ulva sp.	3.11	16.45	0.72	61.62	61.62
Filamentous Greens	0.92	4.68	0.38	17.52	79.13
Porphyra linearis	1.11	3.77	0.38	14.12	93.25
b) Untreated Substrates (US)		Average Si	milarity = 4	8.09 %	
b) Untreated Substrates (US) Species	Av.Abund	Average Si Av.Sim	milarity = 4 Sim/SD	8.09 % Contrib%	Cum.%
b) Untreated Substrates (US) Species Ulva sp.	<b>Av.Abund</b> 2.83	Average Si Av.Sim 13.17	milarity = 4 Sim/SD 0.56	8.09 % Contrib% 63.08	<b>Cum.%</b> 63.08
b) Untreated Substrates (US) Species Ulva sp. Filamentous Greens	<b>Av.Abund</b> 2.83 0.90	Average Si Av.Sim 13.17 5.08	milarity = 4 Sim/SD 0.56 0.34	8.09 % Contrib% 63.08 24.33	<b>Cum.%</b> 63.08 87.41

*Ulva sp.* was the predominant alga on both GS and US throughout the study and occurred in similar relative abundances on both treatments. Filamentous green algae and *Porphyra linearis* were the next most abundant species recorded. Relative mean abundance of Filamentous green algae was similar for both treatment types in each month whereas the relative mean abundance of *Porphyra linearis* was higher on GS compared to US throughout the study (Figure 3.3). Both *Ulva linza* and *Porphyra dioica* were present in low relative abundances in samples from GS and US.



Figure 3.3 – Relative abundance (% cover) of algal species identified through SIMPER as being key contributors to the similarity observed between treatment types over time (Substrates treated with grooves = GS and Untreated Substrates = US).

# 3.3.2 Variation in Mobile Communities on Substrates Treated with Grooves and Untreated Substrates Over Time

As shown in Table 3.1, no mobile species were identified in samples from untreated substrates (US) at any point during the sampling period. Analyses found that within substrates treated with grooves (GS), median S, median N and median H' of mobile species was significantly different over time, however the distribution of mobile species on this treatment type was also sparse.

Analyses of mobile assemblages on GS found significant differences in the median S (Table 3.5) and median N (Table 3.5) of mobile species over time. Pairwise differences could not be resolved to identify which months were significantly different due to paucity of mobile species on GS treatments (See Appendix 4 for median and range data). There was no clear overall increase in median S, median N of mobile species on GS over time. Median H' of mobile species species on GS was not found to be significantly different over time (Kruskal Wallis, P > 0.05).

Table 3.5 – Kruskal-Wallis for S, N (count) and H' of mobile species over time (month) for Substrates treated with grooves (GS). Comparison of Untreated substrates without grooves (US) could not be completed due to absence of mobile species. NS denotes Not Significant, \* denotes significant to 0.01, \*\*\* denotes significant to <0.001. Comparison of

Substrates Treated with Grooves (GS)									
		Richness (S)		Total Abundance (N)		SW Diversity (H')			
Source	DF	KW	KW		KW		KW		
		Н	Р	Н	Р	Н	Р		
Month	7	21.49	*	21.52	*	11.48	NS		

Mobile species were incredibly sparse on both treatment types at the start and at the end of the sampling period (Table 3.6). At the end of the study, median S and median N of mobile species were not significantly higher on GS than at the start (Mann Whitney U-test, P > 0.05, in both instances). Median H' of mobile species on GS could not be compared as a result of data being sparse (See Table 3.6 for median and range).

As mobile species were absent from US. Analyses of median S, median N and median H' of mobile species over time and comparisons between the start and end of the study were not undertaken, nor could any comparison be made with GS (see Appendix 4 for median and range values).

Table 3.6 – Median and range data for S, N and H' of mobile species at a) the start and b) the end of the study for both treatment types (Substrates treated with grooves = GS and Untreated Substrates = US).

a) Start of the sampling period									
Treatment		S		Ν		H'			
Treatment	Median	Range	Median	Range	Median	Range			
US	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00			
GS	0.00	0.00 - 2.00	0.00	0.00 - 3.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.64			

#### b) End of the sampling period

		S		Ν		H'
Treatment	Mean	SD	Median	Range	Median	Range
US	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00
GS	0.00	0.00 - 1.00	0.00	0.00 - 1.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00

Statistical comparison of the density of grazing animals between substrate types could not be made as no grazers were identified in samples from US, and densities of grazing species identified on GS were very low. *Littorina littorea* was recorded on GS however mean density of this species decreased over time. *Littorina saxatilis* was present on GS in very low densities at the beginning of the study and *Littorina obtusata* occurred on GS in the first month of sampling only.

## 3.4 Discussion

Using engineered grooves as a means to increase small-scale (cm) physical complexity of the rock armour at Runswick Bay did not improve biodiversity as anticipated and the number of mobile species found throughout the study was very low. Although richness (S), abundance (N) and diversity (H') of sessile and mobile species was found to vary significantly within both substrates treated with grooves (GS) and on untreated substrates (US) over time, no clear increase over time was observed on either treatment type. Additionally, species richness (S), total abundance (N), diversity (H') of sessile and mobile communities in each habitat was not significantly higher at the end of the study than at the start.

A sparseness of mobile species on US treatments was anticipated for the same reasons regarding GB habitats, discussed in Chapter 2, Section 2.4. The under-abundance of fauna on GS treatments was attributed to engineered grooves not being wide enough to allow access to hard-shelled animals. As described in Chapter 1 Section 1.6, the grooves examined here were modelled on those trialled by Hall et al., (2018) the openings of which measured between 0.3 -2 cm wide and were designed to encourage settlement of the barnacle Semibalanus balanoides and limpet Patella vulgata. Where Hall et al., (2018) had created an array of two thin grooves and one wide groove, grooves deployed in this study were not widened and measured only 0.3cm wide. The trial by Hall et al., (2018) lasted for 12 months and is therefore comparable to the present study. Although the grooves deployed in this instance follow the design of the thinner grooves in Hall's trial, the use of thin grooves exclusively precluded the use of this microhabitat by marine invertebrates bigger than 3 mm in this instance. For example, common upper-shore intertidal grazers Patella vulgata and Littorina littorea are understood to have shell lengths of approximately 0.2 mm (Smith, 1935; Lewis and Bowman, 1975) and 0.3 mm (Thorson, 1946), respectively at metamorphosis. However, both species are capable of quickly growing their adult shells in the months following metamorphosis, increasing to 4 – 5 mm in size (Moore, 1937; Blackmore, 1969). Littorina littorea have been documented to grow to 5 mm after only 2 months and to 10 mm after 1 year (Moore, 1937; Williams, 1964), which may explain why this species became absent in GS treatments over time. In addition, it was possible that the use of thin grooves installed higher on the defence did not provide sufficient protection from harsh conditions in the upper shore artificial habitat. Grooves implemented by Hall et al., (2018) had a significantly higher count of Semibalanus balanoides after 12 months, whereas Semibalanus balanoides was rare on both GS and US treatment types despite recruitment having taken place in other locations at the study site (Pers. Obs.).

In the present study, both GS and US treatments had a sustained coverage of filamentous and ephemeral algae throughout the study period (Figure 3.3). Algal community composition was not significantly different between treatments but did differ significantly over time as treatments underwent colonisation and succession (Benedetti-Cecchi and Cinelli, 1996). Similar assemblages of hardy ephemeral species such as *Ulva sp.* and *Porphyra sp.* were present on both treatment types in similar relative abundances throughout the study (Figure 3.3). Sustained coverage coupled with an absence of grazers on both treatments, likely slowed the succession of species within the habitat. For example, grazers would feed on ephemeral algae thus clearing space for barnacle spat to settle, around which more complex algal communities would develop (Benedetti-Cecchi, 2000b). Without grazers filamentous and ephemeral algae acted as a barrier to barnacle settlement (Hargenrader, 2018), therefore it was no surprise that barnacle settlement rates were low on both treatment types while cover by ephemeral algae was so high. Barnacle settlement rates are known to vary according to environment and are driven by availability of free space (Noda et al., 1998; Hargenrader, 2018). Grazing species clear space for barnacles to settle by removing algae from substrates while foraging (Ansell, Gibson and Barnes, 2002) and while grazing animals were absent from GS treatments the algae continued to inhibit barnacle settlement. While Hall et al., (2018) did not directly compare the effectiveness of thin and wide grooves in their 2018 study they did show that using grooves of varying size can vastly improve invertebrate diversity.

Despite the results presented here showing that species richness (S), total abundance (N), diversity (H') and community similarity of sessile and mobile communities differed significantly over time within treated and untreated substrates, there was no significant increase in species richness (S), total abundance (N), diversity (H') of sessile and mobile communities on each treatment type at the end of the study than at the start. This study highlights the need for enhancements to be deployed correctly in order to deliver maximum ecological benefits. The small-scale (cm) physical complexity of the rock armour was increased by adding grooves; however, in this instance, these features provided only limited refuge for marine invertebrates. Further monitoring of the treatments over a longer time frame may find that the community changes as succession progresses. It is also possible that with time and prolonged environmental weathering, the edges of engineered grooves in this study may fracture and the rock may chip away (Coombes, 2014) causing the entrances to widen, and creating a more useful habitat for mobile organisms. However, the physical complexity aspect of this investigation raises questions about fine-scale physical complexity of granite substrates, which is examined in Chapter 4.

# Chapter 4 Does substrate rugosity affect diversity and community structure at one site in Scarborough North Bay, and at multiple locations over a regional scale?

### 4.1 Introduction

Material choice is an important aspect in ensuring the stability and longevity of coastal defences, in addition to being an important determinant of diversity in artifical intertidal environments (Mcglashan and Williams, 2003; Reeve et al., 2012). The fine-scale physical complexity (mm) of a substrate, including surface texture and roughness, is known to impact structure and diversity of invertebrate and algal communities (Minchinton and Scheibling, 1993; Hutchinson et al., 2006). The rugosity of a surface, defined as the degree of fine-scale (mm) unevenness or topographic complexity (Luckhurst and Luckhurst, 1978; Collins et al., 2013), can greatly influence patterns of distribution by impacting the settlement and survivorship of invertebrate larvae (such as newly settled barnacles) and algal spores (Wahl and Hoppe, 2002; Sueiro et al., 2011). Minute depressions, indentations and peaks on rugose substrates may provide small refuges for recently settled algal spores (Fletcher and Callow, 1992) and offer some protection from predation by grazers (Lubchenco, 1982). Substrate lithology and mineral composition is also thought to have some influence in structuring benthic and epilithic communities (Holmes, Sturgess, and Davies, 1997; Canessa et al., 2019). For example, lithological differences between rock types, including mineral composition, thermal capacity, porosity, colour (Yule and Walker, 1984; Raimondi, 1988; Herbert and Hawkins, 2006), can produce differences in the level of cover by barnacles, particularly in the genera Chthamalus and Balanus (Holmes, Sturgess, and Davies, 1997; Canessa et al., 2019). Shallow-water algal assemblages have also indicated a sensitivity towards substrate lithology (Bavestrello et al., 2018). However, the structuring effects of substrate mineralogy in intertidal benthic communities has been somewhat neglected in the literature and accounts of the importance of mineralogy on structuring communities conflict (Canessa et al., 2019).

Trials which have previously investigated fine-scale complexity as a means to ecologically enhance coastal defences have largely used concrete tiles (MacArthur *et al.*, 2018), (Chapter 1, Section 1.5). However, granites are also widely used in coastal defence building (Burden *et al.*, 2020; MacArthur *et al.*, 2020). Granite was one of five materials examined in a study by Sempere-Valverde *et al.*, in 2018, which examined colonisation of different substrates by algae. The surface rugosity of sandstone, limestone, granite, concrete, and slate was quantified by creating latex profiles of each surface, and colonisation of tiles by intertidal and subtidal biota was monitored. Sempere-Valverde *et al.*, (2018) found that granite and sandstone tiles,

which had a greater surface roughness than other substrates examined, supported a greater abundance and richness of filamentous algae suggesting that greater rugosity enhanced algal colonisation of the tiles. Similarly, a laboratory trial by Hutchinson et al., in 2006, examined marine biofilm accumulation on granite tiles with different grades of surface rugosity, and found that biofilm cover was higher on more rugose granite substrates as filamentous microalgae had naturally accumulated in and around depressions in the substrate surface. Hutchinson et al., (2006) also examined the effect of surface rugosity on grazing activity and found that rugosity strongly impacted grazing by limiting how effectively the radula of a grazing animal could remove algae. The structural differences in the radula of different species determined how successfully they could graze a particular substrate. For example, patellid limpets possess docoglossoan radula with few teeth per row (Padilla, 1985). Teeth are fixed to the radular ribbon and cannot be articulated (Fretter and Graham, 1962). In the trial by Hutchinson et al., (2006), the limpet Cellana toreuma which had a docoglossoan radula significantly reduced biofilm cover on smooth substrates but was less able to remove biofilm from rougher, more pitted substrates. In contrast, chitons possess a polyplacophoran radula, which is composed of a bilaterally symmetrical row of teeth with differing shapes (Brooker and Shaw, 2012). The arrangement of teeth is the same in each row of teeth along the length of the radula (Brooker and Shaw, 2012). In the Hutchinson et al., (2006) trial, the chiton Acanthopleura japonica removed more biofilm from pitted surfaces than Cellana toreuma due to its polyplacophoran radula being more able to access small pits and crevices where biofilm was trapped.

The surface texture of granite used in coastal defence works is often determined by the way the material was quarried (MacArthur *et al.,* 2020). Quarried boulders which have been cut to size mechanically typically have cleaner edges and smoother surfaces (Mancini *et al.,* 2001), whereas boulders extracted using explosives often have rougher surfaces where the rock has naturally fractured or possess features such as blast holes or lines (Yarahmadi *et al.,* 2019; MacArthur *et al.,* 2020). Both smooth machine-cut granite boulders and rough fractured granite boulders were present in rock armouring at North Bay in Scarborough, North Yorkshire. The present study examined the rugosity of substrate types (smooth granite, rough granite and sandstone) at North Bay in Scarborough, to determine whether diversity and structure of sessile and mobile communities differed between substrate types.

The first aim of this chapter was to determine whether there was a difference in the rugosity, species richness (S), total abundance (N), Shannon-Wiener diversity (H') and community similarity of sessile and mobile communities between the substrate types at North Bay (Rough

granite, Smooth granite and Sandstone). The specific hypotheses to be tested under this aim were;

- 1. Rugosity was significantly different between substrata at North Bay.
- 2. There was a significant correlation between overall rugosity and S, N and H' of sessile and grazing communities at each tidal height.
- 3. S, N, H' and community similarity of sessile and grazing communities was significantly different between substrate types at each tidal height.

The study also examined the rugosity of five granite boulder defences at locations in North and East Yorkshire in order to determine whether rugosity and community similarity differed between locations. Therefore, the second aim of this chapter was to determine whether there was a difference in the rugosity of granite substrates between five rock armour defences from locations across North and East Yorkshire, and whether rugosity affected community similarity between locations. The specific hypotheses to be tested under this aim were;

- 1. Rugosity was significantly different between five granite boulder defences in North and East Yorkshire.
- 2. Similarity of sessile and grazing communities was significantly different between the five granite boulder defences in North and East Yorkshire.

# 4.2 Method

### 4.2.1 Site Description

To address the first aim of this study, the rugosity of three substrate types at North Bay in Scarborough, North Yorkshire were examined. North Bay was the only location examined in this part of the investigation due to there being three distinct substrate types present.

### North Bay, Scarborough

North Bay is a bay to the north of the town of Scarborough with a 2 km long beach (TA 04530 89235). The granite rock armour site surveyed at this location was constructed at the southern end of North Bay in 2002 as part of a wider coastal defence scheme (Scarborough Borough Council, 2010). North Bay was chosen to examine rugosity on a local scale as the rock armouring at this location had granite boulders with visually distinct surface textures (Figure 4.1). An equal number of samples were taken from smooth granite boulders which had smooth machine-cut surfaces with very little surface texture (Figure 4.1a), and rough granite boulders with textured surfaces which had been cut using explosives (Scarborough Borough Council, 2010) (Figure 4.1b), in addition to natural sandstone boulders located adjacent on the mid shore. To control for the effect of shore height on community composition, mid and upper shore heights were compared independently (as illustrated in Figure 4.2. This location had clear mid and upper shore regions, which were determined using biological indicators (as described in Chapter 2, Section 2.2.2). The rock armouring is approximately 700 m in length and extends from the southern end of North Bay beach around Scarborough Castle Headland (Figure 4.5a), where the granite boulders are gradually replaced with larger concrete acropodes (Scarborough Borough Council, 2010).



Figure 4.1 – Granite boulders at North Bay; a) Smooth granite substrates with very little texture and b) Rough granite substrates with visibly more surface texture.



Rugosity as a driver of diversity on a Local Scale

Figure 4.2 – The experimental design where 10 boulders of each substrate type were selected at Mid shore height; Sandstone, Rough Granite and Smooth Granite and at Upper shore height; Rough Granite and Smooth Granite.

To determine whether rugosity differed between granite substrates from rock armour defences across North and East Yorkshire, and whether rugosity affected community similarity between sites, the second part of this study examined five granite rock armour defences from four locations in North and East Yorkshire; Scarborough North Bay, Scarborough South Bay (Holbeck), Withernsea and Runswick Bay. Locations were selected to be representative of granites used in coastal protection strategies in the region (Figure 4.3). In this investigation only granite boulders at each rock armour site were sampled and shore height was controlled for by only sampling from the upper shore area of each defence, as illustrated in Figure 4.4. For this investigation, boulders at all sites were randomly selected for sampling. All sites were surveyed between July and August 2019.



Figure 4.3 – A further four granite rock armour defences from three locations (additional to North Bay) along the East Riding of Yorkshire and North Yorkshire coastline were examined.



Figure 4.4 – The experimental design where 10 boulders from the upper shore of the rock armour defences at each location; Withernsea, Holbeck, North Bay and from 2 defences (Old and New) at Runswick Bay.

#### Withernsea

The popular tourist town of Withernsea is located on the Holderness coast in the East Riding of Yorkshire (TA 34436 27989), approximately 15 km north of the Spurn Peninsula and mouth of the Humber estuary. The area is widely renowned for its high rates of erosion and coastal retreat and defences have been in place at this site since 1875 (East Riding of Yorkshire Council, 2006; Pye and Blott, 2015). The rock armour site sampled at this location was located in front of the central promenade gates on the seafront (Figure 4.5a), and underwent extensive general repairs in 2017 (East Riding of Yorkshire Council, 2017). Samples were taken from the upper shore of this defence only.

#### Holbeck, Scarborough

The rock armour site at Holbeck in Scarborough (South Bay), North Yorkshire (TA 05003 87094) was constructed from Norwegian granite boulders following a large landslip in 1994 to stabilise the debris flow from the hillside (Scarborough Borough Council, 2010). The rock wall was located at the southern end of Scarborough South Bay beach and adjoins a rocky intertidal platform that extends around the base of the wall (Figure 4.5c). Samples were taken from the upper shore only, which was determined using biological indicators (as in Chapter 2, Section 2.2.2).

#### **Runswick Bay**

Two rock amour sites were sampled at this location (Figure 4.5d). See Chapter 2, Section 2.2.1 for a description of the Runswick Bay location. The first defence site examined at this location (Runswick Old) was located on the beach to the south of Runswick Bay village. It was constructed from Durham Granite in 2000 to reduce wave over topping and provide protection to the boat and car parking areas (Scarborough Borough Council, 2019). The second defence site (Runswick New) examined at this location was located on the rocky shore to the north of the village. This structure was constructed in 2018 from Norwegian granite (JBA Consulting, 2017a), see Chapter 1, Section 1.6 for full description of the new rock armouring. Samples from the Runswick New site were taken from boulders which had not been enhanced or modified. Samples were taken from the upper shore only of both defences.

a) Withernsea

b) North Bay



Figure 4.5 – Five Rock armour structures at four locations across North and East Yorkshire were sampled to examine rugosity over a regional scale for the second part of this study.

#### 4.2.2 Method

To investigate rugosity as a driver of diversity on a local scale at North Bay only, samples were taken from each substrate type (Rough granite, Smooth granite and Sandstone) at each shore height (N=10). GPS coordinates of each station were logged using a Garmin eTrex10 Handheld GPS. Rough granite and smooth granite substrates at mid and upper shore height were sampled, however sandstone substrates were present on the mid shore only.

To investigate rugosity across a regional scale, samples were taken from the upper shores (N=10) of granite boulder defences at Holbeck, Runswick Old, Runswick New and Withernsea. A subset was created from 10 samples pooled from upper shore boulders at North Bay (5 rough and 5 smooth), (Evans *et al.*, 2016).

The following protocol was the same for both investigations. Shore height was determined using biological indicators (as in Chapter 2, Section 2.2.2), where *Fucus spiralis* was a marker of upper shore environments (White, 2008a) and *Fucus vesiculosus* indicated mid shore environments (White, 2008b). 50 x 50 cm gridded quadrats were used to take samples from the seaward-facing surfaces of randomly selected boulders, to ensure consistency between samples (Kim and DeWreede, 1996). An estimate of the percentage cover of algal and sessile animal species, and a count of mobile species was collected from each quadrat (Bulleri and Chapman, 2004; Chapman, 2006). Identification of species was facilitated using Bunker *et al.*, 2017 for algae and Cremona, Simms and Ward, 2001 for fauna.

The fine-scale physical complexity of each substrate was quantified by generating a rugosity index value for each sample. The rugosity index provided a numerical measurement of the topographic complexity of each substrate (Kovalenko *et al.*, 2012; Aguilera *et al.*, 2014). In order to quantify the rugosity of the substrate for each sample taken, a chain-and-tape method was used (Beck, 1998) as this approach has proved an effective way of measuring complexity in intertidal environments previously (Beck, 2000; Aguilera *et al.*, 2016). A 1 m length of stainless steel 1.5 mm fine-link chain was draped across a known linear distance (50 cm as marked out by the quadrat). The chain was draped in a straight line across the contours of the substrate surface. The chain was pressed into any peaks or depressions and not deployed over encrusted biota. The length of chain was measured, and the rugosity index value of the substrate for each sample was calculated using the following equation (Friedman *et al.*, 2012):

#### 4.2.3 Statistical Analyses

To analyse substrate types (Rough granite, Smooth granite and Sandstone) at North Bay, percentage cover data of sessile species and count per unit area (number of individuals per 50cm<sup>2</sup>) of grazing species was split and analysed separately. Only grazing species were examined as only grazing invertebrates *Patella vulgata*, *Littorina littorea*, *Littorina obtusata* and *Littorina saxatilis* were present across samples. To control for the effect of shore height, comparisons between substrate types will be made for mid and upper shores separately. The DIVERSE routine in PRIMER was used to calculate S, N and H'. The Shannon-Wiener Diversity Index was used as it is representative of both the richness and the evenness of species in a sample (Spellerberg and Fedor, 2003).

To answer the first hypothesis that rugosity was significantly different between substratum types at North Bay, rugosity data collected from substrate types was tested for conformation to a normal distribution and homogeneity of variances using Kolmogorov-Smirnov test and Levene's test, respectively (Dytham, 2011). Rugosity data was found to be normally distributed (P > 0.05) and have equal variances (P > 0.05) meaning that One-Way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) and Tukey PostHOC tests were appropriate to compare rugosity between substrate types (Dytham, 2011). To test whether there was a significant correlation between overall rugosity and S, N and H' of sessile and grazing S, N and H' data from mid and upper shores was analysed separately to account for natural zonation and distribution of species between shores (Sadchatheeswaran *et al.*, 2018). Data did not conform to a normal distribution (P < 0.05) and was therefore ranked. The relationship between overall rugosity and S, N and H' of sessile and grazing species for each tidal height was analysed using a Spearman's Rank-Order Correlation (Dytham, 2011).

The third hypothesis that S, N and H' of sessile and grazing communities was significantly different between substrate types at each tidal height, was tested using One-Way ANOVA to compare mid shore substrates (Rough granite, Smooth granite and Sandstone) and Mann-Whitney U-test to compare upper shore substrates (Rough granite and Smooth granite). N and H' sessile species data was found to be non-normal (P < 0.05) but have equal variances (P < 0.05). S, N and H' grazing species data were all found to be non-normal (P < 0.05). One-Way ANOVA was applied to S, N and H' sessile and grazing species data to identify significant differences between substrate types at mid shore height (Rough granite, Smooth granite and Sandstone), ANOVA models were validated using the procedure described in Chapter 2, Section 2.2.3. The significance level alpha was set to 0.01 (Kim, 2017). Where One-Way ANOVAs were significant,

a Tukey PostHOC test was applied. Where One-Way ANOVAs could not be validated, Kruskal-Wallis and Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum PostHOC Tests, the non-parametric equivalent, were applied instead (Dytham, 2011). Mann Whitney-U tests were used to compare differences in S, N and H' sessile and grazing species data between substrate types at upper shore height (Rough granite and Smooth granite), (Dytham, 2011).

To examine community similarity between substrate types overall a Bray-Curtis Similarity Matrix was generated from raw percentage cover sessile species data which had been squareroot transformed to down-weight the influence of very abundant species (Clarke *et al.*, 2006b). An MDS plot was produced from the similarity matrix to visualise similarity between samples (Legendre and Gallagher, 2001). A One-Way ANOSIM was used to identify significant differences in community similarity overall between substrate types, followed by SIMPER analyses to identify differences in community similarity between substrate types and across tidal heights. Differences in diversity of animal communities were identified by plotting and comparing density of grazing species between substrate types.

For the second part of this investigation, determining whether rugosity of granite substrates differed between the five sites; Holbeck, North Bay, Runswick Old, Runswick New and Withernsea, and whether rugosity affected community similarity between sites, the following analyses was completed. To answer the hypothesis that rugosity was significantly different between the five sites across North and East Yorkshire, One-Way ANOVA and Tukey PostHOC tests were used as rugosity data was both normally distributed (P > 0.05) with equal variances (P > 0.05). To test whether community similarity was significantly different between the five sites, raw percentage cover sessile species data was square-root transformed to down-weight very abundant species (Clarke et al., 2006b). Transformed data was used to generate a Bray-Curtis Similarity Matrix and MDS plot. A One-Way ANOSIM was applied to the similarity matrix to identify significant differences in community similarity between sites. SIMPER analysis was then used to identify which sessile species were responsible for the differences observed. Diversity in animal communities was analysed by examining the S, N and H' of grazing fauna between sites. S, N and H' grazing species data were all found to be non-normal (P > 0.05). S data was found to have equal variances (P > 0.05) and was tested using One-Way ANOVA and Tukey PostHOC tests subject to model validation. N and H' data did not possess equal variances (P < 0.05) and so were tested using Kruskal-Wallis and Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum PostHOC tests (Dytham, 2011). Density of grazing species between was plotted and compared.

# 4.3 Results

For the first investigation in this chapter, which focussed soley on substrates with different rugosities at North Bay, a higher number of sessile taxa were identified on sandstone substrates than on all granite substrates (Table 4.1). Algal species were present on only one of the granite substrates examined (rough granite at upper shore height). *Semibalanus balanoides* was identified in samples from smooth granite from both mid and upper shore, on rough granite from the mid shore and on sandstone substrates but was absent from rough upper shore granite substrates. *Patella vulgata* were present on all substrate types (Table 4.1). Sandstone substrates had the highest count of mobile taxa (4), followed by rough upper shore granite substrates (3). Both rough and smooth mid shore granite substrates shared 2 taxa and only *Patella vulgata* was identified on smooth upper shore granites.

	Substrate Type						
	Sandstone	andstone Rough Granit		e Smooth Granite			
	(Mid only)	Mid	Upper	Mid	Upper		
Sessile Species							
Ulva linza	*		*				
Ulva lactuca	*						
Filamentous Greens			*				
Porphyra sp.	*		*				
Fucus vesiculosus	*						
Ceramium sp.	*						
Osmundea pinnatifida	*						
Pink Crusts	*						
Rhodochorton purpureum	*						
Verrucaria maura	*						
Rhodothamniella floridula	*						
Lomentaria articulata	*						
Semibalanus balanoides	*	*		*	*		
Mobile Species							
Patella vulgata	*	*	*	*	*		
Littorina littorea	*						
Littorina obtusata	*						
Littorina saxatalis			*				

Table 4.1 – Presence and absence table of species identified in samples (N= 10) from each substrate type across mid and upper shore height at North Bay only (\* indicates presence).

For the second investigation in this chapter, comparing granite boulder rugosity and community composition between five rock armour defences across North and East Yorkshire, the highest number of sessile taxa were identified at the Runswick Old and Withernsea defences (6 taxa each), (Table 4.2). The North Bay defence, as examined in this investigation, had the same number of sessile taxa as the Holbeck defence (4 taxa each). The North Bay defence had the highest number of mobile species of all defences examined (4 taxa). Runswick New had the lowest number of both sessile and mobile taxa (Table 4.2).

	Site						
Sessile Species	Holbeck	North Bay	Runswick New	Runswick Old	Withernsea		
Ulva sp.	*		*		*		
Ulva linza		*		*			
Filamentous Greens	*	*	*				
Porphyra sp.		*	*		*		
Fucus spiralis	*				*		
Fucus vesiculosus				*			
Aoudinella sp.				*			
Mastocarpus stellatus				*			
Rhodochorton purpureum				*			
Semibalanus balanoides	*	*		*	*		
Austrominius modestus					*		
Mytilus edulis					*		
Mobile Species							
Patella vulgata	*	*		*	*		
Littorina littorea			*		*		
Littorina obtusata	*						
Littorina saxatalis		*		*			

Table 4.2 – Presence and absence table of species identified in samples (N= 10) from five rock armour defences across North and East Yorkshire. (\* indicates presence).

# 4.3.1 Variation in Sessile Communities Between Substrate Types at North Bay, North Yorkshire.

There was a significant difference in mean rugosity between substrate types at North Bay (ANOVA, F <sub>2,47</sub> = 43.05, P < 0.01). Mean rugosity was significantly greater on sandstone substrates compared to both rough and smooth granite substrates (Tukey P < 0.05, in both cases). Mean rugosity of rough granite substrates was significantly greater than that of smooth granite substrates (Tukey P < 0.05) (Table 4.3). There was no significant difference in mean rugosity within substrate types between shore heights (Tukey P > 0.05) (Table 4.3).

At mid shore height, overall rugosity showed a significant positive correlation with S (Spearman rank Correlation Coefficient, r = 0.656, df = 28, P < 0.001), N (Spearman rank Correlation Coefficient, r = 0.7.13, df = 28, P < 0.001) and H' (Spearman rank Correlation Coefficient, r = 0.627, df = 28, P < 0.001) of sessile species. However, at upper shore height, overall rugosity showed a non-significant correlation with S, N or H' of sessile species (Spearman rank Correlation Coefficient, P > 0.05, in all cases).

Mean Rugosity	Mid S	hore	Upper	Shore
Substrate	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Sandstone	1.12	0.04		
Rough Granite	1.08	0.02	1.07	0.02
Smooth Granite	1.04	0.02	1.03	0.02

Table 4.3 – Mean rugosity values for substrate types examined at North Bay.

At mid shore height, there were significant differences in median S (Table 4.4), median N (Table 4.4) and mean H' (Table 4.4) of sessile species between substrate types. Median S was significantly higher on sandstone substrates than on rough and smooth granite substrates (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P < 0.05), as was mean H' (Tukey > 0.05). Median N was also significantly higher on both sandstone and rough granite substrates than smooth granite substrates (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P < 0.05), but sandstone and rough granite substrates than smooth granite substrates (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P < 0.05), but sandstone and rough granite substrates than smooth granite substrates were not significantly different to each other (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P > 0.05). See Table 4.5 for descriptive data.

At upper shore height, no significant difference in median S or median N of sessile species between substrate types was found (Mann Whitney U-test, P > 0.05, in both cases). Median H' could not be compared between substrate types due to a high number of zero-samples and single species assemblages recorded on smooth granite substrates (Table 4.5). Table 4.4 – One-Way ANOVA and Kruskal-Wallis for S, N (% cover) and H' of sessile species for Mid shore Substrates examined at North Bay. NS denotes Not Significant, \* denotes significant to 0.01, \*\* denotes significant to 0.001, \*\*\* denotes significant to <0.001.

Mid Shore								
Richness (S) Total Abundance (N) SW Diversit							sity (H')	
Source	DF	KW	KW		KW		AN	
		Н	Р	Н	Р	F	Р	
Substrate	2	26.08	*	15.38	*	68.5	*	

Table 4.5 – Descriptive statistics of S, N (% cover) and H' of sessile species for substrate types examined at North Bay. Where One-Way ANOVA was applied, mean and standard deviation (SD) have been reported, where Kruskal-Wallis or Mann Whitney U-tests were used median and range have been reported.

a) Species Richness (S)					
<u></u>	Mi	d Shore	Upper Shore		
Substrate Type	Median	Range	Median	Range	
Sandstone	7.50	3.00 - 10.00			
Rough Granite	1.00	1.00 - 1.00	2.00	0.00 - 3.00	
Smooth Granite	1.00	0.00 - 1.00	1.00	0.00 - 1.00	

b) Total Abundance (N)					
<u> </u>	M	id Shore	Upper Shore		
Substrate Type	Median	Range	Median	Range	
Sandstone	71.50	58.00 - 118.00			
Rough Granite	55.00	15.00 - 91.00	1.75	0.00 - 100.00	
Smooth Granite	7.50	0.00 - 87.00	2.00	0.00 – 30.00	

#### c) Shannon-Wiener Diversity (H')

Substrate Type	Mid	Shore	Upper Shore		
	Mean	SD	Median	Range	
Sandstone	0.92	0.35			
Rough Granite	0.00	0.00	0.57	0.00 - 0.79	
Smooth Granite	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	

Sessile community similarity was found to be significantly different between substrate types overall (ANOSIM, Global R = 0.699, P = 0.1%). Pairwise comparison found algal community similarity to be significantly different between all substrate types (in all cases, P < 0.3%), with the exception of smooth mid and smooth upper shore granite substrates (P = 24.7 %). When plotted, samples from sandstone and rough upper shore granite substrates formed distinct clusters which did not overlap with those of other substrate types or each other (Figure 4). Remaining samples formed no distinct clusters. The stress value given (0.02) indicated that the plot was very reliable.



Figure 4.6 – The results of MDS analysis based on a Bray-Curtis similarity matrix for sessile species data collected from all substrate types (Rough Granite and Smooth Granite from the mid and upper shore and Sandstone) examined at North Bay.

SIMPER analysis was used to identify differences in sessile community similarity between substrate types and tidal heights. Firstly sandstone, rough and smooth granite substrate types present at mid shore height were compared (Table 4.6). The dissimilarity observed between sandstone substrates and smooth mid shore granite substrates was relatively low with *Semibalanus balanoides, Fucus vesiculosus, Verrucaria maura* and *Osmundea pinnatifida* accounting for 68.75 % of the overall 69.91 % dissimilarity observed (Table 4.6a).

The same four species also accounted for 61.11 % of the overall 47.57 % dissimilarity observed between sandstone substrates and rough mid shore granite substrates (Table 4.6b). Average abundances of all species recorded were higher on sandstone substrates, with the exception of *Semibalanus balanoides* which had a similar average abundance on rough granite and sandstone substrates.

Table 4.6 – SIMPER Table indicating the average abundance of species contributing to the dissimilarity observed between a) Sandstone substrates and smooth mid shore granite substrates and b) Sandstone substrates and rough mid shore granite substrates sampled at North Bay(Av.Abund = mean abundance (raw % cover data), Av.Diss = Average dissimilarity, Diss/SD = Dissimilarity SD, Contrib% = Contribution percentage, Cum.% = Cumulative percentage).

a) Sandstone & Smooth Mi	Average Dissimilarity = 69.91 %					
Species	Sandstone Av.Abund	ndstone Smooth Mid y.Abund Av.Abund		Diss/SD	Contrib%	Cum.%
Semibalanus balanoides	7.12	3.41	21.99	2.10	31.46	31.46
Fucus vesiculosus	2.63	0.00	11.70	1.19	16.73	48.19
Verrucaria maura	1.45	0.00	7.32	1.58	10.47	58.66
Osmundea pinnatifida	1.46	0.00	7.05	1.87	10.09	68.75

b) Sandstone & Rough Mid	Average Dissimilarity = 47.57 %					
Species	Sandstone Av.Abund	Rough Mid Av.Abund	Av.Diss	Diss/SD	Contrib%	Cum.%
Fucus vesiculosus	2.63	0.00	10.02	1.17	21.06	21.06
Semibalanus balanoides	7.12	7.05	6.95	1.21	14.62	35.68
Verrucaria maura	1.45	0.00	9.13	1.65	12.89	48.57
Osmundea pinnatifida	1.46	0.00	5.97	1.89	12.54	61.11
Ulva linza	1.31	0.00	5.58	3.30	11.74	72.85

Secondly, rough and smooth granite substrate types from the mid shore were compared (Table 4.7a), as were rough and smooth granite substrate types from the upper shore (Table 4.7b). SIMPER comparisons of rough and smooth granite substrates from the mid shore found that of the overall 41.54 % dissimilarity observed between rough and smooth granite substrates, 100.00 % was accounted for by *Semibalanus balanoides* only. Average abundance of *Semibalanus balanoides* was markedly higher on rough granites compared to the smooth granites at mid shore height (Table 4.7a).

Semibalanus balanoides also accounted for 35.14 % of the overall 92.20 % dissimilarity observed between rough and smooth granite substrates at upper shore height. *Semibalanus balanoides* was recorded on smooth upper shore substrates only (Table 4.7b). A further 64.86 % of the dissimilarity observed was accounted for by higher average abundances of filamentous green algae, *Porphyra sp.* and *Ulva linza* on rough upper shore substrates (Table 4.7b).

Table 4.7 – SIMPER Table indicating the average abundance of species contributing to the dissimilarity observed between a) Rough and smooth mid shore granite substrates and b) Rough and smooth upper granite substrates sampled at North Bay (Av.Abund = mean abundance (raw % cover data), Av.Diss = Average dissimilarity, Diss/SD = Dissimilarity SD, Contrib% = Contribution percentage, Cum.% = Cumulative percentage).

a) Mid Shore: Smooth & Rough Average			Dissimilarity = 41.54 %				
Species	Smooth Av.Abund	Rough Av.Abund	Av.Diss	Diss/SD	Contrib%	Cum.%	
Semibalanus balanoides	3.41	7.05	41.54	1.92	100.00	100.00	
b) Upper Shore: Smooth &	Rough	Average Dissi	imilarity = 9	2.20 %			
Species	Smooth Av.Abund	Rough Av.Abund	Av.Diss	Diss/SD	Contrib%	Cum.%	
Semibalanus balanoides	2.07	0.00	35.14	1.69	35.14	35.14	
Filamentous Greens	0.00	1.85	28.77	2.55	28.77	63.91	
Porphyra sp.	0.00	2.59	25.82	1.55	25.82	89.73	
Ulva linza	0.00	1.08	10.27	0.82	10.27	100.00	

An additional comparison of rough and smooth granite substrates across tidal heights found that *Semibalanus balanoides* accounted for much of the dissimilarity observed. *Semibalanus balanoides* was a key species in the comparison of rough granite substrates from the mid and upper shore, contributing 63.42 % of the overall 100.00 % dissimilarity observed (Table 4.8a). An additional 30.30 % of the dissimilarity recorded was accounted for by higher average abundances of *Porphyra sp.* and filamentous green algae on rough upper shore granite substrates than rough mid shore granite substrates (Table 4.8a). Community similarity between smooth granite substrates from the mid and upper shore was not found to be significantly different by ANOSIM (Table 4.8b).

Table 4.8 – SIMPER Table indicating the average abundance of species contributing to the dissimilarity observed between a) Rough mid shore and smooth upper shore boulders and b) smooth mid shore and rough upper shore boulders sampled at North Bay, Scarborough (Av.Abund = mean abundance (raw % cover data), Av.Diss = Average dissimilarity, Diss/SD = Dissimilarity SD, Contrib% = Contribution percentage, Cum.% = Cumulative percentage).

a) Rough Granite: Mid &	Rough Granite: Mid & Upper		Average Dissimilarity = 100.00 %					
Species	Rough Mid Av.Abund	Rough Upper Av.Abund	Av.Diss	Diss/SD	Contrib %	Cum. %		
Semibalanus balanoides	7.05	0.00	63.42	3.06	63.42	63.42		
Porphyra sp.	0.00	2.59	15.62	1.16	15.62	79.04		
Filamentous Greens	0.00	1.85	14.68	2.29	14.68	93.73		

b) Smooth Granite: Mid 8	& Upper	Average Dissimi		%		
Species	Smooth Mid Av.Abund	Smooth Upper Av.Abund	Av.Diss	Diss/SD	Contrib %	Cum. %
Semibalanus balanoides	3.41	2.07	37.46	1.60	100.00	100.00

# 4.3.2 Variation in Grazing Communities Between Different Substrate Types at North Bay, North Yorkshire.

At mid shore height, overall rugosity showed a significant positive correlation with S (Spearman rank Correlation Coefficient, r = 0.67, df = 28, P < 0.001), N (Spearman rank Correlation Coefficient, r = 0.806, df = 28, P < 0.001) and H' (Spearman rank Correlation Coefficient, r = 0.477, df = 28, P < 0.001) of grazing species. In addition, at upper shore height there was a significant positive correlation between overall rugosity and S (Spearman rank Correlation Coefficient, r = 0.632, df = 18, P < 0.05) and N (Spearman rank Correlation Coefficient, r = 0.650, df = 18, P < 0.05) of grazing species. However, there was no significant correlation between overall rugosity and H' of grazing species (Spearman rank Correlation Coefficient, P > 0.05).

Examination of grazing assemblages at mid shore height found significant differences in mean S (Table 4.9), mean N (Table 4.9), and median H' (Table 4.9) between substrate types (Table 4.10). Both mean S and median H' of grazing species was significantly higher on sandstone substrates than on either rough or smooth granite substrate types (Tukey < 0.05, Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P < 0.05). Mean N was significantly different between all substrates. Sandstone substrate types, and smooth granite substrates had a significantly higher mean N than both rough and smooth granite substrate types, and smooth granite substrates had a significantly lower mean N than both rough granite and sandstone substrate types (Tukey < 0.05, in all instances), (See Table 4.10 for descriptive data).

At upper shore height, there was a significant difference in median S (Mann Whitney U-test, W = 74.0, df = 10, P < 0.05) and median N (Mann Whitney U-test, W = 74.5, df = 10, P < 0.05) between substrate types. Both median S and median N were significantly higher on rough granite substrates. Median H' could not be compared due to smooth granite substrates having a high number of zero-samples and single species assemblages (see Table 4.10 for median and range values).

Mid Shore							
		Richne	ss (S)	Total Abun	dance (N)	SW Diver	sity (H')
Source	DF	AN	I	AN	J	KW	/
		F	Р	F	Р	Н	Р
Substrate	2	19.93	*	57.65	*	20.44	*

Table 4.9 – One-Way ANOVA and Kruskal-Wallis for S, N (counts) and H' of mobile species for Mid shore Substrates examined at North Bay. NS denotes Not Significant, \* denotes significant to 0.01, \*\*\* denotes significant to <0.001.

Table 4.10 – Descriptive statistics of S, N (count) and H' of grazing species for substrate types examined at North Bay. Where One-Way ANOVA was applied, mean and standard deviation (SD) have been reported. Where Kruskal-Wallis or Mann Whitney U-tests were used median and range have been reported.

Cubatnata Tura	Mid Sl	hore	Upper Shore			
Substrate Type	Mean	SD	Median	Range		
Sandstone	2.00	0.67				
Rough	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.00 - 2.00		
Smooth	0.80	0.42	0.00	0.00 - 1.00		
b) Total Abundance (N)						
Substrata Tuna	Mid Sl	Mid Shore		hore		
Substrate Type	Mean	SD	Median	Range		
	64.10	13.58				
Sandstone			6.50	0.00 - 16.00		
Sandstone Rough	31.10	6.94				
Sandstone Rough Smooth	31.10 12.10	6.94 11.30	0.00	0.00 - 8.00		

Substrate Type	Mid Sh	ore	Upper Shore		
Substrate Type	Median	Range	Median	Range	
Sandstone	0.13	0.08 – 0.35			
Rough	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.34	0.00 - 0.64	
Smooth	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	

Mean density of grazing species also differed between substrates. *Patella vulgata* was the only species present on all substrate types across both tidal heights. On the mid shore, *Patella vulgata* occurred in higher densities on sandstone substrates than rough or smooth granite substrates (Figure 4.7). Mean density of *Patella vulgata* was also higher on rough granites than on smooth granites. This was also true on the upper shore, however densities of *Patella vulgata* in the upper shore region were much lower than in the mid shore (Figure 4.7). Mean density of *Littorina littorea* and *Littorina obtusata* was low across all substrate types and tidal heights. Both *Littorina saxatilis* was identified on rough granite substrates on the upper shore only (Figure 4.7).



Figure 4.7 – Mean density (number of animals per 0.25m<sup>2</sup>) of grazing species *Patella vulgata*, *Littorina littorea*, *Littorina obtusata* and *Littorina saxatilis* for each substrate type examined at North Bay.

## 4.3.3 Variation in Sessile Communities on Granite Substrates from Five Rock Armour Defences Across North and East Yorkshire

The rugosity of granite substrates from sites across North and East Yorkshire was compared. There was a significant difference in mean rugosity between the five sites (ANOVA,  $F_{4, 45} = 9.01$ , P < 0.01). Granite from the Runswick Old site had a significantly higher mean rugosity than all other sites examined (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P < 0.05 in all cases). No other significant differences were found (Table 4.11).

Site	Rugo	osity
Sile	Mean	SD
Runswick Old	1.14	0.08
Holbeck	1.07	0.04
Runswick New	1.06	0.02
North Bay	1.05	0.02
Withernsea	1.04	0.02

Table 4.11 – Mean rugosity of granite substrates from rock armour defences at five sites across North and East Yorkshire.

Sessile community similarity was found to be significantly different between sites (ANOSIM, Global R = 0.304, P = 0.1 %). Pairwise comparison found the sessile community at Withernsea and Runswick New were significantly different to all other sites (in all cases, P = 0.1 %). However, there were no significant difference in community similarity between Holbeck, North Bay and Runswick Old (P > 5 % in all cases). MDS showed clustering of samples by site however there was considerable overlap and the plot had a high stress value (0.17). Samples from Withernsea were clustered away from other sites with no overlap (Figure 4.8). Samples from Runswick New clustered near samples from Runswick Old, but away from the central cluster which contained overlapping samples from Runswick Old, North Bay and Holbeck (Figure 4.8).

SIMPER analyses concluded that Withernsea and Runswick New showed considerable dissimilarity to other sites, which was attributed to 3 taxa at Withernsea and 2 taxa at Runswick New, respectively (Table 4.12 and Table 4.13). *Austrominius modestus* and *Semibalanus balanoides* accounted for 67.98 %, of the overall 76.90% dissimilarity between samples from Withernsea and Runswick Old (Table 4.12a), for 74.48 % of the overall 77.20 % dissimilarity between Withernsea and Holbeck (Table 4.12b) and for 64.58 % of the overall 78.37 % dissimilarity between Withernsea and Runswick New

showed 78.77 % of the overall 98.35 % dissimilarity was attributed to higher average abundances of *Semibalanus balanoides* and filamentous green algae at Runswick New, and of *Austrominius modestus* at Withernsea (Table 4.12d). *Austrominius modestus* was only present at Withernsea and so contributed considerably to the dissimilarity observed in all comparisons. Average abundance of *Semibalanus balanoides* was lower at Withernsea than at all other sites, with the exception of Runswick New where this species was absent (Table 4.12).

In samples from Runswick New, filamentous green algae and *Semibalanus balanoides* contributed most notably to the dissimilarity between when compared to other sites (Table 4.13). Filamentous green algae and *Semibalanus balanoides* were found to contribute 73.06 % of the overall 100.00 % dissimilarity between samples from Runswick New and Runswick Old (Table 4.13a). These species contributed 82.18 % of the overall 92.32 % dissimilarity between Runswick New and North Bay (Table 4.13b), and to 70.14 % of the overall 93.73 % dissimilarity observed between Runswick New and Holbeck (Table 4.13c). *Semibalanus balanoides* occurred in higher average abundances at Runswick Old, North Bay and Holbeck whereas higher average abundances of filamentous green algae were present at Runswick New.



Figure 4.8 – The results of MDS analysis based on a Bray-Curtis similarity matrix for sessile species data collected from granite rock armour defences at five sites in North and East Yorkshire.

Table 4.12 – SIMPER Table indicating average abundance of sessile species contributing to the dissimilarity observed between a) Withernsea and Runswick Old, b) Withernsea and Holbeck, c) Withernsea and North Bay and d) Withernsea and Runswick New (Av.Abund = mean abundance (raw % cover data), Av.Diss = Average dissimilarity, Diss/SD = Dissimilarity SD, Contrib% = Contribution percentage, Cum.% = Cumulative percentage).

a) Withernsea & Runswick	Old	Average Dissimilarity = 76.90 %				
Species	Withernsea Av.Abund	Runswick Old Av.Abund	Av.Diss	Diss/SD	Contrib %	Cum. %
Austrominius modestus	5.85	0.00	36.01	2.80	46.83	46.83
Semibalanus balanoides	2.47	3.46	16.27	1.14	21.15	67.98
c) Withernsea & Holbeck		Average Dissimilarity = 77.20 %				
Species	Withernsea Av.Abund	Holbeck Av.Abund	Av.Diss	Diss/SD	Contrib %	Cum. %
<b>Species</b> Austrominius modestus	Withernsea Av.Abund 5.85	Holbeck Av.Abund 0.00	<b>Av.Diss</b> 31.06	Diss/SD 2.41	<b>Contrib</b> % 40.24	<b>Cum.</b> % 40.24
Species Austrominius modestus Semibalanus balanoides	Withernsea Av.Abund 5.85 2.47	Holbeck Av.Abund 0.00 4.57	<b>Av.Diss</b> 31.06 18.79	<b>Diss/SD</b> 2.41 1.24	<b>Contrib</b> % 40.24 24.34	Cum. % 40.24 64.58
Species Austrominius modestus Semibalanus balanoides Fucus spiralis	Withernsea Av.Abund 5.85 2.47 1.41	Holbeck Av.Abund 0.00 4.57 0.89	<b>Av.Diss</b> 31.06 18.79 8.59	Diss/SD 2.41 1.24 0.77	Contrib % 40.24 24.34 11.12	Cum. % 40.24 64.58 75.70

#### c) Withernsea & North Bay

Average Dissimilarity = 78.37 %

Species	Withernsea Av.Abund	North Bay Av.Abund	Av.Diss	Diss/SD	Contrib %	Cum. %
Austrominius modestus	5.85	0.00	38.50	2.97	49.12	49.12
Semibalanus balanoides	2.47	3.52	19.87	1.21	25.36	74.48

#### d) Withernsea & Runswick New Average Dissimilarity = 98.35 %

Runswick Withernsea Contrib Cum. **Species** Av.Diss Diss/SD New Av.Abund % % Av.Abund 0.00 36.83 36.83 Austrominius modestus 5.85 36.23 3.05 **Filamentous Greens** 25.60 0.00 3.71 25.18 1.75 62.44 Semibalanus balanoides 2.47 0.00 16.07 1.63 16.34 78.77 Table 4.13 – SIMPER Table indicating average abundance of sessile species contributing to the dissimilarity observed between a) Runswick New and Runswick Old, b) Runswick New and North Bay and c) Runswick New and Holbeck (Av.Abund = mean abundance (raw % cover data), Av.Diss = Average dissimilarity, Diss/SD = Dissimilarity SD, Contrib% = Contribution percentage, Cum.% = Cumulative percentage).

a) Runswick New & Runsv	Runswick New & Runswick Old		milarity = 1	00.00 %			
Species	Runswick New Runswick Av.Abund Av.Abund		Av.Diss	Diss/SD	Contrib %	Cum.%	
Filamentous Greens	3.71	0.00	37.91	2.14	37.91	37.91	
Semibalanus balanoides	0.00	3.46	35.15	1.70	35.15	73.06	
b) Runswick New & North Bay		Average Dissi	Average Dissimilarity = 92.32 %				
Species	Runswick New Av.Abund	North Bay Av.Abund	Av.Diss	Diss/SD	Contrib %	Cum.%	
Filamentous Greens	3.71	0.33	39.27	2.00	42.53	42.53	
Semibalanus balanoides	0.00	3.52	36.60	1.43	39.64	82.18	
c) Runswick New & Holbe	ck	Average Dissi	milarity = 9	3.73 %			
Species	Runswick New Av.Abund	Holbeck Av.Abund	Av.Diss	Diss/SD	Contrib %	Cum.%	
Semibalanus balanoides	0.00	4.57	36.54	1.67	38.98	38.98	
Filamentous Greens	3.71	0.43	29.20	1.53	31.15	70.14	

# 4.3.4 Variation in Grazing Communities on Granite Substrates from Five Rock Armour Defences Across North and East Yorkshire

Examination of grazing assemblages found that the mean S (Table 4.14) and median N (Table 4.14) of grazing species was significantly different between sites. Mean S of grazing fauna was significantly lower at Runswick New compared to Holbeck and North Bay (Tukey P < 0.05). In addition, mean S of grazing species at Withernsea was significantly lower than at Holbeck (Tukey P < 0.05) (See Table 4.15 for descriptive data). Mean S of grazing species at Runswick Old was not significantly different to any other site (Tukey P > 0.05). Median N of grazing species was significantly higher at Holbeck and North Bay compared to Withernsea and Runswick New (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P < 0.05, in all cases). Median N of grazing species was not significantly different to other sites (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P < 0.05, in all cases). Median N of Runswick Old was not significantly different to other sites (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P > 0.05, in all cases). Median N of Runswick Old was not significantly different to other sites (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P > 0.05, in all cases). There was no significant difference in H' of grazing species between sites (Table 4.14), (See Table 4.15 for descriptive data).

Table 4.14 – One-Way ANOVA and Kruskal-Wallis for S, N (counts) and H' of grazing species from granite substrates from rock armour defences at sites across North and East Yorkshire. NS denotes Not Significant, \* denotes significant to 0.01, \*\*\* denotes significant to <0.001.

Grazing species							
		Richne	ss (S)	Total Abun	dance (N)	SW Dive	rsity (H')
Source	DF	A	١	KV	V	K۱	N
		F	Р	Н	Р	Н	Р
Site	4	6.83	*	27.21	*	9.86	NS

Table 4.15 – Descriptive statistics of S, N (counts) and H' of grazing species from granite substrates from rock armour defences at sites across North and East Yorkshire. Where One-Way ANOVA was applied, mean and standard deviation (SD) have been reported. Where Kruskal-Wallis test was used the median and range have been reported.

Site	S		N			H'		
	Mean	SD	 Median	Range	_	Median	Range	
Holbeck	1.08	± 0.72	6.00	0.00 - 80.23		0.00	0.00 - 0.69	
North Bay	0.83	± 0.60	9.00	0.00 - 44.00		0.00	0.00 - 0.64	
<b>Runswick New</b>	0.10	± 0.32	0.00	0.00 - 1.00		0.00	0.00 - 0.00	
Runswick Old	0.60	± 0.52	1.00	0.00 - 23.00		0.00	0.00 - 0.00	
Withernsea	0.76	± 0.76	0.00	0.00 - 40.12		0.00	0.00 - 0.50	

Mean density of *Patella vulgata* was greatest at North Bay and Holbeck but much lower at Runswick Old and Withernsea (Figure 4.9). *Littorina littorea* occurred in very low densities at all three of the sites in which it was identified. *Littorina saxatilis* also occurred in similarly low mean densities at sites where the species was identified. *Littorina obtusata* was only present at Holbeck. Mean density of all species was low at Runswick New (Figure 4.9).



Figure 4.9 – Mean density (number of animals per 0.25m<sup>2</sup>) of grazing species *Patella vulgata, Littorina littorea, Littorina obtusata* and *Littorina saxatilis* on granite substrates from rock armour defences at sites across North and East Yorkshire.
### 4.4 Discussion

The results presented here show that rugosity differed significantly between smooth granite, rough granite, and naturally occurring sandstone substrates (Table 4.3). In addition, the importance of substrate rugosity to sessile and grazing species differed across tidal heights. Fine-scale physical complexity is known to determine community structure by influencing colonisation (Sweat and Johnson, 2013; Lund-Hansen *et al.*, 2017) and by impacting grazing efficacy (Wahl and Hoppe, 2002). The physical characteristics of a substrate, including its microtopography (Köhler, Hansen and Wahl, 1999; Sempere-Valverde *et al.*, 2018), material composition (Davis, 2009; Liversage and Benkendorff, 2013) and aspect or orientation (Firth *et al.*, 2016c; Hanlon *et al.*, 2018), can influence the physical stress experienced by intertidal organisms, which will impact the abundance and distribution of species. At mid shore height richness, abundance, and diversity of sessile species was positively correlated with rugosity, however at upper shore height no significant relationship was found. This was likely due to there being a much lower coverage of sessile species in the upper shore region (Table 4.5).

At mid shore height, richness, abundance, and diversity of sessile species was higher on sandstone substrates (Table 4.5). This agrees with previous work by Sempere-Valverde *et al.*, (2018), who found sandstone tiles had greater vegetative cover in both subtidal and intertidal environments than other materials investigated. Sandstone substrates are more porous than igneous rocks, such as granite (Ingham, 2013), allowing them to retain water between tidal cycles. Sandstones are also more prone to biological and environmental weathering which will increase surface rugosity and microhabitat availability (Coombes, 2015). As a result, sandstones substrates likely provided greater protection from desiccation stress than either rough or smooth granites in this instance.

In comparison, richness, abundance, and diversity of grazing species was positively correlated with rugosity at both mid and upper shore height. At mid shore height, richness, abundance, and diversity of grazing species also was higher on sandstone substrates than either rough or smooth granite substrates (Table 4.9), possibly because sandstone offered greater protection from thermal stress, for the reasons discussed above. At both tidal heights, richness and diversity of grazing species was higher on rough granite substrates than on smooth granite substrates (Table 4.9). This might suggest that where the surface texture of granite substrates is variable, rougher substrates may be preferred by some species.

This assertion may be supported by considering the distribution of the limpet *Patella vulgata*. This species was present on both rough and smooth granite substrates but occurred in greater densities on rough granite than on smooth granite at both mid and upper shore height (Figure 4.7). Grazing fauna are known to migrate into areas where conditions are more suitable, and away from unfavourable environments (Saier, 2000; Branch, 1975). *Patella vulgata*, for example, has well known migratory tendencies which are often driven by environmental factors including the topography and wetness of a surface, as well as biological factors, such as food availability and intra-specific competition (Lewis and Bowman, 1975). Increasing substratum roughness has previously been identified as one of the most effective ways to improve diversity of invertebrate species on artificial structures (Strain *et al.*, 2018). This may be because surfaces with greater fine-scale (mm) complexity are more able to retain water and accumulate biofilm in small surface pits and depressions, thus providing invertebrates with a means of thermal regulation and better foraging opportunities (Köhler, Hansen and Wahl, 1999).

Texture of granite substrates examined here was created when the granite boulders were quarried, smooth granite substrates would likely had been machine-cut, whereas rough granite substrates would have been quarried using explosives (Mancini *et al.*, 2001; Yarahmadi *et al.*, 2019). Rugose surfaces can facilitate accumulation of biofilm (Hutchinson *et al.*, 2006; Lund-Hansen *et al.*, 2017) and enhance settlement of zoospores (Granhag *et al.*, 2004; Long *et al.*, 2010) by influencing the movement of water over the surface, creating drag and reducing flow speed (Whitman and Reidenbach, 2012; Loke, Bouma and Todd, 2017). This may positively influence algal recruitment by increasing the contact time between the substrate and planktonic propagules and spores (McNair, Newbold and Hart, 1997) and facilitate the likelihood of adhesion to the surface (Crimaldi *et al.*, 2002). Enhanced algal settlement would provide better foraging opportunities for grazing invertebrates. In addition, water retained in the minute depressions of rugose surfaces would provide invertebrates with a means to maintain their body temperatures and reduce desiccation stress between tides (Jones and Boulding, 1999; Firth *et al.*, 2016c).

However, the influence of the fine-scale physical complexity on colonisation and recruitment has been shown to be time-dependant (Hanlon *et al.,* 2018). Rougher surfaces may facilitate and even enhance colonisation of early-successive species (Sempere-Valverde *et al.,* 2018), but subsequent settlement of ecosystem engineering species which create biogenic habitats will reduce the relative importance of fine-scale physical complexity in structuring communities. Indeed, fine-scale physical complexity has been shown to encourage settlement of *Semibalanus balanoides* (Coombes *et al.,* 2015; MacArthur *et al.,* 2019) however once

encrusted across a surface, this species will provide a new layer of biogenic complexity and limit access to the surface by other sessile species (Thompson *et al.,* 1996; Holmes, Sturgess and Davies, 1997). Thus, limiting the importance of fine-scale complexity in the recruitment and colonisation of late-successional species.

The temporal limitations of this study meant that succession of species through the habitat and seasonal variation within the community was not captured in detail. For example, the recruitment cycle of the barnacle *Semibalanus balanoides* typically occurs in springtime (Jenkins *et al.*, 2000). Although the substrates in this investigation hosted established barnacle cover, the pattern of recruitment of *Semibalanus balanoides* spat between the substrata could not be observed in this instance. Similarly, seasonal variation in algal cover was not captured. Algal growth on rocky shores is strongest during summer months when environmental conditions are most conducive, whereas during winter, growth is greatly reduced in many species (Emerson and Zedler, 1978; Murray and Horn, 1989). Monitoring seasonal patterns in growth and recruitment of algal and invertebrate assemblages on each substrate over a longer period of time and observing interactions between intertidal species with different substrata would provide a fuller picture of how substrate type and surface rugosity influences community development.

Rugosity was less important over a regional scale as rugosity was significantly different for only one of the five sites examined (Table 4.11). Instead, differences in sessile and grazing communities between sites suggested that the age of the rock armouring was a more important determinant of community structure. At Runswick New, the youngest of the sites examined, sessile communities were characterised by greater cover of ephemeral filamentous green algae and an absence of sessile invertebrates, such as *Semibalanus balanoides* (Table 4.13). In contrast, at Holbeck, North Bay and Runswick Old, sites which were markedly older, sessile communities had greater cover of perennial algae such as *Fucus spiralis*. This was to be somewhat expected given that sessile communities on artificial structures which have been in place fewer than 2 years are often dominated by ephemeral algae, whereas older structures are typically dominated by perennial species (Chapman and Underwood, 1998; Pinn *et al.*, 2005). The richness of grazing species was found to be highest at Holbeck, the oldest structure examined, and lowest at Runswick New, the youngest structure examined (Table 4.15). This was unsurprising though as invertebrate richness is thought to increase with structure age as the availability of food increases (Dong *et al.*, 2018).

Structure age has previously been noted to affect sessile and mobile species on coastal defences (Sedano *et al.,* 2020), and a number of authors have noted that age may be a primary

driver of differences in community structure in artificial habitats (Connell and Glasby, 1999; Dong *et al.*, 2018). Artificial structures are thought to host most species within approximately 2 years of installation and, following recruitment and establishment of populations, reach climax communities in 5-20 years (Pinn *et al.*, 2005; Gacia *et al.*, 2007; Sempere-Valverde *et al.*, 2018) although these communities do not remain stable and will change over time (Perkol-Finkel *et al.*, 2005; Pinn *et al.*, 2005). However, the effect of structure age on community development and composition is not well understood (Sedano *et al.*, 2020). Artificial coastal defence structures can have an intended life expectancy of between 50 – 100 years (Cooper, Wilson and Hanson, 2014; JBA Consulting, 2017a). Therefore, it is important to understand how diversity in intertidal communities is influenced by structure age, to ensure that long-term coastal defence and conservation priorities can be managed effectively (Sedano *et al.*, 2020).

The results of this study highlight the importance of fine-scale physical complexity in determining richness and diversity of sessile and grazing species on granite rock armour coastal defences within a localised area. The study found that at mid shore height natural sandstone substrates had significantly more diverse sessile and grazing communities than either type of granite substrate. This supports the conclusions of Chapter 2 that incorporating natural sandstone substrates into coastal defence infrastructure is an effective way to improve biodiversity. This study also found that across tidal heights, diversity of sessile and grazing species was greater on more rugose granite substrates than on smoother granite substrates. This indicated that increased rugosity was beneficial for both sessile and grazing species, however the importance of rugosity is likely limited to the early-stages of colonisation, given that the fine-scale complexity of the substrate will become unimportant as biogenic habitat is formed on top of it. Over a regional scale, fine-scale physical complexity had little impact on the diversity and structure of sessile and grazing communities. Here, structure age appeared to be a more important factor in determining community diversity, however further work is required to isolate and better understand the how the age of a structure influences biodiversity.

# Chapter 5 Does the orientation of granite substrates in a rock armour defence affect the diversity and structure of sessile and mobile communities?

### 5.1 Introduction

Substratum orientation has been identified as a key driver of community structure on both intertidal and subtidal natural and artificial shores (Connell, 1999; Knott et al., 2004). The orientation of a substrate can determine localised environmental conditions including wave exposure, light intensity, and surface temperature (Hanlon et al., 2018). For example, in the northern hemisphere south-facing surfaces will typically experience more hours of sunlight than north-facing surfaces (Firth et al., 2016c), which could potentially produce a 10 – 15 °C difference in surface temperature (Gaines and Denny, 2007). Usually surfaces with greater exposure to light will support greater algal growth (Knott et al., 2004) however exposure to high light intensities for a prolonged period of time can inhibit photosynthesis and cause irreversible damage to the plant (Hanelt et al., 1997; Hanelt, Wiencke and Bischof, 2003). The importance of orientation in structuring communities also varies with tidal height and wave exposure (Firth et al., 2016c). By determining abiotic conditions in intertidal environments, substrate orientation can also influence vertical zonation of macroalgal and faunal species across tidal heights (Somero, 2002; Davenport and Davenport, 2005). Similarly, differences in wave exposure between have been shown to influence functional richness in macroalgal assemblages on natural rocky shores (Nishihara, and Terada, 2010; Quintano et al., 2015).

However, the term *orientation* has been used broadly and its definition has varied between studies. Most often, orientation has described comparisons of vertically and horizontally inclined substrates (Connell, 1999; Glasby, 2000; Knott *et al.*, 2004; Miller and Etter, 2008). Similarly, the term has described the upward- and downward-surfaces of horizontal substrates (Hanlon *et al.*, 2018) and the aspect or compass-orientation (North, South, etc.) of vertical surfaces (Firth *et al.*, 2016c; Cefalì *et al.*, 2016; Ramos *et al.*, 2016; Sedano *et al.*, 2019). Here, orientation referred to the compass-orientation of vertical surfaces. Past studies into the influence of compass-orientation (hereafter "orientation") have found subtle differences in richness and distribution of sessile and mobile communities attributed to environmental conditions consequential of the substrates orientation (Firth *et al.*, 2016c; Nishihara, and Terada, 2010).

In a study of 13 sites along the coast of Cantabria, Ramos *et al.*, (2016) found certain species occurred in higher abundances on coasts with a particular orientation, whereas others did not. For example, *Ceramium spp.*, *Falkenbergia rufolanosa* and *Gelidium spinosum* from low shore

samples and *Condracanthus acicularis* from mid shore samples occurred in high abundances at North-oriented sites. However, *Corallina officinalis* and *Ellisolandia elongata* occurred in high abundances on all coasts regardless of orientation. Comparisons of artificial coastal defences and adjacent natural rocky shores in North Wales by Firth *et al.*, (2016c), and on the north and south coasts of Crete by Sedano *et al.*, (2019) found substrate type to be a greater driver of community structure than orientation. However, substratum orientation was found to have a strong effect on taxon richness in both high and mid shore environments and a clear impact on distribution of mobile organisms (Firth *et al.*, 2016c). In addition, Nishihara, and Terada (2010) highlighted that taxon and functional richness of macroalgae varied with wave exposure, which is determined by substrate orientation. Although taxon and functional richness appeared to largely decrease as wave exposure increased, richness of thick leathery Phaeophyta was higher on shores where wave exposure was greater.

However, these studies were conducted over large geographic scales where natural variability in substrate composition and species distributions could not be controlled for and examining the effect of substrate orientation in isolation has proven difficult (Sedano *et al.*, 2019). In this investigation, diversity and structure of sessile and mobile communities was examined between different orientations of an artificial rock armour coastal defence at Holbeck in Scarborough South Bay, North Yorkshire. This site presented a unique opportunity to examine orientation in more controlled conditions than available elsewhere in Yorkshire and the crescent shape of the embankment at Holbeck provided three clear orientations for examination. Substrate composition was controlled for as the defence was composed solely of Norwegian granite (Scarborough Borough Council, 2010) and, although the effect of wave exposure could not be completely controlled, differences in the level exposure between orientations would be less pronounced on a localised scale than over a larger geographic area.

As such, this chapter aimed to determine whether diversity and structure of sessile and mobile communities differed between orientations on a rock armour defence at Holbeck in Scarborough South Bay, North Yorkshire.

The specific hypotheses to be tested under this aim were;

- 1. S, N, H' and community similarity of sessile and mobile communities was significantly different between orientations at mid and upper shore height.
- 2. Richness of macroalgal functional groups was significantly different between orientations at mid and upper shore height.

## 5.2 Methods

### 5.2.1 Site Description

This investigation was confined to a single site in Scarborough, North Yorkshire. The granite rock armour embankment at Holbeck, described in Chapter 2, was chosen because the unique crescent-shape of the defence provided clear North, North-East and East facing orientations accessible for surveying (Figure 5.1).



Figure 5.1 – Study site at Holbeck, Scarborough with boundaries of orientations indicated.

#### 5.2.2 Method

Granite boulders were broadly grouped into North, North-east and East facing orientations. Shore height was determined using biological indicators, using *Fucus vesiculosus* to indicate mid shore environments (White, 2008b) and *Fucus spiralis* as a marker of upper shore environments (White, 2008a). There were no low shore boulders available for sampling. Care was taken to ensure samples from each orientation were collected from the same tidal height from both mid and upper shores and that boulder orientation was consistent between stations (Kim and DeWreede, 1996).

Samples were taken from the seaward-facing, vertical surfaces of 10 boulders from each orientation at mid and upper shore height. As described in Chapter 2 (Section 2.2.2), percentage cover of sessile algal and faunal species was estimated from a 50 x 50 cm gridded quadrat and a count per unit area (number of individuals per 50cm<sup>2</sup>) of mobile species was made (Bulleri and Chapman, 2004; Chapman, 2006). Identification of species was facilitated using Bunker *et al.*, 2017 for algae and Cremona, Simms and Ward, 2001 for fauna.

Macroalgal functional groups were determined according to Steneck and Dethier's (1994) functional form approach using morphological features. Species with a single layer sheet-like form such as those from the genera *Ulva* and *Porphyra* were categorized as having a "foliose" functional form (Steneck and Dethier, 1994). In the same way, species with uniseriate filaments, such as *Ulothrix sp.*, were categorized as having a "filamentous" functional form and thick leathery species, such as *Fucus vesiculosus*, were classified into the "leathery macrophyte" functional form group (Steneck and Dethier, 1994).

#### 5.2.3 Statistical Analyses

Percentage cover data of sessile species and count per unit area (number of individuals per 50cm<sup>2</sup>) of mobile species was split and analysed separately. Sessile and mobile S, N and H' data from the mid and upper shore was also analysed separately to control for natural zonation and distribution of species between shores (Sadchatheeswaran *et al.*, 2018). The DIVERSE routine in PRIMER was used to calculate S, N and H' (Clarke and Warwick, 2001). The Shannon-Wiener Diversity Index was used as it is representative of both the richness and the evenness of species in a sample (Spellerberg and Fedor, 2003).

To test the hypothesis that S, N, H' and community similarity of sessile and mobile communities was significantly different between orientations at mid and upper shore height, the following procedure was adopted for both sessile and count per unit area data. Kolmogorov-Smirnov test and Levene's test were used to test for conformation to a normal

distribution and homogeneity of variances, respectively (Dytham, 2011). S and H' data for both sessile and mobile species was found to be normally distributed (P > 0.05) and to have equal variances (P > 0.05). Sessile and mobile species N data did not have a normal distribution or equal variances and was transformed using a  $log_{10}(x+1)$  transformation, as variances of the data were larger than the mean (Fowler *et al.*, 2013). Following this transformation, N data displayed a normal distribution (P > 0.05) and equal variances (P > 0.05). One-Way ANOVA was used to test for significant differences in S, N and H between orientations at each shore height separately. The process described in Chapter 2 (Section 2.2.3) was used to validate ANOVA models. Where significant, a Tukey PostHOC test was applied to identify which groups were significantly different (Dytham, 2011).

Community similarity between orientations at mid and upper shore height was examined using the same procedure as described in Chapter 4, Section 4.2.3, for sessile species data, for each shore height separately. Diversity in animal communities was analysed by examining the S, N and H' of grazing fauna between orientations at mid and upper shore height. S and H' data for grazing species was found to be normally distributed (P > 0.05) and to have equal variances (P > 0.05), however N data for grazing species did not and was transformed using a log<sub>10</sub>(x+1) transformation (Fowler *et al.*, 2013). One-Way ANOVA and Tukey PostHOC tests were used subject to model validation as described in Chapter 2 (Section 2.2.3). Where One-Way ANOVA could not be validated, Kruskal-Wallis Test and Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum PostHOC Test were applied (Dytham, 2011). Density of grazing species between was also plotted and compared.

To test whether richness of macroalgal functional groups was significantly different between orientations at mid and upper shore height, the functional richness of each sample was calculated as the number of different functional groups identified (Zuur *et al.*, 2007). Functional groups are defined in Chapter 5 Section 5.2.2 according to Steneck and Dethiers, (1994) approach of using morphological features to categorize algae into the functional form groups: Leathery Macrohptyes, filamentous algae and foliose algae. Functional richness data from both the mid and upper shores was found to be both normally distributed (P > 0.05) and had equal variances (P > 0.05). Therefore, One-Way ANOVA was used to test for significant differences in functional richness between orientations at mid and upper shore height.

## 5.3 Results

The composition of species was different between orientations, and there were a higher number of taxa present on the mid shore than on the upper shore or each orientation respectively (Table 5.1). The number of sessile taxa was similar on each orientation irrespective of shore height and *Semibalanus balanoides* was present on all mid shore orientations. *Patella vulgata* was present at both shore heights of all orientations.

			Orier	ntation			
	No	orth	Nort	h-east	East		
-	Mid	Upper	Mid	Upper	Mid	Upper	
Sessile Species							
Filamentous Greens		*					
Ulothrix sp.		*					
Ulva sp.				*	*		
Ulva linza			*				
Ulva lactuca			*				
Ulva intestinalis	*						
Porphyra sp.	*	*					
Fucus spiralis		*		*	*		
Fucus vesiculosus			*				
Semibalanus balanoides	*		*		*		
Mobile Species							
Patella vulgata	*	*	*	*	*	*	
Littorina littorea	*	*	*	*		*	
Littorina obtusata	*						
Littorina saxatalis			*				
Nucella lapillus	*					*	
Melarhaphe neritoides		*	*				
Actinia equina	*						

Table 5.1 – Presence and absence table of sessile and mobile species identified in samples (N= 10) from the mid and upper shores of each orientation at Holbeck (\* indicates presence).

# 5.3.1 Variation in Sessile Communities on Substrates with Differing Orientations at Holbeck, Scarborough.

There was a significant difference in mean S (ANOVA,  $F_{2, 27} = 25.77$ , P < 0.01) and mean H' (ANOVA,  $F_{2, 27} = 24.69$ , P < 0.01) of sessile species between orientations at mid shore height. However, there was no significant difference in mean N of sessile species (ANOVA, P > 0.01) between orientations. Mean S was significantly higher on both the North- and North-east-facing orientations compared to the East-facing orientation (Tukey P < 0.05). However, mean S was not significantly different between the North and North-east orientations (Tukey P > 0.05) (Table 5.2). Mean H' was significantly higher on the North-east orientation compared to both the North and East orientations (Tukey P < 0.05), (Table 5.2). Mean H' was not significantly different (Tukey P > 0.05). Although not significantly different, mean N of sessile species was higher on the North orientation than both the North-east orientations the North-east orientations (See

Table 5.3 for descriptive statistics).

At upper shore height, analyses found that mean S (ANOVA,  $F_{2, 27} = 140.32$ , P < 0.01), mean N (ANOVA,  $F_{2, 27} = 20.16$ , P < 0.01) and mean H' (ANOVA,  $F_{2, 27} = 74.22$ , P < 0.01) were significantly different between orientations. Mean S of sessile species was significantly different between all orientations sampled (Tukey P < 0.05 in all instances). Mean S was significantly higher on the North orientation compared to both the North-east and East orientations. Mean S was also significantly higher on the North-east orientation compared to East orientation (Table 5.2). Mean N was significantly higher on the North orientation than both the North-east and East orientations (Tukey P < 0.05) (Table 5.2), which were not significantly different from each other (Tukey P > 0.05). Mean H' was significantly higher on the North orientations (Table 5.2). There was no significant difference in H' between the North-east and East orientations (Tukey P > 0.05), (See

Table 5.3 for descriptive statistics).

a) Mid Shore							
	-	Richness (S)		Total Abundance (N)		SW Diversity (H')	
Source	DF	AN	I	AN	I	AN	
		F	Р	F	Р	F	Р
Orientation	2	25.77	*	5.2	NS	24.69	*
b) Upper Shore							
b) Upper Shore		Richne	ss (S)	Total Abund	dance (N)	SW Diver	sity (H')
<b>b) Upper Shore</b> Source	DF	Richne	ss (S)	Total Abund	dance (N)	SW Diver	sity (H')
b) Upper Shore Source	DF	Richne: AN F	ss (S) I P	Total Abund AN F	dance (N) I P	SW Diver AN F	sity (H') N P

Table 5.2 – One-Way ANOVA for S, N (% cover) and H' of sessile species for a) Mid shore and b) Upper shore orientations at Holbeck. NS denotes Not Significant, \* denotes significant to 0.001, \*\*\* denotes significant to <0.001.

Table 5.3 – Descriptive statistics for S, N (% cover) and H' of sessile species between orientations at Holbeck, Scarborough.

a) Mid Shore						
Oriontation		S		Ν		H'
Orientation	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
North	2.70	± 0.48	1.73	± 0.16	0.26	± 0.19
North-east	3.00	± 0.47	1.92	± 0.15	0.61	± 0.22
East	1.50	± 0.53	1.76	± 0.11	0.06	± 0.09
b) Upper Shore						
Oriontation		S		Ν		H'
Onentation	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
North	4.50	± 0.53	1.72	± 0.23	1.07	± 0.20
North-east	1.70	± 0.68	0.83	± 0.49	0.23	± 0.30
East	1.00	± 0.00	0.81	± 0.33	0.00	± 0.00

Community analysis found that there was a significant difference in community similarity between mid shore orientations (ANOSIM, Global R = 0.661, P = 0.1%) where all orientations were significantly different to each other (in all cases, P < 0.1%). When plotted, samples showed separation from each other with no overlap (Figure 5.2). The stress value given (0.1)indicated that the plot was reliable. SIMPER analyses found *Fucus vesiculosus* and *Semibalanus* balanoides to be key contributors to the differences observed between communities on the mid shore. Of the overall 44.53 % dissimilarity observed between North and North-east mid shore orientations, 65.52 % was attributed to Fucus vesiculosus and Semibalanus balanoides, with both having higher average abundances on the North-east orientation (Table 5.4a). The same was true of the comparison between the East and North-East mid shore orientations, where Fucus vesiculosus and Semibalanus balanoides accounted for 79.57 % of the overall 36.84 % dissimilarity observed. In this instance, Semibalanus balanoides had a marginally higher average abundance on the East oriented shore whereas Fucus vesiculosus was identified in samples from North-east orientation only (Table 5.4b). Comparison of North and East mid shore orientations found a higher average abundance of Semibalanus balanoides on the East oriented shore accounted for 32.85 % of the overall 25.85 % dissimilarity observed. A further 54.10 % of the dissimilarity observed was accounted for by the presence of Ulva intestinalis and Porphyra sp. in samples from the North orientation only (Table 5.4c).

There was also a significant difference between in community similarity between upper shore orientations (ANOSIM, Global R = 0.708, P = 0.1%). Pairwise Comparisons found both Northeast and East upper shore orientations to be significantly different to the North orientation (in both instances, P < 0.1%), but not significantly different from each other (P = 7.2%). When plotted, samples from the North orientation clustered away from other orientations, whereas samples from North-east and East orientations overlapped (Figure 5.3). The stress value given (0.08) shores indicated that the plot was reasonably reliable. SIMPER analyses found dissimilarity between orientations on the upper shore to be much greater. For instance, of the overall 88.95 % dissimilarity observed between North and North-east upper shore orientations, 88.59 % was attributed to four species: Porphyra sp., Ulothrix sp., filamentous green algae and Semibalanus balanoides (Table 5.5a). The same four species accounted for 91.33 % of the overall 89.08 % dissimilarity observed between North and East oriented upper shores (Table 5.5b). In both instances, all algal species either occurred in higher average abundances or were recorded on the North oriented shore only whereas the opposite was true of Semibalanus balanoides, which had higher average abundances on both the North-east and East oriented upper shores.



Figure 5.2 – The results of MDS analysis based on a Bray-Curtis similarity matrix for data collected from mid shore orientations examined at Holbeck.



Figure 5.3 – The results of MDS analysis based on a Bray-Curtis similarity matrix for data collected from upper shore orientations examined at Holbeck.

Table 5.4 – SIMPER Table indicating the average abundance of species contributing to the dissimilarity observed between a) North and North-east orientations, b) North-east and east orientations and c) North and East orientations taken from the Mid shore at Holbeck, Scarborough (Av.Abund = mean abundance (raw % cover data), Av.Diss = Average dissimilarity, Diss/SD = Dissimilarity SD, Contrib% = Contribution percentage, Cum.% = Cumulative percentage).

a) North & North-east	Average Dissimilarity = 44.53 %						
Species	North Av.Abund	North-east Av.Abund	Av.Diss	Diss/SD	Contrib%	Cum.%	
Fucus vesiculosus	0.00	5.33	22.31	2.55	50.11	50.11	
Semibalanus balanoides	6.92	7.20	6.86	1.09	15.41	65.52	
Ulva intestinalis	1.29	0.00	5.73	4.63	12.88	78.39	
Porphyra sp.	1.19	0.00	5.12	0.74	11.50	89.89	
b) North-east & East		Average Dissir	nilarity = 3	5.48 %			
Species	North-east Av.Abund	East Av.Abund	Av.Diss	Diss/SD	Contrib%	Cum.%	
Fucus vesiculosus	5.33	0.00	23.51	2.58	63.83	63.83	
Semibalanus balanoides	7.20	7.57	5.80	1.21	15.74	79.57	
Ulva linza	0.94	0.00	4.29	2.61	11.65	91.21	
c) North & East		Average Dissir	nilarity = 2	5.85 %			
Species	North Av.Abund	East Av.Abund	Av.Diss	Diss/SD	Contrib%	Cum.%	
Semibalanus balanoides	6.92	7.57	8.49	1.12	32.85	32.85	
Ulva intestinalis	1.29	0.00	7.42	5.22	28.71	61.56	
Porphyra sp.	1.19	0.00	6.57	0.75	25.39	86.95	

Table 5.5 – SIMPER Table indicating the average abundance of species contributing to the dissimilarity observed between a) North and North-east orientations and b) North and East orientations taken from the Upper shore at Holbeck, Scarborough (Av.Abund = mean abundance (raw % cover data), Av.Diss = Average dissimilarity, Diss/SD = Dissimilarity SD, Contrib% = Contribution percentage, Cum.% = Cumulative percentage).

				/		
a) North & North-east		Average Diss	imilarity = 8	88.59 %		
Species	North Av.Abund	North-east Av.Abund	Av.Diss	Diss/SD	Contrib%	Cum.%
Porphyra sp.	5.19	0.00	30.31	3.48	34.21	34.21
Ulothrix sp.	3.78	0.00	22.31	3.54	25.18	59.39
Filamentous Greens	2.57	0.00	15.63	1.98	17.64	77.03
Semibalanus balanoides	0.88	2.36	10.09	1.17	11.39	88.42
b) North & East		Average Dissir	nilarity = 89	9.08 %		
Spacias	North	East			Contrib0/	Curre 9/
species	Av.Abund	Av.Abund	AV.DISS	0155/30	Contrib%	Cum.%
Porphyra sp.	5.19	0.00	31.45	3.75	35.31	35.31
Ulothrix sp.	3.78	0.00	23.15	3.83	25.99	61.30
<i>Ulothrix sp.</i> Filamentous Greens	3.78 2.57	0.00 0.00	23.15 16.24	3.83 2.02	25.99 18.23	61.30 79.53

Richness of macroalgal functional groups was significantly different between orientations at mid shore height (ANOVA,  $F_{2, 27} = 39.97$ , P < 0.01). On the mid shore, functional richness was significantly higher on the North-east orientation compared to the North orientation (Tukey P < 0.05), and functional richness was significantly higher on both than on the East orientation (Tukey P < 0.05), (Table 5.6a). A total of six species from two functional groups were identified in samples from the mid shore (Table 5.7). Three algal species from two functional groups were recorded on the North-east orientation and two species of foliose algae were recorded on the North orientation. Only one species, *Ulva sp.*, was present on the East orientation (Table 5.7).

Macroalgal functional richness was also significantly different between orientations at upper shore height (ANOVA,  $F_{2,27} = 85.50$ , P < 0.01). On the upper shore, the North orientation had a significantly higher algal functional richness than both the North-east and East orientations (Tukey P < 0.05), (Table 5.6b). The North-east orientation had a significantly higher algal functional richness compared to the East facing shore (Tukey P < 0.05). On the upper shore, a total of six species from three functional groups were identified on the North and North-east orientations (Table 5.7). Of these, four species representing three functional groups were present on the North orientation, whereas two species from two functional groups were identified on the North-east orientation. Algal species were absent from the east orientation (Table 5.7).

a) Mid Shore				
Orientation	Functional Richness			
Orientation	Mean	SD		
North	1.00	± 0.00		
North-east	1.90	± 0.32		
East	0.50	± 0.53		
b) Upper Shore				
b) Upper Shore	Functiona	l Richness		
b) Upper Shore Orientation	<b>Functiona</b> Mean	<b>Il Richness</b> SD		
b) Upper Shore Orientation North	Functiona Mean 2.70	Il Richness SD ± 0.48		
b) Upper Shore Orientation North North-east	<b>Functiona</b> Mean 2.70 0.70	Il Richness SD ± 0.48 ± 0.67		
b) Upper Shore Orientation North North-east	Functiona           Mean           2.70           0.70           0.00	I Richness SD ± 0.48 ± 0.67 + 0.00		

Table 5.6 – Descriptive statistics for richness of algal functional groups between orientations at Holbeck, Scarborough.

		Mid Shore			Upper Shore			
Functional		North	North-	Fact	North	North-	Fast	
Group	Species	North	east	Last	NOITH	east	Last	
Filamentous	Filamentous				*			
rhamentous	Greens							
	Ulothrix sp.				*			
Foliose	Ulva sp.			*		*		
	Ulva linza		*					
	Ulva lactuca		*					
	Ulva intestinalis	*						
	Porphyra sp.	*			*			
Leathery	Fucus spiralis				*	*		
	Fucus vesiculosus		*					

Table 5.7 – Presence and absence of species from different functional groups identified on orientations at mid and upper shore height at Holbeck, Scarborough.

# 5.3.2 Variation in Mobile Communities on Substrates with Differing Orientations at Holbeck, Scarborough.

There was a significant difference in mean S (ANOVA,  $F_{2, 27} = 14.49$ , P < 0.01) and mean H' (ANOVA,  $F_{2, 27} = 13.08$ , P < 0.01) of mobile species between orientations at mid shore height. Mean S was significantly higher on both the North and North-east facing sides compared to the East facing side, although the North and North-east facing sides were not significantly different from each other (Tukey > 0.05). Mean H' was significantly lower on the East oriented side compared to both the North-east and North orientations, which were not significantly different o each other (Tukey > 0.05). There was no significant difference in mean N of mobile species between orientations (ANOVA, P > 0.01), (see Table 5.8 for mean and SD values).

On the upper shore, there were no significant differences in mean S, mean N or mean H' (ANOVA, P > 0.01 in all cases) (see Table 5.8 for mean and SD values).

a) Mid Shore						
Orientation	9	5		N	н	,
Orientation	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
North	2.50	± 1.18	16.80	± 12.96	0.44	± 0.36
North-east	2.50	± 0.53	47.60	± 28.44	0.61	± 0.32
East	0.90	± 0.32	18.90	± 10.35	0.00	± 0.00
b) Upper Shore						
Orientation	9	6		N	Н	,
Orientation	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
North	0.70	± 0.68	1.30	± 2.41	0.06	± 0.18
North-east	0.80	± 0.42	5.80	± 7.63	0.00	± 0.00
East	0.60	± 0.70	3.10	± 4.48	0.05	± 0.15

Table 5.8 – Descriptive statistics for S, N (count) and H' of mobile species between orientations at Holbeck, Scarborough.

Comparison of grazer density on the mid shore found that median S (Kruskal Wallis, H (adjusted for ties) = 18.25, df = 2, P < 0.05) and mean H' (ANOVA, F<sub>2,27</sub> = 15.29, P < 0.01) of grazing species was significantly different between orientations, whereas mean N of grazing species was not (ANOVA, P > 0.01). Median S of grazers was significantly lower on the East orientation compared to both North and North-east orientations (Pairwise Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test, P < 0.05 in both cases), (Table 5.9). However, mean H' of grazers was significantly different between all orientations (Tukey > 0.05, in all instances), with mean H' being highest on the North-east orientation (Table 5.9).

On the upper shore, there was no significant difference in mean S (ANOVA, P > 0.01), or median N (Kruskal Wallis, P > 0.05) of grazers between orientations. Diversity values could not be calculated or tested as *Patella vulgata* was the only grazing species identified in samples from each orientation (Figure 5.4).

Mean density of grazers varied greatly between orientation and shore height as shown in Figure 5.4. Density of *Patella vulgata* was higher on the mid shore than the upper shore. *Patella vulgata* was present on all orientations at mid shore height, occurring in highest mean density on the East orientation. On the upper shore *Patella vulgata* occurred in similar densities on the North-east and North orientations and was absent from the East orientation (Figure 5.4). High densities of *Littorina saxatilis* were recorded on the North-east mid shore orientation only. *Littorina littorea* and *Littorina obtusata* were sparse and present on the North mid shore orientation only. All species of Littorinid were absent from the upper shore.

Table 5.9 – Descriptive statistics for S, N (count) and H' of grazing species between mid shore orientations only at Holbeck, Scarborough. Where One-Way ANOVA was applied the mean and standard deviation (SD) have been reported, where Kruskal-Wallis test was used the median and range have been reported.

Mid Shore Grazer Density (/0.25m <sup>2</sup> )									
	Richne	Diversity							
Orientation	n	Median	Range	n	Mean		SD		
East	10	1.00	0.00 - 1.00	10	0.00	±	0.00		
North	10	2.00	1.00 - 3.00	10	0.51	±	0.24		
North-east	10	2.00	2.00 - 2.00	10	0.24	±	0.26		



Figure 5.4 – Mean density (number of animals per 0.25m<sup>2</sup>) of grazing species *Patella vulgata* and *Littorina saxatilis* from mid shore and upper shore orientations at Holbeck, Scarborough.

### 5.4 Discussion

The key findings of this study suggest that the diversity and structure of sessile and mobile communities varies with substrate orientation. In this instance, richness and diversity of sessile and mobile communities differed significantly between orientations in both mid and upper shore environments. However, while richness and diversity were found to differ between orientations in this study, this was likely not solely the result of substrate orientation (Sedano *et al.,* 2019).

Substrate orientation can determine a range of environmental factors including level of wave exposure and light intensity (Baynes, 1999; Cefalì *et al.*, 2016). In mid shore environments, wave exposure is a key determinant of macroalgal distribution by mediating desiccation and facilitating growth and reproduction (Underwood and Jernakoff, 1984; Chappuis *et al.*, 2014). In this study, richness and diversity of sessile species was significantly higher on the North-east orientation at mid shore height (

Table 5.3a). However, at upper shore height, richness, abundance, and diversity of sessile species was significantly higher on the North orientation (

Table 5.3b). Community similarity also differed significantly between orientations at both shore heights (Figure 5.2 and Figure 5.3). However, dissimilarity between samples from each orientation was markedly higher on the upper shore than on the mid shore (Table 5.4 and Table 5.5). On the upper shore, dissimilarity was the result of greater average abundances of algal species on the North orientation compared to an absence of algal species on the North-east and East orientations.

All orientations at Holbeck were exposed to wave action however the crescent shape of the defence meant there were likely subtle differences in wave exposure regimes between orientations and tidal heights. For example, on-coming waves would strike the North-east orientation first potentially making it a higher-energy environment than the North and East orientations (personal observation). In addition, the prevailing wind direction incoming from the North Sea would strike this particular defence on its North-east and East orientations (personal observation). This may produce a cooling effect which would act to lower temperatures on the surface of these substrates faster, whereas again, the North orientation would be a more sheltered and protected environment.

Differences in the richness of macroalgal functional groups are sometimes indicative of different levels of wave exposure (Quintano *et al.,* 2015). Here, macroalgal functional richness was significantly different between orientations at both shore heights (Table 5.6). Algal species

with different functional forms are known to respond differently to greater wave exposure as a result of substrate orientation (Quintano et al., 2015). For example, density of leathery macrophyte species, such as fucoids, has been shown to increase with increasing wave exposure (Nishihara, and Terada, 2010). Whereas, other functional forms including foliose, filamentous, and coarsely branched forms, show more a negative association with wave exposure (Nishihara, and Terada, 2010). Wave exposure and tidal height are both important factors in determining community structure on rocky shores, however the influence of wave exposure may be less pronounced in higher shore environments (McQuaid and Lindsay, 2005). At Holbeck, substrates with an East orientation experienced more hours of direct sunlight than substrates with a North or North-east orientation, which were more shaded by nearby coastal cliffs and by the defence itself. Porphyra sp. was present in high abundances on both shores on the North orientation only (Table 5.4 and Table 5.5). This species is known to grow well in conditions where availability and intensity of light is limited (Green and Neefus, 2016). Although permanently shaded substrates host poor algal communities (Clark, Edwards and Foster, 2004; Blockley, and Chapman, 2006) in this instance, the North orientation would have experienced a shortened period of sun-exposure rather than receive no light at all.

Periods of shade are also important for mobile and invertebrate species (Firth et al., 2016c). On the mid shore, richness and diversity was significantly lower on the East orientation than on either the North or North-east orientations of the defence (Table 5.8). This may have been due to East orientation being exposed to longer periods of sun without shading. Environmental factors such as surface temperature and light intensity can affect the body temperature, distribution, and even the morphology of invertebrates between tides (Gaines and Denny, 2007; Harley et al., 2009). No such differences were observed on the upper shore as it was less populated by invertebrates (Table 5.8). Mid shore environments are often submerged for longer and time between tides is often shorter than in upper shore environments, meaning that mid shore-dwelling invertebrates can maintain their body temperature more easily (Somero, 2002; Fraser et al., 2016). Here, density of grazing species was greater across orientations at mid shore height (Figure 5.4), due to reduced thermal and desiccation stress (Benedetti-Cecchi, 2001). Unsurprisingly, density of grazers was low on the upper shore and grazing invertebrates were absent from the east orientation entirely (Figure 5.4). As discussed above, the East orientation at Holbeck would likely have experienced more prolonged periods of intense sun exposure than other orientations. Exposure to such thermal stress can impact grazing fauna by increasing their body temperature and heart rate above a critical threshold, and result in mortality (Hui et al., 2020). As a result, lower abundances of mobile species and

grazing invertebrates in the upper shore region of artificial environments is not unusual (Chapman, 2003a).

The results presented here show that diversity and structure of sessile and mobile communities differed between orientations at both mid and upper shore height, possibly because of subtly different environmental conditions on each orientation. As previous authors have noted, examining the effect of substrate orientation in isolation has proven difficult (Sedano et al., 2019) and further work is needed to understand how substrate orientation influences intertidal communities. Understanding the impacts environmental factors, including wave exposure, light intensity and substrate temperature, on community diversity is also important. There may be potential to examine substrate orientation to identify how environmental conditions differ across the structure and which areas of a coastal defence may be least hospitable to marine organisms. Understanding how community diversity varies with orientation, and what factors drive these differences could have implications for future ecological enhancement work, potentially allowing ecological enhancements to be deployed in a targeted way in areas where they may be more necessary. However, as previous work has shown, substrate orientation and its influence on structure and diversity in sessile and mobile communities on coastal defences, is not clear and more work is needed to address this gap in existing knowledge.

## Chapter 6 General Discussion

## 6.1 Summary and Key Findings

The prevalence of artificial coastal defences in the marine environment has increased in recent years in response to sea-levels rise (IPCC, 2013). Coastal defences are known to support diminished diversity in comparison to natural rocky shore communities (Moschella *et al.*, 2005; Bulleri and Chapman, 2010). However, continued research has highlighted how modifications can create more diverse habitats within artificial environments (Coombes *et al.*, 2015; Evans *et al.*, 2016; Firth *et al.*, 2013b; Hall *et al.*, 2018; Waltham and Sheaves, 2018; MacArthur *et al.*, 2019). The research presented in this thesis adds to our understanding of how creating habitat heterogeneity and physical complexity can improve the diversity of sessile and mobile communities on coastal defences.

This study aimed firstly, to determine whether there were differences in the diversity and composition of sessile and mobile communities between the three main habitat types (artificial pools, granite boulders and sandstone boulders) on the new rock armour at Runswick Bay, and how this varied over time. This was examined in Chapter 2, which found that both artificial pool and sandstone boulder habitats supported a higher richness, abundance, and diversity of sessile and mobile species than granite boulder habitats, throughout the study period (Table 2.3), and that the composition of sessile and mobile communities was also significantly different between habitat types (Figure 2.3). Secondly, this study aimed to monitor colonisation of areas with and without added small-scale (cm) physical complexity (substrates treated with grooves, and untreated substrates without grooves) to determine if diversity and composition of sessile and mobile communities differed between treatment types over time. Chapter 2 found that while the richness, abundance and diversity of sessile and mobile species varied significantly within both treatment types over time (Figure 2.4 and Figure 2.6), the composition of sessile and mobile communities was not significantly different between treatment types (Table 2.8 and Table 2.11).

Alongside this, the study aimed to determine whether diversity and structure of sessile and grazing communities differed between granite and sandstone substrates with different levels of fine-scale (mm) physical complexity at one site in Scarborough North Bay, North Yorkshire. Chapter 3 found that rugosity was significantly different between substrate types present at North Bay (Table 4.3) and that richness, abundance, and diversity of sessile and grazing species was significantly different between substrate types height (Table 4.5 and Table 4.10). This chapter also aimed to determine whether fine-scale physical complexity and community structure over a regional scale. The research in

Chapter 3 showed that, although substrate rugosity was significantly different between the five sites examined across North and East Yorkshire, the composition of sessile and grazing communities (Figure 4.8 and Table 4.15) indicated that structure age was a more important driver of diversity over a regional scale.

And finally, this study aimed to determine whether diversity and structure of sessile and mobile communities was different between granite substrates with different compass orientations at one site in Scarborough South Bay, North Yorkshire. This was addressed in Chapter 4, which showed that the richness, and diversity of sessile and mobile species differed significantly between orientations at both mid and upper shore height (

Table 5.3 and Table 5.8), as did the composition of sessile and mobile communities (Figure 5.2, Figure 5.3, and Figure 5.4).

## 6.2 Increasing Habitat Heterogeneity on Coastal Defences

This study has shown that increasing habitat heterogeneity by increasing the range of habitat types available can significantly increase diversity on coastal defences (Chapter 2, Section 2.3). On natural rocky shores, rock pools support a greater richness and diversity of species than emergent rock (Schaefer *et al.*, 2019), by providing better foraging opportunities and protection from environmental stress (Martins *et al.*, 2007; Mendonça *et al.*, 2019). Artificial rock pools appear to function in a similar way and have been found to host a higher number and have a different composition of taxa than adjacent artificial substrata as a result (Firth *et al.*, 2016a).

On the new rock armour defence at Runswick Bay, richness, and diversity of both sessile and mobile species was higher in artificial pool habitats than in other habitat types throughout the study (Table 2.2). Increasing habitat heterogeneity by adding water retaining features has become a widely-used method of improving diversity on coastal defences (Loke, Heery and Todd, 2019), and proved a particularly effective way of encouraging recolonisation by mobile invertebrates (Evans *et al.*, 2016; Hall *et al.*, 2018). However, abundance of mobile species was low across all habitat types during this study (Table 2.12), although mobile and grazing species are often slow to colonise artificial environments (Chapman, 2003a).

Many studies examining colonisation of artificially-created rock pools occur over relatively short timescales, mostly between 18 – 24 months (Evans *et al.*, 2016; Firth *et al.*, 2016a; Waltham and Sheaves, 2018), which is also true of the present study. Most species may have settled into an engineered habitat within approximately two years of installation (Sempere-Valverde *et al.*, 2018), however a recent study by Hall *et al.*, (2019) found community

composition in artificial concrete rock pools changed considerably three years after installation, when grazing species moved into the habitat. Further time is needed for populations to fully establish on rocky shores, and it may take between 5 – 20 years before a stable climax community is reached (Pinn *et al.*, 2005; Gacia *et al.*, 2007). Therefore, it is likely that the communities which colonised the habitats created at Runswick Bay will continue to develop over time.

Heterogeneity of habitats in artificial environments can also be increased by incorporating a wider variety of materials (Sempere-Valverde *et al.*, 2018), given that substrate type has been identified as a major driver of community structure in sessile benthic communities (Sedano *et al.*, 2019). The defence works at Runswick Bay have shown that sandstone boulders can be incorporated into granite rock armouring without impacting the stability or performance of the defence (JBA Consulting, 2017a). Here, sandstone boulders were intended to act as "seed" boulders to promote colonisation of the granite. This study found that sandstone boulder habitats had a significantly higher richness and diversity of sessile species than granite boulder habitats (Table 2.3), and a greater proportion of leathery macroalgae than either artificial pool or granite boulder habitats (Figure 2.4). It should be noted that succession of the habitat was incomplete at the end of the sampling period, however, within the time allowed sandstone boulder habitats showed signs of function as intended and highlighted that incorporating mixed substrata into coastal defences can enhance biodiversity in several ways.

Firstly, placing natural sandstone boulders or native substrata in close proximity to artificial structures may facilitate connectivity between shores (Hall *et al.*, 2019), particularly for species which disperse planktonically (Liversage and Chapman, 2018), such as *Semibalanus balanoides*, *Actinia equina* and *Patella vulgata* which were identified on samples from sandstone boulders (Table 2.1). There is limited evidence in this study to suggest that there was some connectivity between sandstone boulder and granite boulder habitats. As discussed in Chapter 2, Section 2.4, *Fucus spiralis* was present on sandstone boulder habitats throughout the study and emerged in artificial pool habitats in later months (Figure 2.4), which may indicate some transfer of species between habitat types. However, extent to which this occurred is unclear given that *Fucus spiralis* is a hermaphroditic alga, able to self-fertilise and recruit easily in artificial upper shore environments (Chapman, 1989).

Secondly, the material properties of sandstone substrates may provide better conditions for algal growth than artificial granite substrates. While the presence of leathery macroalgae on sandstone boulder habitats was primarily the result of regrowth from holdfasts not removed during construction (Keser, Vadas and Larson, 1981), the characteristics of sandstone may

have enhanced light and moisture availability which facilitated regrowth (Finlay *et al.,* 2008). For example, sandstone was lighter in colour than granite in this instance and would therefore have possessed a higher albedo and better ability to reflect light (Sempere-Valverde *et al.,* 2018). Similarly, the porosity of sedimentary rocks enables water to be retained within the substrate between tides (McGuinness and Underwood, 1986).

Finally, sandstone is susceptible to environmental and biological weathering over time (Coombes, 2014), which is beneficial in ecological engineering as it creates natural physical complexity. As shown in Chapter 4, Section 4.3.1, the fine scale surface rugosity of sandstone substrates was significantly higher than that of either rough fractured or smooth machine cut granite substrates. Regular weathering and disturbance of rocks in the intertidal environment will naturally create greater physical complexity (Coombes *et al.*, 2013), which in turn will influence the richness and diversity of organisms within a habitat (Evans *et al.*, 2016; Firth *et al.*, 2016); Hall *et al.*, 2018).

## 6.3 Improving Physical Complexity on Coastal Defences

Introducing mixed substrata is also an effective way to vary the fine-scale (mm) physical complexity on coastal defences. The surface texture or rugosity of a substrate is known to influence composition of rocky shore communities (Sweat and Johnson, 2013; Lund-Hansen *et al.*, 2017), and the results of Chapter 3 highlight the importance of substrate rugosity in structuring sessile and grazing communities across tidal heights on a local scale.

The importance of rugosity was found to vary between sessile and grazing species. Here, substrate rugosity positively correlated with richness and abundance of grazing species at both mid and upper shore height. Richness and abundance of grazing species was highest on the most rugose substrates at each shore height, respectively (Table 4.10). Rugose surfaces accumulate biofilm (Lund-Hansen *et al.*, 2017) and retain water in surface depressions (Köhler, Hansen and Wahl, 1999). This would provide grazers with both better foraging opportunities and a means of thermal regulation (Firth *et al.*, 2016c). In contrast, sessile richness, abundance, and diversity positively correlated with rugosity at mid shore height, but no relationship was found at upper shore height. On the one hand, greater rugosity is thought to facilitate the adhesion of algal propagules to the substrate (Crimaldi *et al.*, 2002), however, the importance of rugosity to sessile species is known to be time-dependant (Hanlon *et al.*, 2018). As discussed in Chapter 4, Section 4.4, the settlement of species, such as *Semibalanus balanoides*, will create a layer of biogenic habitat complexity over the substrate, thus reducing the importance of rugosity through limiting access to the substrate by species which colonise subsequently (Thompson *et al.*, 1996).

Rugosity was also of limited importance over a regional scale. Of the five sites across North and East Yorkshire, rugosity was significantly different at only one site and differences in sessile and grazing community composition indicated that structure age was more important in this instance (Chapter 4, Section 4.4). This was consistent with previous findings that newly installed structures (< 2 years) are invertebrate-poor and largely dominated by ephemeral algae, whereas older structures host established communities of perennial algae and have a greater richness of grazing invertebrates (Chapman and Underwood, 1998; Pinn *et al.*, 2005; Dong *et al.*, 2018). However, deploying enhancements such as holes or grooves (Evans *et al.*, 2016; Hall *et al.*, 2018) which create small-scale (cm) complexity on coastal defence structures may be more effective way of improving biodiversity over a wider geographical area, by creating microhabitats and providing refuges for sessile and mobile species.

The lack of physical complexity in artificial costal defence habitats is known to directly impact biodiversity by limiting communities to only those which can survive without additional protection (Evans et al., 2016). In this study, small-scale complexity was increased by engineering grooves to granite boulders (see Chapter 1, Section 1.6 for description), however, their effectiveness here was limited (Chapter 3, Section 3.4). In this instance, richness, and diversity of sessile species was not significantly higher at the end of the study for either substrates treated with grooves, or untreated substrates. Similarly, sessile community similarity did not differ significantly between treatment types (Figure 6.1). In addition, mobile species were notably sparse on substrates treated with grooves and were absent entirely from untreated substrates throughout the study. This may have been a result of the relatively short timescale allowed for this study and that colonisation of treatment types by mobile species was still ongoing (Thompson, 1980). However, previous work has found cm-scale holes and cm-wide grooves to successfully increase invertebrate diversity over similar timescales (Evans et al., 2016; Hall et al., 2018), although these trials were conducted on structures which had been in place for some time and may have already hosted an established invertebrate community.

In this study, the use of only narrow grooves likely contributed to the under-abundance of fauna by limiting the accessibility of the microhabitat by hard-shelled animals to smaller individuals only, as discussed in Chapter 3, Section 3.4. The grooves implemented as part of the Runswick Bay Coastal Protection Scheme were not widened to follow the original concept of Hall *et al.*, (2018), and so did not perform in the same way within the time allowed. Reporting trials where habitat enhancements have not performed as expected is important to ensure that the application, and limitations of different habitat enhancement methods are understood (Firth *et al.*, 2020). Without this understanding, there is a chance that habitat

enhancements could be implemented ineffectively (Firth *et al.*, 2016a; O'Shaughnessy *et al.*, 2020).

## 6.4 Understanding Substrate Orientation on Coastal Defences

Naylor *et al.*, (2012) showed that habitat enhancements could be easily considered and implemented as part of the planning and development framework used in coastal defence building. However, as Cooper *et al.*, (2016) noted, coastal defence structures are often built on a case-by-case basis, and as a result, vary considerably depending on their location, purpose, and size (Cooper and McKenna, 2008). The orientation and alignment of a defence will determine the environmental conditions that organisms which colonise it are subjected to, such as the level of wave exposure and hours spent in the sun and shaded (Firth *et al.*, 2016c).

When examining the effect of compass-orientation in communities on the rock armouring at Holbeck in Scarborough, this study found sessile and mobile communities differed significantly between orientations, at both mid and upper tidal heights (Chapter 5, Section 5.3). The study also found community similarity differed significantly between orientations at both tidal heights (Figure 5.2 and Figure 5.3), and that the distribution of species was dependent upon the level of wave exposure the substrate experienced, and the time spent shaded from sunlight (Nishihara and Terada, 2010). The results presented in Chapter 4 highlight that complex interactions between coastal defences and their environments can shape the intertidal communities which colonise them. This study also raises how important collaboration between ecologists, engineers and developers is in applying habitat enhancements effectively (Firth *et al.*, 2020).

By examining the physical and environmental attributes of a defence, including structure orientation and the level of sun and wave exposure, ecologists may be able to identify areas where the environment may be especially harsh for marine organisms. Having this understanding could allow ecologists and developers to deploy habitat enhancements in a targeted way with clear ecological goals in mind. However, further research is required to fully understand the effect of deploying habitat enhancements in this way.

## 6.5 Final Summary

The Runswick Bay Coastal Protection Scheme is an important site in the field of ecological engineering in the UK as it is both the largest application of habitat enhancements on a coastal defence structure in the UK, at present (Latham *et al.*, 2020), and is a rare example of a coastal defence with planned habitat enhancements throughout (JBA Consulting, 2017a). Overall, this study provides a valuable assessment of how creating habitat heterogeneity and physical

complexity on a large scale impacted on species richness and diversity in sessile and mobile communities. The study also provided a useful comparison of the fine-scale physical complexity of different materials used in coastal defence building and examined how sessile and mobile communities differ with the orientation of a defence.

Research has shown there are opportunities to consider habitat enhancements throughout the planning and development process (Naylor *et al.*, 2012), and that stakeholders and members of the public prioritise the ecological benefits of coastal defences over economic benefits (Evans *et al.*, 2017). However, barriers to creating ecologically sensitive, multifunctional coastal defences remain (Evans *et al.*, 2019). Perceived barriers include a lack of confidence in existing examples of mostly small-scale applications of habitat enhancements, and questions over the cost-benefit of using habitat enhancements (Evans *et al.*, 2019). The Runswick Bay Coastal Protection Scheme is an excellent case study which provides evidence that habitat enhancements can be planned and incorporated into large coastal development projects to successfully deliver ecological goals. The scheme also highlights the potential of using mixed substrata to enhance both colonisation and biodiversity of coastal defences and provides an example of how mixed substrata could be incorporated into future defence works.

There has been a clear drive in European and UK policy in recent years that supports the application of habitat enhancements in marine infrastructure projects (Firth *et al.*, 2020), and a catalogue of existing habitat enhancement methods and their use with different coastal infrastructure has also been published (O'Shaughnessy *et al.*, 2020). However, it is vital that engineers and developers collaborate with ecologists so that habitat enhancements can be applied in a meaningful and effective way (Evans *et al.*, 2019), rather than as a means to influence consenting on harmful developments (Firth *et al.*, 2020; O'Shaughnessy *et al.*, 2020). Continued monitoring of enhanced structures is also essential to understanding how habitat enhancements perform over longer time periods, and how their use by marine organisms changes (Firth *et al.*, 2020).

## **Reference** list

Aguilera, M.A., 2018. Artificial defences in coastal marine ecosystems in Chile: Opportunities for spatial planning to mitigate habitat loss and alteration of the marine community structure. *Ecological Engineering*, *120*, pp.601-610.

Aguilera, M.A., Broitman, B.R. and Thiel, M. 2014. Spatial variability in community composition on a granite breakwater versus natural rocky shores: lack of microhabitats suppresses intertidal biodiversity. *Marine pollution bulletin*, *87*, 257-268.

Aguilera, M.A., Broitman, B.R. and Thiel, M. 2016. Artificial breakwaters as garbage bins: structural complexity enhances anthropogenic litter accumulation in marine intertidal habitats. *Environmental pollution, 214*, 737-747.

Airoldi, L. and Beck, M.W. 2007. Loss, status and trends for coastal marine habitats of Europe. *Oceanography and marine biology*. CRC Press.

Airoldi, L., 1998. Roles of disturbance, sediment stress, and substratum retention on spatial dominance in algal turf. *Ecology*, *79*(8), pp.2759-2770.

Airoldi, L., Abbiati, M., Beck, M.W., Hawkins, S.J., Jonsson, P.R., Martin, D., Moschella, P.S., Sundelöf, A., Thompson, R.C. and Åberg, P. 2005. An ecological perspective on the deployment and design of low-crested and other hard coastal defence structures. *Coastal engineering*, *52*, 1073-1087.

Ansell, A.D., Gibson, R.N. and Barnes, M., 2002. The mortality of intertidal cirripedes. *Oceanography and Marine Biology, An Annual Review, Volume 37, 37*, pp.153-244.

Balasse, M., Tresset, A., Dobney, K. and Ambrose, S.H., 2005. The use of isotope ratios to test for seaweed eating in sheep. *Journal of zoology*, *266*(3), pp.283-291.

Ballantine, W.J., 1961. A biologically-defined exposure scale for the comparative description of rocky shores.

Bavestrello, G., Bo, M., Betti, F., Canessa, M., Gaggero, L., Rindi, F. and Cattaneo-Vietti, R., 2018. Differences in composition of shallow-water marine benthic communities associated with two ophiolitic rock substrata. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 200*, pp.71-80.

Baynes, T.W., 1999. Factors structuring a subtidal encrusting community in the southern Gulf of California. *Bulletin of Marine Science*, *64*(3), pp.419-450.

Beaumont, N., Austen, M., Atkins, J., Burdon, D., Degraer, S., Dentinho, T., Derous, S., Holm, P., Horton, T. and Van Ierland, E. 2007. Identification, definition and quantification of goods and services provided by marine biodiversity: implications for the ecosystem approach. *Marine pollution bulletin*, *54*, 253-265.

Beaumont, N.J., Austen, M.C., Mangi, S.C. and Townsend, M., 2008. Economic valuation for the conservation of marine biodiversity. *Marine pollution bulletin*, *56*(3), pp.386-396.

Beck, M.W. 1998. Comparison of the measurement and effects of habitat structure on gastropods in rocky intertidal and mangrove habitats. *Marine Ecology Progress Series, 169*, 165-178.

Beck, M.W. 2000. Separating the elements of habitat structure: independent effects of habitat complexity and structural components on rocky intertidal gastropods. *Journal of experimental marine biology and ecology, 249*, 29-49.

Benedetti-Cecchi, L. and Cinelli, F., 1996. Patterns of disturbance and recovery in littoral rock pools: nonhierarchical competition and spatial variability in secondary succession. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *135*, pp.145-161.

Benedetti-Cecchi, L., 2000a. Predicting direct and indirect interactions during succession in a mid-littoral rocky shore assemblage. *Ecological Monographs*, *70*(1), pp.45-72.

Benedetti-Cecchi, L., 2000b. Priority effects, taxonomic resolution, and the prediction of variable patterns of colonisation of algae in littoral rock pools. *Oecologia*, *123*(2), pp.265-274.

Benedetti-Cecchi, L., 2001. Variability in abundance of algae and invertebrates at different spatial scales on rocky sea shores. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *215*, pp.79-92.

Bishop, M.J., Mayer-Pinto, M., Airoldi, L., Firth, L.B., Morris, R.L., Loke, L.H., Hawkins, S.J., Naylor, L.A., Coleman, R.A., Chee, S.Y. and Dafforn, K.A., 2017. Effects of ocean sprawl on ecological connectivity: impacts and solutions. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *492*, pp.7-30.

Blackmore, D.T., 1969. Studies of Patella vulgata LI Growth, reproduction and zonal distribution. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *3*(2), pp.200-213.

Blockley, D.J. and Chapman, M.G., 2006. Recruitment determines differences between assemblages on shaded or unshaded seawalls. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *327*, pp.27-36.

Boorman, L.A. and Hazelden, J., 2017. Managed re-alignment; a salt marsh dilemma?. *Wetlands ecology and management*, *25*(4), pp.387-403.

Bowman, R.S. and Lewis, J. 1977. Annual fluctuations in the recruitment of Patella vulgata L. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, *57*, 793-815.

Branch, G.M., 1975. Mechanisms reducing intraspecific competition in Patella spp.: migration, differentiation and territorial behaviour. *The Journal of Animal Ecology*, pp.575-600.

Brooker, L.R. and Shaw, J.A., 2012. The chiton radula: a unique model for biomineralization studies. *Advanced topics in biomineralization*, *1*, pp.65-84.

Brown, S., Hanson, S. and Nicholls, R.J. 2014. Implications of sea-level rise and extreme events around Europe: a review of coastal energy infrastructure. *Climatic change*, *122*, 81-95.

Browne, M.A. and Chapman, M.G. 2014. Mitigating against the loss of species by adding artificial intertidal pools to existing seawalls. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 497, 119-129.

Bulleri, F. and Chapman, M. 2004. Intertidal assemblages on artificial and natural habitats in marinas on the north-west coast of Italy. *Marine biology*, *145*, 381-391.

Bulleri, F. and Chapman, M.G. 2010. The introduction of coastal infrastructure as a driver of change in marine environments. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *47*, 26-35.

Bulleri, F., Abbiati, M. and Airoldi, L. 2006. The colonisation of human-made structures by the invasive alga Codium fragile ssp. tomentosoides in the north Adriatic Sea (NE Mediterranean). *Marine Biodiversity*. Springer.

Bunker, F., Brodie, J.A., Maggs, C.A. and Bunker, A.R., 2017. *Seaweeds of Britain and Ireland*. Princeton University Press.

Burden, A., Smeaton, C., Angus, S., Garbutt, A., Jones, L., Lewis, H. and Rees, S., 2020. Impacts of climate change on coastal habitats, relevant to the coastal and marine environment around the UK. *MCCIP Science Review 2020*.

Burrell, A.L., Evans, J.P. and De Kauwe, M.G., 2020. Anthropogenic climate change has driven over 5 million km 2 of drylands towards desertification. *Nature Communications*, *11*(1), pp.1-11.

Burt, J.A., Killilea, M.E. and Ciprut, S., 2019. Coastal urbanization and environmental change: Opportunities for collaborative education across a global network university. *Regional Studies in Marine Science*, p.100501.

Bussell, J.A. and Lucas, I.A., 2007. Patterns in the invertebrate assemblage associated with Corallina officinalis in tide pools. *Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom, 87*(2), p.383.

Carvalho, L.R.S. and Barros, F., 2017. Physical habitat structure in marine ecosystems: the meaning of complexity and heterogeneity. *Hydrobiologia*, 797(1), pp.1-9.

Cefalì, M.E., Cebrian, E., Chappuis, E., Pinedo, S., Terradas, M., Mariani, S. and Ballesteros, E., 2016. Life on the boundary: environmental factors as drivers of habitat distribution in the littoral zone. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 172*, pp.81-92.

Chabot, R. and Bourget, E. 1988. Influence of substratum heterogeneity and settled barnacle density on the settlement of cypris larvae. *Marine Biology*, *97*, 45-56.

Chapman, A.R.O., 1989. Abundance of Fucus spiralis and ephemeral seaweeds in a high eulittoral zone: effects of grazers, canopy and substratum type. *Marine Biology*, *102*(4), pp.565-572.

Chapman, M. and Blockley, D. 2009. Engineering novel habitats on urban infrastructure to increase intertidal biodiversity. *Oecologia*, *161*, 625-635.

Chapman, M.G. and Bulleri, F., 2003. Intertidal seawalls—new features of landscape in intertidal environments. *Landscape and urban planning*, *62*(3), pp.159-172.

Chapman, M.G. and Underwood, A.J., 1998. Inconsistency and variation in the development of rocky intertidal algal assemblages. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *224*(2), pp.265-289.

Chapman, M.G., 2003a. Paucity of mobile species on constructed seawalls: effects of urbanization on biodiversity. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *264*, 21-29.

Chapman, M.G., 2003b. The use of sandstone blocks to test hypotheses about colonization of intertidal boulders. *Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom, 83*(2), p.415.

Chapman, M.G., 2006. Intertidal seawalls as habitats for molluscs. *Journal of Molluscan Studies*, *72*(3), pp.247-257.

Chappuis, E., Terradas, M., Cefalì, M.E., Mariani, S. and Ballesteros, E., 2014. Vertical zonation is the main distribution pattern of littoral assemblages on rocky shores at a regional scale. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, *147*, pp.113-122.

Clark, R.P., Edwards, M.S. and Foster, M.S., 2004. Effects of shade from multiple kelp canopies on an understory algal assemblage. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *267*, pp.107-119.

Clarke, K.R. and Warwick, R. 2001. Change in marine communities. An approach to statistical analysis and interpretation.

Clarke, K.R., Chapman, M.G., Somerfield, P.J. and Needham, H.R., 2006b. Dispersion-based weighting of species counts in assemblage analyses. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *320*, pp.11-27.

Clarke, K.R., Somerfield, P.J., and Chapman, M.G. 2006a. On resemblance measures for ecological studies, including taxonomic dissimilarities and a zero-adjusted Bray–Curtis coefficient for denuded assemblages. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *330*(1), 55-80.

Claudino-Sales, V., 2019. Gough and Inaccessible Islands, the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland. In *Coastal World Heritage Sites* (pp. 251-256). Springer, Dordrecht.

Collins, C.E., Self, J.D., Anderson, R.A. and McBrayer, L.D., 2013. Rock-dwelling lizards exhibit less sensitivity of sprint speed to increases in substrate rugosity. *Zoology*, *116*(3), pp.151-158.

Connell, S.D. and Glasby, T.M., 1999. Do urban structures influence local abundance and diversity of subtidal epibiota? A case study from Sydney Harbour, Australia. *Marine Environmental Research*, 47(4), pp.373-387.

Connell, S.D., 1999. Effects of surface orientation on the cover of epibiota. *Biofouling*, 14(3), pp.219-226.

Constructing Excellence, 2019. Runswick Bay Coastal Defence Scheme. *Constructing Excellence*, [online] Available at: <a href="https://constructingexcellence.org.uk/runswick-bay-coastal-defence-scheme/">https://constructingexcellence.org.uk/runswick-bay-coastal-defence-scheme/</a>> [Accessed 6 March 2020].

Coombes, M.A., 2014. The rock coast of the British Isles: weathering and biogenic processes. *Geological Society, London, Memoirs, 40*(1), pp.57-76.

Coombes, M.A., La Marca, E.C., Naylor, L.A. and Thompson, R.C. 2015. Getting into the groove: opportunities to enhance the ecological value of hard coastal infrastructure using fine-scale surface textures. *Ecological Engineering*, *77*, 314-323.

Coombes, M.A., Naylor, L.A., Viles, H.A. and Thompson, R.C., 2013. Bioprotection and disturbance: seaweed, microclimatic stability and conditions for mechanical weathering in the intertidal zone. *Geomorphology*, *202*, pp.4-14.

Cooper, J.A. and Mckenna, J. 2008. Working with natural processes: the challenge for coastal protection strategies. *Geographical Journal*, *174*, 315-331.

Cooper, J.A. G., O'connor, M.C. and Mcivor, S. 2016. Coastal defences versus coastal ecosystems: A regional appraisal. *Marine Policy*.

Cooper, N., Wilson, S. and Hanson, T., 2014. Realignment of Littlehaven Sea Wall, South Tyneside, UK. In *From Sea to Shore–Meeting the Challenges of the Sea: (Coasts, Marine Structures and Breakwaters 2013)* (pp. 1231-1240). ICE Publishing.

Cramer, M.J. and Willig, M.R., 2005. Habitat heterogeneity, species diversity and null models. *Oikos*, 108(2), pp.209-218.

Cremona, C., Simms, A. and Ward, M., 2001. *The rocky shore name trail: a key to common seashore animals and plants*. Field Studies Council.

Crimaldi, J.P., Thompson, J.K., Rosman, J.H., Lowe, R.J. and Koseff, J.R., 2002. Hydrodynamics of larval settlement: the influence of turbulent stress events at potential recruitment sites. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 47(4), pp.1137-1151.

Crisp, D.T., 1961. Territorial behaviour in barnacle settlement. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, *38*(2), pp.429-446.

Crisp, D.J., 1955. The behaviour of barnacle cyprids in relation to water movement over a surface. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 32, no. 3, 569-590.

Crowe, T.P., Frost, N.J. and Hawkins, S.J., 2011. Interactive effects of losing key grazers and ecosystem engineers vary with environmental context. *Marine ecology progress series*, *430*, pp.223-234.

Dafforn, K.A., Glasby, T.M., Airoldi, L., Rivero, N.K., Mayer-Pinto, M. and Johnston, E.L. 2015. Marine urbanization: an ecological framework for designing multifunctional artificial structures. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, *13*, 82-90.

Davenport, J. and Davenport, J.L., 2005. Effects of shore height, wave exposure and geographical distance on thermal niche width of intertidal fauna. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *292*, pp.41-50.

Davis, A.R., 2009. The role of mineral, living and artificial substrata in the development of subtidal assemblages. In *Marine hard bottom communities* (pp. 19-37). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.

Davis, K.L., Coleman, M.A., Connell, S.D., Russell, B.D., Gillanders, B.M. and Kelaher, B.P. 2017. Ecological performance of construction materials subject to ocean climate change. *Marine environmental research*, *131*, 177-182.

Decho, A.W. 2000. Microbial biofilms in intertidal systems: an overview. *Continental shelf research*, *20*, 1257-1273.

Dethier, M.N., 1984. Disturbance and recovery in intertidal pools: maintenance of mosaic patterns. *Ecological monographs*, *54*(1), pp.99-118.

Dong, Y.W., Huang, X.W., Wang, W., Li, Y. and Wang, J., 2016. The marine 'great wall' of China: local-and broad-scale ecological impacts of coastal infrastructure on intertidal macrobenthic communities. *Diversity and Distributions*, *22*(7), pp.731-744.

Ducrotoy, J.P.A. and Simpson, S.D., 2001. Developments in the application of photography to ecological monitoring, with reference to algal beds. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, *11*(2), pp.123-135.

Dumont, C.P., Gaymer, C.F. and Thiel, M., 2011. Predation contributes to invasion resistance of benthic communities against the non-indigenous tunicate Ciona intestinalis. *Biological Invasions*, *13*(9), pp.2023-2034.

Dytham, C. 2011. Choosing and using statistics: a biologist's guide, John Wiley & Sons.

East Riding Of Yorkshire Council, 2006. Coastal Explorer Coastal Information Pack: Chapter 4 Defending the East Riding Coastline.

East Riding Of Yorkshire Council, 2017. Defending the East Riding Coastline.

Elias, S.A., 2018. Greatly Increased CO2. London: Elsevier.

Elliott, M., J. Hargreaves, and S. Pilgrim. 2012. UK sea fisheries statistics 2011. National Statistics report for the Marine Management Organisation. pp. 140.

Emery, K.O. and Kuhn, G.G., 1982. Sea cliffs: their processes, profiles, and classification. *Geological Society of America Bulletin*, *93*(7), pp.644-654.

Environment Agency, 2015. "Strategy Appraisal Report: Runswick Bay Coastal Strategy." [Online] *Environment Agency*. Available at:

http://www.northeastcoastalobservatory.org.uk/data/Reports/index.php?link=&dla=downloa d&id=223&cat=45/Runswick%20Bay%20Strategy\_Final\_LPRG\_approved\_issue%2007\_StAR.pdf [Accessed 16 Feb 2019].

Evans, A.J., Firth, L.B., Hawkins, S.J., Hall, A.E., Ironside, J.E., Thompson, R.C. and Moore, P.J., 2019. From ocean sprawl to blue-green infrastructure–A UK perspective on an issue of global significance. *Environmental Science & Policy*, *91*, pp.60-69.
Evans, A.J., Firth, L.B., Hawkins, S.J., Morris, E.S., Goudge, H. and Moore, P.J. 2016. Drill-cored rock pools: an effective method of ecological enhancement on artificial structures. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, *67*, 123-130.

Evans, A.J., Garrod, B., Firth, L.B., Hawkins, S.J., Morris-Webb, E.S., Goudge, H. and Moore, P.J., 2017. Stakeholder priorities for multi-functional coastal defence developments and steps to effective implementation. *Marine Policy*, *75*, pp.143-155.

Fell, S.C., Carrivick, J.L. and Brown, L.E., 2017. The multitrophic effects of climate change and glacier retreat in mountain rivers. *BioScience*, *67*(10), pp.897-911.

Finlay, J.A., Fletcher, B.R., Callow, M.E. and Callow, J.A., 2008. Effect of background colour on growth and adhesion strength of Ulva sporelings. *Biofouling*, *24*(3), pp.219-225.

Firth, L., Thompson, R., Bohn, K., Abbiati, M., Airoldi, L., Bouma, T., Bozzeda, F., Ceccherelli, V., Colangelo, M. and Evans, A. 2014. Between a rock and a hard place: environmental and engineering considerations when designing coastal defence structures. *Coastal Engineering*, *87*, 122-135.

Firth, L.B. and Hawkins, S.J. 2011. Global change in marine ecosystems: Patterns, processes and interactions with regional and local scale impacts. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*.

Firth, L.B., Airoldi, L., Bulleri, F., Challinor, S., Chee, S.Y., Evans, A.J., Hanley, M.E., Knights, A.M., O'shaughnessy, K., Thompson, R.C. and Hawkins, S.J., 2020. Greening of grey infrastructure should not be used as a Trojan horse to facilitate coastal development. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *57*(9), pp.1762-1768.

Firth, L.B., Browne, K.A., Knights, A.M., Hawkins, S.J. and Nash, R. 2016a. Eco-engineered rock pools: a concrete solution to biodiversity loss and urban sprawl in the marine environment. *Environmental Research Letters*, *11*, 94-15.

Firth, L.B., Knights, A.M., Bridger, D., Evans, A.J., Mieszkowska, N., Moore, P.J., O'connor, N.E., Sheehan, E.V., Thompson, R.C. and Hawkins, S.J. 2016b. Ocean sprawl: challenges and opportunities for biodiversity management in a changing world. *Oceanography and Marine Biology*. CRC Press.

Firth, L.B., Mieszkowska, N., Thompson, R.C. and Hawkins, S.J., 2013b. Climate change and adaptational impacts in coastal systems: the case of sea defences. *Environmental Science: Processes & Impacts*, *15*(9), pp.1665-1670.

Firth, L.B., Thompson, R.C., White, F.J., Schofield, M., Skov, M.W., Hoggart, S.P.G., Jackson, J., Knights, A.M. and Hawkins, S.J. 2013a. The importance of water-retaining features for biodiversity on artificial intertidal coastal defence structures. *Diversity and Distributions*, *19*, 1275-1283.

Firth, L.B., White, F.J., Schofield, M., Hanley, M.E., Burrows, M.T., Thompson, R.C., Skov, M.W., Evans, A.J., Moore, P.J. and Hawkins, S.J., 2016c. Facing the future: the importance of

substratum features for ecological engineering of artificial habitats in the rocky intertidal. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, *67*(1), pp.131-143.

Fletcher, R.L. and Callow, M.E., 1992. The settlement, attachment and establishment of marine algal spores. *British phycological journal*, *27*(3), pp.303-329.

Forrest, B.M., Fletcher, L.M., Atalah, J., Piola, R.F. and Hopkins, G.A., 2013. Predation limits spread of Didemnum vexillum into natural habitats from refuges on anthropogenic structures. *PLoS One*, *8*(12), p.e82229.

Foster, M.S., Nigg, E.W., Kiguchi, L.M., Hardin, D.D. and Pearse, J.S., 2003. Temporal variation and succession in an algal-dominated high intertidal assemblage. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *289*(1), pp.15-39.

Fowler, J., Cohen, L. and Jarvis, P. 2013. Practical statistics for field biology, John Wiley & Sons.

Franco, J.N., Wernberg, T., Bertocci, I., Duarte, P., Jacinto, D., Vasco-Rodrigues, N. and Tuya, F., 2015. Herbivory drives kelp recruits into 'hiding' in a warm ocean climate. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *536*, pp.1-9.

Fraser, C.M., Seebacher, F., Lathlean, J. and Coleman, R.A., 2016. Facing the heat: does desiccation and thermal stress explain patterns of orientation in an intertidal invertebrate?. *PloS one*, *11*(3), p.e0150200.

Frederikse, T., Landerer, F., Caron, L., Adhikari, S., Parkes, D., Humphrey, V., Dangendorf, S., Hogarth, P., Zanna, L., Cheng, L. and Wu, Y.C., 2020, May. The causes of sea-level rise since 1900. In *EGU General Assembly Conference Abstracts* (p. 7907).

Frederiksen, H.B., Kraglund, H.O. and Ekelund, F., 2001. Microfaunal primary succession on the of Surtsey, Iceland. *Polar Research*, *20*(1), pp.61-73.

Fretter, V. and Graham, A., 1962. British prosobranch molluscs. Their functional anatomy and ecology. *British prosobranch molluscs. Their functional anatomy and ecology.* 

Fretter, V. and Manly, R., 1977. The settlement and early benthic life of Littorina neritoides (L.) at Wembury, S. Devon. *Journal of Molluscan Studies*, *43*(3), pp.255-262.

Friedman, A., Pizarro, O., Williams, S.B. and Johnson-Roberson, M., 2012. Multi-scale measures of rugosity, slope and aspect from benthic stereo image reconstructions. *PloS one*, *7*(12), p.e50440.

Gacia, E., Satta, M.P. and Martín, D., 2007. Low crested coastal defence structures on the Catalan coast of the Mediterranean Sea: how they compare with natural rocky shores. *Scientia Marina*, *71*(2), pp.259-267.

Gaines, S.D. and Denny, M.W., 2007. *Encyclopedia of tidepools and rocky shores* (No. 1). University of California Press.

Gee, J.M. and Warwick, R.M., 1994. Metazoan community structure in relation to the fractal dimensions of marine macroalgae. *Marine ecology progress series*, pp.141-150.

Gefaell, J., Varela, N. and Rolán-Alvarez, E., 2020. Comparing shape along growth trajectories in two marine snail ecotypes of Littorina saxatilis: a test of evolution by paedomorphosis. *Journal of Molluscan Studies*.

Glasby, T.M., 2000. Surface composition and orientation interact to affect subtidal epibiota. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *248*(2), pp.177-190.

Glasby, T.M., Connell, S.D., Holloway, M.G. and Hewitt, C.L., 2007. Nonindigenous biota on artificial structures: could habitat creation facilitate biological invasions? *Marine biology*, *151*(3), pp.887-895.

Goss-Custard, S., Jones, J., Kitching, J.A. and Norton, T.A., 1979. Tide pools of Carrigathorna and Barloge Creek. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*. *B, Biological Sciences*, *287*(1016), pp.1-44.

Granhag, L.M., Finlay, J.A., Jonsson, P.R., Callow, J.A. and Callow, M.E., 2004. Roughnessdependent removal of settled spores of the green alga Ulva (syn. Enteromorpha) exposed to hydrodynamic forces from a water jet. *Biofouling*, *20*(2), pp.117-122.

Green, L.A. and Neefus, C.D., 2016. Effects of temperature, light level, and photoperiod on the physiology of Porphyra umbilicalis Kützing from the Northwest Atlantic, a candidate for aquaculture. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, *28*(3), pp.1815-1826.

Hadfield, M.G., 2011. Biofilms and marine invertebrate larvae: what bacteria produce that larvae use to choose settlement sites. *Annual review of marine science*, *3*, pp.453-470.

Haigh, I.D., Nicholls, R.J., Penning-Roswell, E. and Sayers, P., 2020. Impacts of climate change on coastal flooding, relevant to the coastal and marine environment around the UK. *MCCIP Science Review 2020*, pp.546-565.

Hall, A.E., Herbert, R.J., Britton, J.R. and Hull, S.L., 2018. Ecological enhancement techniques to improve habitat heterogeneity on coastal defence structures. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, *210*, 68-78.

Hall, A.E., Herbert, R.J.H., Britton, R.J., Boyd, I. and George, N., 2019. Shelving the Coast With Vertipools: Retrofitting Artificial Rock Pools on Coastal Structures as Mitigation for Coastal Squeeze. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *6*, p.456.

Hanelt, D., Melchersmann, B., Wiencke, C. and Nultsch, W., 1997. Effects of high light stress on photosynthesis of polar macroalgae in relation to depth distribution. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *149*, pp.255-266.

Hanelt, D., Wiencke, C. and Bischof, K., 2003. Photosynthesis in marine macroalgae. In *Photosynthesis in algae* (pp. 413-435). Springer, Dordrecht.

Hanlon, N., Firth, L.B. and Knights, A.M., 2018. Time-dependent effects of orientation, heterogeneity and composition determines benthic biological community recruitment patterns on subtidal artificial structures. *Ecological Engineering*, *122*, pp.219-228.

Hargenrader, C., 2018. The temporal and spatial dynamics of larval supply, settlement, and adult populations of Chthamalus fissus within the La Jolla, California rocky intertidal.

Harley, C.D., Denny, M.W., Mach, K.J. and Miller, L.P., 2009. Thermal stress and morphological adaptations in limpets. *Functional Ecology*, pp.292-301.

Harris, L.G. and Irons, K.P., 1982. Substrate angle and predation as determinants in fouling community succession. *Artificial substrates. Ann Arbor Science, Michigan*, pp.131-174.

Hartmann, D.L., A.M.G. Klein Tank, M. Rusticucci, L.V. Alexander, S. Brönnimann, Y. Charabi, F.J. Dentener, E.J. Dlugokencky, D.R. Easterling, A. Kaplan, B.J. Soden, P.W. Thorne, M. Wild and P.M. Zhai, 2013: Observations: Atmosphere and Surface. In: Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Stocker, T.F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P.M. Midgley (eds.)]. *Cambridge University Press*, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA

Hawkins, S.J., and Hartnoll, R.G., 1985. Factors determining the upper limits of intertidal canopy-forming algae. *Marine Ecology-Progress Series*, *20*, pp.265-271.

Hawkins, S.J., Sugden, H.E., Mieszkowska, N., Moore, P.J., Poloczanska, E., Leaper, R., Herbert, R.J., Genner, M.J., Moschella, P.S., Thompson, R.C. and Jenkins, S.R., 2009. Consequences of climate-driven biodiversity changes for ecosystem functioning of North European rocky shores. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *396*, pp.245-259.

Heery, E.C., Bishop, M.J., Critchley, L.P., Bugnot, A.B., Airoldi, L., Mayer-Pinto, M., Sheehan, E.V., Coleman, R.A., Loke, L.H., Johnston, E.L. and Komyakova, V., 2017. Identifying the consequences of ocean sprawl for sedimentary habitats. *Journal of experimental marine biology and ecology*, *492*, pp.31-48.

Highley, D.E., Hetherington, L.E., Brown, T.J., Harrison, D.J. and Jenkins, G.O. 2007. The strategic importance of the marine aggregate industry to the UK. Nottingham, UK, *British Geological Survey*, 44pp.

Holmes, S.P., Sturgess, C.J. and Davies, M.S., 1997. The effect of rock-type on the settlement of balanus balanoides (L.) cyprids. *Biofouling*, *11*(2), pp.137-147.

Horsburgh, K., Rennie, A. and Palmer, M., 2020. Impacts of climate change on sea-level rise relevant to the coastal and marine environment around the UK. *MCCIP Science Review 2020*, pp.116-131.

Hui, T.Y., Dong, Y.W., Han, G.D., Lau, S.L., Cheng, M.C., Meepoka, C., Ganmanee, M. and Williams, G.A., 2020. Timing metabolic depression: predicting thermal stress in extreme intertidal environments. *The American Naturalist*, *196*(4), pp.501-511.

Hutchinson, N., Nagarkar, S., Aitchison, J. C. and Williams, G. A., 2006. Microspatial variation in marine biofilm abundance on intertidal rock surfaces. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology*, *42*, 187-197.

Ingham, J., 2013. Chapter 2 - Building in stone, In: J. Ingham, ed., *Geomaterials Under the Microscope*, Academic Press, pp.21-50.

Ingólfsson, A., 2006. *The intertidal seashore of Iceland and its animal communities*. Steenstrupia, Zoological Museum, University of Copenhagen.

IPCC, 2013: Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Stocker, T.F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P.M. Midgley (eds.)]. *Cambridge University Press*, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 1535 pp.

ITRC 2004. Making the Case for Ecological Enhancments. Washington, D.C.: Interstate Technology & Regulatory Council and the Wildlife Habitat Council.

Jackson, A.C., Murphy, R.J. and Underwood, A.J., 2013. Biofilms on rocky shores: Influences of rockpools, local moisture and temperature. *Journal of experimental marine biology and ecology*, *443*, pp.46-55.

Jay, S., Ellis, G. and Kidd, S., 2012. Marine spatial planning: a new frontier?. *Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning*, *14*(1), pp.1-5.

JBA Consulting, 2017a. *Runswick Bay Coastal Protection Scheme: Volume 1 Environmental Statement*. Runswick Bay Coastal Protection Scheme. [Online] JBA Consulting. Available at: <a href="https://marinelicensing.marinemanagement.org.uk/mmofox5/fox/live/">https://marinelicensing.marinemanagement.org.uk/mmofox5/fox/live/</a> [Accessed 6 August 2019].

JBA Consulting. 2017b. *Runswick Bay Coastal Protection Scheme Non-Technical Summary*. [Online]. Available at:

https://www.iema.net/assets/nts/JBA\_Consulting/Runswick%20Bay%20Coastal%20Protection %20Scheme%20NTS%20July%202017.pdf [Accessed 17 Feb 2019].

Jenkins, S.R. and Hartnoll, R.G., 2001. Food supply, grazing activity and growth rate in the limpet Patella vulgata L.: a comparison between exposed and sheltered shores. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *258*(1), pp.123-139.

Jenkins, S.R., Åberg, P., Cervin, G., Coleman, R.A., Delany, J., Hawkins, S.J., Hyder, K., Myers, A.A., Paula, J., Power, A.M. and Range, P., 2001. Population dynamics of the intertidal barnacle Semibalanus balanoides at three European locations: spatial scales of variability. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *217*, pp.207-217.

Jenkins, S.R., Hawkins, S.J. and Norton, T.A., 1999. Direct and indirect effects of a macroalgal canopy and limpet grazing in structuring a sheltered inter-tidal community. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *188*, pp.81-92.

Jenkins, S.R., Moore, P., Burrows, M.T., Garbary, D.J., Hawkins, S.J., Ingólfsson, A., Sebens, K.P., Snelgrove, P.V., Wethey, D.S. and Woodin, S.A., 2008a. Comparative ecology of North Atlantic shores: do differences in players matter for process?. *Ecology*, *89*(sp11), pp.S3-S23. Jenkins, S.R., Murua, J. and Burrows, M.T., 2008b. Temporal changes in the strength of densitydependent mortality and growth in intertidal barnacles. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *77*(3), pp.573-584.

Jones, K.M.M. and Boulding, E.G., 1999. State-dependent habitat selection by an intertidal snail: the costs of selecting a physically stressful microhabitat. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 242(2), pp.149-177.

Jonsson, P.R., Granhag, L., Moschella, P.S., Åberg, P., Hawkins, S.J. and Thompson, R.C., 2006. Interactions between wave action and grazing control the distribution of intertidal macroalgae. *Ecology*, *87*(5), pp.1169-1178.

Kalaitzi, N., Boesch, H., Parker, R. and Webb, A., 2019, January. The quantification of anthropogenic CO2 emissions over urban areas using a high resolution dispersion model and satellite observations. In *Geophysical Research Abstracts* (Vol. 21).

Kermode, S.J., Heijnis, H., Wong, H., Zawadzki, A., Gadd, P. and Permana, A., 2016. A Ramsarwetland in suburbia: wetland management in an urbanised, industrialised area. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, *67*(6), pp.771-781.

Keser, M., Vadas, R.L. and Larson, B.R., 1981. Regrowth of Ascophyllum nodosum and Fucus vesiculosus under various harvesting regimes in Maine, USA. *Botanica Marina*, 24(1), pp.29-38.

Kidd, S., 2007. Towards a framework of integration in spatial planning: an exploration from a health perspective. *Planning Theory & Practice*, 8(2), pp.161-181.

Kim, J.H. and Dewreede, R.E., 1996. Effects of size and season of disturbance on algal patch recovery in a rocky intertidal community. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *133*, pp.217-228.

Kim, T.K., 2017. Understanding one-way ANOVA using conceptual figures. *Korean journal of anesthesiology*, *70*(1), p.22.

Knights, A.M., Crowe, T.P. and Burnell, G., 2006. Mechanisms of larval transport: vertical distribution of bivalve larvae varies with tidal conditions. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *326*, pp.167-174.

Knott, N.A., Underwood, A.J., Chapman, M.G. and Glasby, T.M., 2004. Epibiota on vertical and on horizontal surfaces on natural reefs and on artificial structures. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, *84*(6), pp.1117-1130.

Köhler, J., Hansen, P.D. and Wahl, M., 1999. Colonization patterns at the substratum-water interface: How does surface microtopography influence recruitment patterns of sessile organisms?. *Biofouling*, *14*(3), pp.237-248.

Kooistra, W.H.C.F., Joosten, A.M.T. and Van Den Hoek, C., 1989. Zonation Patterns in Intertidal Pools and their Possible Causes: A Multivariate Approach. *Botanica Marina*, *32*(1), pp.9-26.

Kovalenko, K.E., Thomaz, S.M. and Warfe, D.M. 2012. Habitat complexity: approaches and future directions. *Hydrobiologia*, *685*, 1-17.

Lane, K., Charles-Guzman, K., Wheeler, K., Abid, Z., Graber, N. and Matte, T. 2013. Health effects of coastal storms and flooding in urban areas: a review and vulnerability assessment. *Journal of environmental and public health*, 2013.

Langhamer, O. and Wilhelmsson, D., 2009. Colonisation of fish and crabs of wave energy foundations and the effects of manufactured holes—a field experiment. *Marine environmental research*, *68*(4), pp.151-157.

Latham, D., Siddle, R., Donoghue, M., Halwyn, A., Hall, A. and Hull, S., 2020. Managing Ecological, Community and Bathing Water Quality Aspects in Design and Construction: Runswick Bay Coastal Protection Scheme, UK. In *Coastal Management 2019: Joining forces to shape our future coasts* (pp. 447-458). ICE Publishing.

Laure, M.L.N., Griffin, J.N., Moschella, P.S., Jenkins, S.R., Thompson, R.C. and Hawkins, S.J., 2009. Changes in diversity and ecosystem functioning during succession. In *Marine Hard Bottom Communities* (pp. 213-223). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.

Lee, J.R., Raymond, B., Bracegirdle, T.J., Chadès, I., Fuller, R.A., Shaw, J.D. and Terauds, A., 2017. Climate change drives expansion of Antarctic ice-free habitat. *Nature*, *547*(7661), pp.49-54.

Legendre, P. and Gallagher, E.D. 2001. Ecologically meaningful transformations for ordination of species data. *Oecologia*, *129*, 271-280.

Lewis, J.R. and Bowman, R.S., 1975. Local habitat-induced variations in the population dynamics of Patella vulgata L. *Journal of experimental marine Biology and Ecology*, *17*(2), pp.165-203.

Liversage, K. and Benkendorff, K., 2013. A preliminary investigation of diversity, abundance, and distributional patterns of chitons in intertidal boulder fields of differing rock type in South Australia. *Molluscan Research*, *33*(1), pp.24-33.

Liversage, K. And Chapman, M., 2018. Coastal ecological engineering and habitat restoration: incorporating biologically diverse boulder habitat. *Marine Ecology Progress Series, 593*, 173-185.

Loke, L.H., Bouma, T.J. and Todd, P.A., 2017. The effects of manipulating microhabitat size and variability on tropical seawall biodiversity: field and flume experiments. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *492*, pp.113-120.

Loke, L.H., Heery, E.C. and Todd, P.A., 2019. Shoreline defenses. In *World seas: an environmental evaluation* (pp. 491-504). Academic Press.

Long, C.J., Finlay, J.A., Callow, M.E., Callow, J.A. and Brennan, A.B., 2010. Engineered antifouling microtopographies: mapping preferential and inhibitory microenvironments for zoospore attachment. *Biofouling*, *26*(8), pp.941-952.

Løvås, S.M. and Tørum, A., 2001. Effect of the kelp Laminaria hyperborea upon sand dune erosion and water particle velocities. *Coastal Engineering*, 44(1), pp.37-63.

Lowe, J., Gregory, J. M. and Flather, R., 2001. Changes in the occurrence of storm surges around the United Kingdom under a future climate scenario using a dynamic storm surge model driven by the Hadley Centre climate models. *Climate dynamics, 18*, 179-188.

Lowe, J.A., Howard, T.P., Pardaens, A., Tinker, J., Holt, J., Wakelin, S., Milne, G., Leake, J., Wolf, J., Horsburgh, K. and Reeder, T., 2009. Marine and coastal projections UK Climate Projections science report. *Met Off Hadley Centre Exeter UK*.

Lubchenco, J., 1982. Effects Of Grazers And Algal Competitors On Fucoid Colonization In Tide Pools 1. *Journal of Phycology*, *18*(4), pp.544-550.

Luckhurst, B.E. and Luckhurst, K., 1978. Analysis of the influence of substrate variables on coral reef fish communities. *Marine Biology*, *49*(4), pp.317-323.

Lund-Hansen, L.C., Hawes, I., Nielsen, M.H. and Sorrell, B.K., 2017. Is colonization of sea ice by diatoms facilitated by increased surface roughness in growing ice crystals?. *Polar Biology*, *40*(3), pp.593-602.

Macarthur, M., Naylor, L.A., Hansom, J.D. and Burrows, M.T., 2020. Ecological enhancement of coastal engineering structures: Passive enhancement techniques. *Science of the Total Environment*, *740*, p.139981.

Macarthur, M., Naylor, L.A., Hansom, J.D., Burrows, M.T. and Boyd, I., 2018. *Ecological Enhancement of Coastal Infrastructure.* In Coasts, Marine Structures and Breakwaters 2017: Realising the Potential (pp. 279-282). ICE Publishing.

Macarthur, M., Naylor, L.A., Hansom, J.D., Burrows, M.T., Loke, L.H. and Boyd, I., 2019. Maximising the ecological value of hard coastal structures using textured formliners. *Ecological Engineering: X*, *1*, p.100002.

Mancini, R., Cardu, M., Fomaro, M. and Lovera, E., 2001. Technological and economic evolution of diamond wire use in granite or similar stone quarries. In *17th Internationa Mining Congress and Exhibition of Turkey-IMCET2001. Ankara, Turkey* (pp. 543-548).

Martin, T.G. and Watson, J.E., 2016. Intact ecosystems provide best defence against climate change. *Nature Climate Change*, *6*(2), pp.122-124.

Martins, G.M., Hawkins, S.J., Thompson, R.C. and Jenkins, S.R., 2007. Community structure and functioning in intertidal rock pools: effects of pool size and shore height at different successional stages. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *329*, pp.43-55.

Martins, G.M., Thompson, R.C., Neto, A.I., Hawkins, S.J. and Jenkins, S.R., 2010. Enhancing stocks of the exploited limpet Patella candei d'Orbigny via modifications in coastal engineering. *Biological Conservation*, *143*(1), pp.203-211.

Masselink, G., Russell, P., Rennie, A., Brooks, S. and Spencer, T., 2020. Impacts of climate change on coastal geomorphology and coastal erosion relevant to the coastal and marine environment around the UK. *MCCIP Science Review*, *2020*, pp.158-189.

Matthews, T., Murphy, C., Wilby, R. L. and Harrigan, S. 2014. Stormiest winter on record for Ireland and UK. *Nature Climate Change*, *4*, 738.

Mccoy, E.D. and Bell, S.S., 1991. Habitat structure: the evolution and diversification of a complex topic. In *Habitat structure* (pp. 3-27). Springer, Dordrecht.

Mcglashan, D. J. and Williams, E. 2003. Stakeholder involvement in coastal decision-making processes. *Local Environment*, *8*(1), 85-94.

Mcguinness, K.A. and Underwood, A.J., 1986. Habitat structure and the nature of communities on intertidal boulders. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *104*(1-3), pp.97-123.

Mcguinness, K.A., 1984. Species-area relations of communities on intertidal boulders: testing the null hypothesis. *Journal of Biogeography*, pp.439-456.

Mckindsey, C.W., Archambault, P., Callier, M.D. and Olivier, F., 2011. Influence of suspended and off-bottom mussel culture on the sea bottom and benthic habitats: a review. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, *89*(7), pp.622-646.

Mcnair, J.N., Newbold, J.D. and Hart, D.D., 1997. Turbulent transport of suspended particles and dispersing benthic organisms: how long to hit bottom?. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, *188*(1), pp.29-52.

Mcquaid, C.D. and Lindsay, J.R., 2005. Interacting effects of wave exposure, tidal height and substratum on spatial variation in densities of mussel Perna perna plantigrades. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *301*, pp.173-184.

Mendonça, V., Flores, A.A., Silva, A.C. and Vinagre, C., 2019. Do marine fish juveniles use intertidal tide pools as feeding grounds?. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, *225*, p.106255.

Menge, B.A. and Farrell, T.M., 1989. Community structure and interaction webs in shallow marine hard-bottom communities: tests of an environmental stress model. In *Advances in ecological research* (Vol. 19, pp. 189-262). Academic Press.

Miller, R.J. and Etter, R.J., 2008. Shading facilitates sessile invertebrate dominance in the rocky subtidal Gulf of Maine. *Ecology*, *89*(2), pp.452-462.

Minchinton, T.E. and Scheibling, R.E., 1993. Free-space availability and larval substratum selection as determinants of barnacle population-structure in a developing rocky intertidal community. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*.

Mineur, F., Cook, E. J., Minchin, D., Bohn, K., Macleod, A. and Maggs, C. A., 2012. Changing coasts: Marine aliens and artificial structures. *Oceanography and marine biology*. CRC Press.

MINITAB 17 Statistical Software, 2010. [Computer software]. State College, PA: Minitab, Inc. Available at: <u>www.minitab.com</u>

Moore, H.B., 1937. The biology of Littorina littorea. Part I. Growth of the shell and tissues, spawning, length of life and mortality. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, *21*(2), pp.721-742.

Moschella, P., Abbiati, M., Åberg, P., Airoldi, L., Anderson, J., Bacchiocchi, F., Bulleri, F., Dinesen, G. E., Frost, M. and Gacia, E., 2005. Low-crested coastal defence structures as artificial habitats for marine life: using ecological criteria in design. *Coastal Engineering*, *52*, 1053-1071.

Natural England, 2018. "Designated Sites: Runswick Bay MCZ." [Online] Natural England. Available at:

https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/Marine/MarineSiteDetail.aspx?SiteCode=UKMC Z0039&SiteName=runswick&countyCode=&responsiblePerson=&SeaArea=&IFCAArea= = [Accessed 19 Feb 2019].

Natural England, 2018. "Designated Sites: Runswick Bay SSSI Designation." [Online] Natural England. Available at:

https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/SiteDetail.aspx?SiteCode=S1003689&SiteName =Bay&countyCode=30&responsiblePerson=&SeaArea=&IFCAArea= [Accessed 16 Feb 2019].

Naylor, L.A., Coombes, M.A., Venn, O., Roast, S.D. and Thompson, R.C., 2012. Facilitating ecological enhancement of coastal infrastructure: the role of policy, people and planning. *Environmental Science & Policy*, *22*, pp.36-46.

Neumann, B., Vafeidis, A.T., Zimmermann, J. and Nicholls, R.J., 2015a. Future coastal population growth and exposure to sea-level rise and coastal flooding-a global assessment. *PloS one*, 10, e0118571.

Neumann, J.E., Emanuel, K., Ravela, S., Ludwig, L., Kirshen, P., Bosma, K. and Martinich, J., 2015b. Joint effects of storm surge and sea-level rise on US Coasts: new economic estimates of impacts, adaptation, and benefits of mitigation policy. *Climatic Change*, *129*, 337-349.

Newell, R. C. (1979). Biology of Intertidal Organisms, Marine Ecological Surveys, Ltd, Sittingbourne

Newell, R.C., 1979. Biology of intertidal animals. Marine ecological surveys. *Faversham, Kent, UK*.

Niell, F.X. and Varela, M., 1984. Initial colonization stages on rocky coastal substrates. *Marine Ecology*, *5*(1), pp.45-56.

Nishihara, G.N. and Terada, R., 2010. Species richness of marine macrophytes is correlated to a wave exposure gradient. *Phycological Research*, *58*(4), pp.280-292.

Noda, T., Fukushima, K. and Mori, T., 1998. Daily settlement variability of the barnacle Semibalanus cariosus: importance of physical factors and density-dependent processes. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *169*, pp.289-293.

O'shaughnessy, K.A., Hawkins, S.J., Evans, A.J., Hanley, M.E., Lunt, P., Thompson, R.C., Francis, R.A., Hoggart, S.P., Moore, P.J., Iglesias, G. and Simmonds, D., 2020. Design catalogue for ecoengineering of coastal artificial structures: a multifunctional approach for stakeholders and end-users. *Urban Ecosystems*, *23*(2), pp.431-443.

Oehlert, G. W., 2010. A first course in design and analysis of experiments.

Overland, J., Dunlea, E., Box, J.E., Corell, R., Forsius, M., Kattsov, V., Olsen, M.S., Pawlak, J., Reiersen, L.O. and Wang, M., 2019. The urgency of Arctic change. *Polar Science*, *21*, pp.6-13.

Oziel, L., Baudena, A., Ardyna, M., Massicotte, P., Randelhoff, A., Sallée, J.B., Ingvaldsen, R.B., Devred, E. and Babin, M., 2020. Faster Atlantic currents drive poleward expansion of temperate phytoplankton in the Arctic Ocean. *Nature communications*, *11*(1), pp.1-8.

Padilla, D.K., 1985. Structural resistance of algae to herbivores. *Marine Biology*, *90*(1), pp.103-109.

Pardo, L.M. and Johnson, L.E., 2004. Activity and shelter use of an intertidal snail: effects of sex, reproductive condition and tidal cycle. Journal of Experimental *Marine Biology and Ecology, 301*, 175-191.

Park, S.R., Kang, Y.H. and Choi, C.G., 2011. Biofilm: a crucial factor affecting the settlement of seaweed on intertidal rocky surfaces. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, *91*(1), pp.163-167.

Perkins, M.J., Ng, T.P., Dudgeon, D., Bonebrake, T.C. and Leung, K.M., 2015. Conserving intertidal habitats: what is the potential of ecological engineering to mitigate impacts of coastal structures? *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 167*, 504-515.

Perkol-Finkel, S., Shashar, N., Barneah, O., Ben-David-Zaslow, R., Oren, U., Reichart, T., Yacobovich, T., Yahel, G., Yahel, R. and Benayahu, Y., 2005. Fouling reefal communities on artificial reefs: does age matter?. *Biofouling*, *21*(2), pp.127-140.

Petersen, D.S., Gorb, S.N. and Heepe, L., 2020. The influence of material and roughness on the settlement and the adhesive strength of the barnacle Balanus improvisus in the Baltic Sea. *Frontiers in Marine Science*.

Pickett, S.T., Kolasa, J. and Jones, C.G., 2010. Ecological understanding: the nature of theory and the theory of nature. *Elsevier*.

Pinn, E.H., Mitchell, K. and Corkill, J., 2005. The assemblages of groynes in relation to substratum age, aspect and microhabitat. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, *62*(1-2), pp.271-282.

Pister, B., 2009. Urban marine ecology in southern California: the ability of riprap structures to serve as rocky intertidal habitat. *Marine Biology*, *156*, 861-873.

Poppick, A., Moyer, E.J. and Stein, M.L., 2017. Estimating trends in the global mean temperature record. *Advances in Statistical Climatology, Meteorology and Oceanography*, *3*(1), pp.33-53.

Preston, A. And Moore, P.G., 1988. The flora and fauna associated with Cladophora albida (Huds.) Kütz. from rockpools on Great Cumbrae Island, Scotland. *Ophelia*, *29*(3), pp.169-186.

Pye, K. and Blott, S., 2015. Spatial and temporal variations in soft-cliff erosion along the Holderness coast, East Riding of Yorkshire, UK. *Journal of coastal conservation*, **19**, 785-808.

Quante, M. and Colijn, F., 2016. North Sea Region Climate Change Assessment. Springer, doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-39745-0

Quintano, E., Díez, I., Muguerza, N., Santolaria, A. and Gorostiaga, J.M., 2015. Epiphytic flora on Gelidium corneum (Rhodophyta: Gelidiales) in relation to wave exposure and depth. *Scientia Marina*, *79*(4), pp.479-486.

R Core Team, 2019. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Available online: <u>http://www.R-project.org/</u> [Accessed October 2019].

Ramos, E., De Terán, J.R.D., Puente, A. and Juanes, J.A., 2016. The role of geomorphology in the distribution of intertidal rocky macroalgae in the NE Atlantic region. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 179, pp.90-98.

Reeve, D., Chadwick, A. and Fleming, C., 2012. Conceptual and detailed design. In: *Coastal Engineering Processes, Theory and Design Practice*, 2nd ed. London: CRC Press.Coastal engineering: processes, theory and design practice. CRC Press, pp.

Reid, D.G., 1996. Systematics and evolution of Littorina. *The Ray Society, Andover, Hampshire, UK*, pp.95-120.

Reis, B., van der Linden, P., Pinto, I.S., Almada, E., Borges, M.T., Hall, A.E., Stafford, R., Herbert, R.J., Lobo-Arteaga, J., Gaudêncio, M.J. and Tuaty-Guerra, M., 2021. Artificial reefs in the North-East Atlantic area: present situation, knowledge gaps and future perspectives.

Rossby, T., 1996. The North Atlantic Current and surrounding waters: At the crossroads. *Reviews of Geophysics*, *34*(4), pp.463-481.

Ruiz, G.M., Freestone, A.L., Fofonoff, P.W. and Simkanin, C., 2009. Habitat distribution and heterogeneity in marine invasion dynamics: the importance of hard substrate and artificial structure. In *Marine hard bottom communities* (pp. 321-332). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.

Rumson, A.G. and Hallett, S.H., 2018. Opening up the coast. *Ocean & Coastal Management, 160*, 133-145.

Sadchatheeswaran, S., Branch, G.M., Moloney, C.L. and Robinson, T.B., 2018. Impacts of alien 'ecosystem engineers' overwhelm interannual and seasonal shifts in rocky-shore community composition on Marcus Island, South Africa. *African Journal of Marine Science*, *40*(2), pp.137-147.

Saier, B., 2000. Age-dependent zonation of the periwinkle Littorina littorea (L.) in the Wadden Sea. *Helgoland Marine Research*, *54*(4), pp.224-229.

Salman, A., Lombardo, S. and Doody, P., 2004. Living with coastal erosion in Europe: Sediment and Space for Sustainability. Eurosion project reports.

Salta, M., Wharton, J. A., Blache, Y., Stokes, K. R. and Briand, J. F., 2013. Marine biofilms on artificial surfaces: structure and dynamics. *Environmental microbiology*, *15*, 2879-2893.

Satuito, C.G., Shimizu, K. and Fusetani, N., 1997. Studies on the factors influencing larval settlement in Balanus amphitrite and Mytilus galloprovincialis. *Hydrobiologia*, *358*(1), pp.275-280.

Sayers, P.B., Horritt, M., Penning-Rowsell, E. and Mckenzie, A., 2015. Climate Change Risk Assessment 2017: Projections of future flood risk in the UK. *Research undertaken by Sayers and Partners on behalf of the Committee on Climate Change. Published by Committee on Climate Change, London*.

Scarborough Borough Council, 2010. Coast Protection Assets and Coastal Condition Analysis.

Scarborough Borough Council, 2019. *Runswick Bay Coastal Defence Scheme*. [Online]. Scarborough.gov.uk. . [Accessed 18.4.2019].

Schaefer, N., Dafforn, K.A., Johnston, E.L. and Mayer-Pinto, M., 2019. Corrigendum to: Size, depth and position affect the diversity and structure of rock pool communities in an urban estuary. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, *70*(7), pp.1045-1045.

Schonbeck, M.W. and Norton, T.A., 1980. Factors controlling the lower limits of fucoid algae on the shore. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *43*(2), pp.131-150.

Scrosati, R.A. and Ellrich, J.A., 2018. Thermal moderation of the intertidal zone by seaweed canopies in winter. *Marine Biology*, *165*(7), p.115.

Seager, R., Battisti, D.S., Yin, J., Gordon, N., Naik, N., Clement, A.C. and Cane, M.A., 2002. Is the Gulf Stream responsible for Europe's mild winters?. *Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society: A journal of the atmospheric sciences, applied meteorology and physical oceanography*, *128*(586), pp.2563-2586.

Sedano, F., Florido, M., Rallis, I., Espinosa, F. and Gerovasileiou, V., 2019. Comparing sessile benthos on shallow artificial versus natural hard substrates in the Eastern Mediterranean Sea. *Mediterranean Marine Science*, *20*(4), pp.688-702.

Sedano, F., Navarro-Barranco, C., Guerra-García, J.M. and Espinosa, F., 2020. Understanding the effects of coastal defence structures on marine biota: The role of substrate composition and roughness in structuring sessile, macro-and meiofaunal communities. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, *157*, p.111334.

Sella, I. and Perkol-Finkel, S., 2015. Blue is the new green–ecological enhancement of concrete based coastal and marine infrastructure. *Ecological Engineering*, *84*, 260-272.

Sempere-Valverde, J., Ostalé-Valriberas, E., Farfán, G.M. and Espinosa, F., 2018. Substratum type affects recruitment and development of marine assemblages over artificial substrata: A case study in the Alboran Sea. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, 204*, pp.56-65.

Showstack, R., 2013. Carbon dioxide tops 400 ppm at Mauna Loa, Hawaii. *Eos, Transactions American Geophysical Union*, *94*(21), pp.192-192.

Skov, M.W., Hawkins, S.J., Volkelt-Igoe, M., Pike, J., Thompson, R.C. and Doncaster, C.P., 2011. Patchiness in resource distribution mitigates habitat loss: insights from high-shore grazers. *Ecosphere*, *2*, 1-17.

Slangen, A.B., Church, J.A., Agosta, C., Fettweis, X., Marzeion, B. and Richter, K., 2016. Anthropogenic forcing dominates global mean sea-level rise since 1970. *Nature Climate Change*, *6*(7), pp.701-705.

Smale, D.A., Burrows, M.T., Moore, P., O'Connor, N. and Hawkins, S.J., 2013. Threats and knowledge gaps for ecosystem services provided by kelp forests: a northeast A tlantic perspective. *Ecology and evolution*, *3*(11), pp.4016-4038.

Smith, F.G.W., 1935. III-The development of Patella Vulgata. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, *Biological Sciences*, *225*(520), pp.95-125.

Somero, G.N., 2002. Thermal physiology and vertical zonation of intertidal animals: optima, limits, and costs of living. *Integrative and comparative biology*, *42*(4), pp.780-789.

Sousa, W.P., and Connell, J.H., 1992. Grazing and succession in marine algae . In: John DM , Hawkins SJ , Price JH (eds) Plant-animal interactions in the marine benthos . Oxford University Press , New York , pp 425 – 441.

Spellerberg, I.F. and Fedor, P.J., 2003. A tribute to Claude Shannon (1916–2001) and a plea for more rigorous use of species richness, species diversity and the 'Shannon–Wiener'Index. *Global ecology and biogeography*, *12*(3), pp.177-179.

Spooner, P.T., Thornalley, D.J., Oppo, D.W., Fox, A.D., Radionovskaya, S., Rose, N.L., Mallett, R., Cooper, E. and Roberts, J.M., 2020. Exceptional 20th century ocean circulation in the northeast Atlantic. *Geophysical Research Letters*, *47*(10), p.e2020GL087577.

Steneck, R.S. and Dethier, M.N. 1994. A functional group approach to the structure of algaldominated communities. *Oikos, 69*, 476-498.

Strain, E.M., Olabarria, C., Mayer-Pinto, M., Cumbo, V., Morris, R.L., Bugnot, A.B., Dafforn, K.A., Heery, E., Firth, L.B., Brooks, P.R. and Bishop, M.J., 2018. Eco-engineering urban infrastructure for marine and coastal biodiversity: which interventions have the greatest ecological benefit?. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *55*(1), pp.426-441.

Sueiro, M.C., Bortolus, A. and Schwindt, E. 2011. Habitat complexity and community composition: relationships between different ecosystem engineers and the associated macroinvertebrate assemblages. *Helgoland Marine Research*, *65*, 467.

Sweat, L.H. and Johnson, K.B., 2013. The effects of fine-scale substratum roughness on diatom community structure in estuarine biofilms. *Biofouling*, *29*(8), pp.879-890.

Thomalla, F. and Vincent, C. 2003. Beach response to shore-parallel breakwaters at Sea Palling, Norfolk, UK. *Estuarine, coastal and shelf science, 56*, 203-212.

Thompson, G.B., 1980. Distribution and population dynamics of the limpet Patella vulgata L. in Bantry Bay. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *45*(2), pp.173-217.

Thompson, R., Crowe, T. and Hawkins, S. 2002. Rocky intertidal communities: past environmental changes, present status and predictions for the next 25 years. *Environmental Conservation, 29*, 168-191.

Thompson, R.C., Wilson, B.J., Tobin, M.L., Hill, A.S. and Hawkins, S.J., 1996. Biologically generated habitat provision and diversity of rocky shore organisms at a hierarchy of spatial scales. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, *202*(1), pp.73-84.

Thomsen, M.S., Hildebrand, T., South, P.M., Foster, T., Siciliano, A., Oldach, E. and Schiel, D.R., 2016. A sixth-level habitat cascade increases biodiversity in an intertidal estuary. *Ecology and evolution*, *6*, 8291-8303.

Thorne, C. 2014. Geographies of UK flooding in 2013/4. *The Geographical Journal, 180*, 297-309.

Thorson, G.A., 1946. Reproduction and Larval Development of Danish Marine Bottom Invertebrates, with Special Reference to the Planktonic Larva in the Sound, Øresund. København.

Troch, P., Mollaert, J., Peelman, S., Victor, L., Van Der Meer, J., Gallach-Sánchez, D. and Kortenhaus, A., 2014. Experimental study of overtopping performance for the cases of very steep slopes and vertical walls with very small freeboards. In *Proceedings of the 34th International Conference on Coastal Engineering* (Vol. 138).

Turner, R.K., Lorenzoni, I., Beaumont, N., Bateman, I.J., Langford, I.H. and Mcdonald, A.L. 1998. Coastal management for sustainable development: analysing environmental and socioeconomic changes on the UK coast. *Geographical Journal*, 269-281.

UKMMAS 2010. Charting Progress 2 Feeder Report Productive Seas. In: SAUNDERS, J. A. M., J. (ed.) Charting Progress.

Underwood, A.J. and Chapman, M.G., 1998. Variation in algal assemblages on wave-exposed rocky shores in New South Wales. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, *49*(3), pp.241-254.

Underwood, A.J. and Jernakoff, P., 1984. The effects of tidal height, wave-exposure, seasonality and rock-pools on grazing and the distribution of intertidal macroalgae in New South Wales. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 75*(1), pp.71-96.

UNEP, 2002. Percent of the population living within 100 kilometers from the coast.

Vousdoukas, M.I., Voukouvalas, E., Annunziato, A., Giardino, A. and Feyen, L. 2016. Projections of extreme storm surge levels along Europe. *Climate Dynamics*, *47*, 3171-3190.

Wahl, M. and Hoppe, K., 2002. Interactions between substratum rugosity, colonization density and periwinkle grazing efficiency. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *225*, pp.239-249.

Wahl, M., 1989. Marine epibiosis. I. Fouling and antifouling: some basic aspects. *Marine ecology progress series*, *58*, pp.175-189.

Walters, L.J. and Wethey, D.S., 1996. Settlement and early post-settlement survival of sessile marine invertebrates on topographically complex surfaces: the importance of refuge dimensions and adult morphology. *Marine Ecology Progress Series, 137*, 161-171.

Waltham, N.J. and Sheaves, M., 2018. Eco-engineering rock pools to a seawall in a tropical estuary: microhabitat features and fine sediment accumulation. *Ecological Engineering*, *120*, pp.631-636.

White, N., 2008a. *Fucus spiralis* Spiral wrack. In Tyler-Walters H. and Hiscock K. (eds) *Marine Life Information Network: Biology and Sensitivity Key Information Reviews*, [on-line]. Plymouth: Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom. Available from: <u>https://www.marlin.ac.uk/species/detail/1337</u>

White, N., 2008b. *Fucus vesiculosus* Bladder wrack. In Tyler-Walters H. and Hiscock K. (eds) *Marine Life Information Network: Biology and Sensitivity Key Information Reviews*, [on-line]. Plymouth: Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom. Available from: <u>https://www.marlin.ac.uk/species/detail/1330</u>

Whitman, E.R. and Reidenbach, M.A., 2012. Benthic flow environments affect recruitment of Crassostrea virginica larvae to an intertidal oyster reef. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 463, pp.177-191.

Whorff, J.S., Whorff, L.L. and Sweet, M.H., 1995. Spatial variation in an algal turf community with respect to substratum slope and wave height. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, *75*(2), pp.429-444.

Williams, E.E., 1964. The growth and distribution of Littorina littorea (L.) on a rocky shore in Wales. *The Journal of Animal Ecology*, pp.413-432.

Wolf, J., Woolf, D. and Bricheno, L., 2020. Impacts of climate change on storms and waves relevant to the coastal and marine environment around the UK. *MCCIP Science Review*, 2020, pp.132-157.

Woodworth, P.L., Teferle, F.N., Bingley, R.M., Shennan, I. and Williams, S.D.P., 2009. Trends in UK mean sea level revisited. *Geophysical Journal International*, *176*(1), pp.19-30.

Wright, L.D., Syvitski, J.P.M. and Nichols, C.R., 2019. Sea level rise: Recent trends and future projections. In *Tomorrow's Coasts: Complex and Impermanent* (pp. 47-57). Springer, Cham.

Yarahmadi, R., Bagherpour, R., Khademian, A., Sousa, L.M., Almasi, S.N. and Esfahani, M.M., 2019. Determining the optimum cutting direction in granite quarries through experimental studies: a case study of a granite quarry. *Bulletin of Engineering Geology and the Environment*, *78*(1), pp.459-467.

Zuur, A., Ieno, E.N. and Smith, G.M., 2007. Analyzing ecological data, Springer Science & Business Media.

### Appendix 1

Descriptive statistics for S, N (% cover) and H' of sessile species over time for a) Artificial pools (AP), b) Granite boulder (GB) and c) Sandstone boulder (SB) habitats. Where One-Way ANOVA was applied to data the mean and standard deviation (SD) have been reported, where Kruskal-Wallis test was used the median and range have been reported.

a) Artificial Pools (AP)									
			S		Ν		H'		
1111		Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Median	Range		
0	July 18	1.07	± 0.83	65.00	± 47.6	0.00	0.00 - 0.69		
6	February	3.71	± 0.91	72.00	± 12.67	0.80	0.62 - 1.47		
8	April	3.29	± 1.07	84.00	± 35.08	0.79	0.10 – 1.35		
9	May	4.93	± 1.27	139.89	± 35.84	1.03	0.71 – 1.38		
10	June	6.57	± 1.28	174.40	± 51.00	1.48	1.05 – 1.93		
11	July	4.93	± 1.90	95.00	± 38.80	1.03	0.20 - 1.62		
12	August	9.45	± 1.45	131.50	± 33.73	1.47	1.47 – 2.16		
13	September	9.23	± 1.56	158.31	± 27.10	1.64	1.42 – 2.17		
14	October	7.86	± 2.63	125.80	± 65.30	1.55	0.35 – 1.82		

#### b) Granite Boulders (GB)

Time in Months		S			Ν		H'	
		Mean	SD	Median	Range	Mean	SD	
0	July 18	0.29	± 0.47	0.00	0.00 - 95.00	0.00	± 0.00	
6	February	2.64	± 1.01	72.50	25.00 - 177.00	0.58	± 0.32	
8	April	2.43	± 0.65	78.00	16.20 - 121.00	0.59	± 0.22	
9	May	2.86	± 0.86	81.50	9.50 - 125.00	0.42	± 0.36	
10	June	2.71	± 0.73	98.50	14.00 - 139.00	0.55	± 0.25	
11	July	2.14	± 0.86	57.50	0.00 - 120.00	0.45	± 0.34	
12	August	2.93	± 0.92	80.00	5.00 - 136.00	0.69	± 0.40	
13	September	2.29	± 0.91	27.00	1.00 - 101.00	0.56	± 0.32	
14	October	3.21	± 0.89	59.50	4.00 - 152.00	0.79	± 0.31	

#### c) Sandstone Boulders (SB)

Time in Months		S			Ν		Η'	
		Median	Range	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
0	July 18	NA		NA		NA		
6	February	3.00	2.00 - 7.00	116.82	± 36.51	0.74	± 0.29	
8	April	3.00	2.00 - 6.00	125.71	± 32.91	0.84	± 0.27	
9	May	3.50	2.00 - 6.00	121.30	± 47.30	0.86	± 0.31	
10	June	4.00	2.00 - 7.00	142.07	± 33.08	1.00	± 0.28	
11	July	5.50	1.00 - 7.00	113.61	± 20.19	0.88	± 0.50	
12	August	5.50	3.00 - 8.00	111.79	± 23.00	0.96	± 0.51	
13	September	5.00	2.00 - 9.00	123.00	± 35.50	1.17	± 0.51	
14	October	6.00	1.00 - 9.00	127.70	± 67.10	1.06	± 0.64	

# Appendix 2

Median and range data for species richness (S), total abundance (N) (% cover) and SW diversity (H') of sessile species over time for a) Substrates treated with Grooves (GS) and b) Untreated Substrates (US).

#### a) Grooved Substrates (GS)

-									
Time in Months		S		Ν			H'		
		Median	Range	Median	Range		Median	Range	
6	February	0.00	0.00 - 4.00	0.00	0.00 - 96.00		0.00	0.00 - 1.19	
8	April	1.00	0.00 - 3.00	2.00	0.00 - 113.00		0.00	0.00 - 1.09	
9	May	2.00	0.00 - 4.00	21.00	0.00 - 124.00		0.52	0.00 - 1.09	
10	June	2.00	0.00 - 4.00	25.00	0.00 - 139.00		0.42	0.00 - 1.04	
11	July	2.00	0.00 - 4.00	35.00	0.00 - 125.00		0.34	0.00 - 1.09	
12	August	2.00	0.00 - 4.00	38.00	0.00 - 156.00		0.36	0.00 - 1.24	
13	September	2.00	0.00 - 3.00	16.00	0.00 - 120.00		0.13	0.00 - 1.07	
14	October	1.00	0.00 - 3.00	15.00	0.00 - 136.00		0.00	0.00 - 0.90	

#### b) Untreated Substrates (US)

Time in Months		S			Ν		H'		
		Median	Range	Median	Range	Median	Range		
6	February	1.00	0.00 - 3.00	1.00	0.00 - 72.00	0.00	0.00 - 1.01		
8	April	1.00	0.00 - 3.00	1.00	0.00 - 133.00	0.00	0.00 - 1.09		
9	May	2.00	0.00 - 4.00	19.00	0.00 - 123.00	0.31	0.00 - 1.11		
10	June	1.00	0.00 - 4.00	6.00	0.00 - 130.00	0.00	0.00 - 1.28		
11	July	1.00	0.00 - 3.00	12.00	0.00 - 147.00	0.00	0.00 - 1.02		
12	August	1.00	0.00 - 4.00	29.00	0.00 - 141.00	0.00	0.00 - 1.00		
13	September	1.00	0.00 - 3.00	2.00	0.00 - 119.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.70		
14	October	1.00	0.00 - 3.00	6.00	0.00 - 137.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.71		





Figure 6.1 – The results of MDS analysis based on a Bray-Curtis similarity matrix of data for substrates treated with grooves = GS and untreated Substrates = US (averaged across all months sampled) at Runswick Bay.

# Appendix 4

Median and range data for species richness (S), total abundance (N) (counts) and SW diversity (H') of mobile species over time for a) Substrates treated with Grooves (GS) and b) Untreated Substrates (US).

#### a) Grooved Substrates (GS)

•		. ,							
Time in Months		S			Ν		H'		
		Median	Range	Median	Range	Median	Range		
6	February	0.00	0.00 - 2.00	0.00	0.00 - 3.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.64		
8	April	0.00	0.00 - 2.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.64		
9	May	0.00	0.00 - 1.00	0.00	0.00 - 1.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00		
10	June	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00		
11	July	0.00	0.00 - 1.00	0.00	0.00 - 1.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00		
12	August	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00		
13	September	0.00	0.00 - 1.00	0.00	0.00 - 5.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00		
14	October	0.00	0.00 - 1.00	0.00	0.00 - 1.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00		
10 11 12 13 14	June July August September October	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 - 0.00 0.00 - 1.00 0.00 - 0.00 0.00 - 1.00 0.00 - 1.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	0.00 - 0.00 0.00 - 1.00 0.00 - 0.00 0.00 - 5.00 0.00 - 1.00	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	$\begin{array}{c} 0.00-0.00\\ 0.00-0.00\\ 0.00-0.00\\ 0.00-0.00\\ 0.00-0.00\end{array}$		

### b) Untreated Substrates (US)

Time in Months		S			Ν		H'	
		Median	Range	Median	Range	Median	Range	
6	February	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	
8	April	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	
9	May	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	
10	June	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	
11	July	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	
12	August	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	
13	September	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	
14	October	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	0.00	0.00 - 0.00	